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Financial Summary

B HE

-

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=1+—HLEE

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
—E-=F T —T——%F —E-LF —TTHF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FET FET FHET FET
Results Sy
Turnover EEE 20,901 14,531 11,186 8,497 -
Cost of sales SHE A (47,066) (54,684) (28,358) (16,339) -
Gross loss EHE (26,165) (40,153) (17,172 (7,842) -
Other revenue EbUg A 432 846 338 1,198 2,163
Other net gains H Y as F 58 44,991 5,733 7,332 840 3,931
Selling and distribution expenses & K9 5 2 (7,561) (94) (367) (207) -
Administrative expenses 1THRAX (35,019) (40,728) (37,315) (32,945) (20,109)
Finance costs & A AS (84,145) (82,414) (62,562) (7,458) (78)
Other operating expenses HEmgsE s (345,687)  (538,335)  (103,102) - -
Loss before taxation MRBiATES 18 (453,154)  (695,145)  (212,848) (46,414) (14,093)
Taxation 18 40,171 30,564 - @) (1)
Loss for the year FREE (412,983)  (664,581)  (212,848) (46,418) (14,104)
Attributable to: AT S IEEAS
Owners of the Company RAREEAR A (322,358) (593,133) (207,378) (46,315) (14,104)
Non-controlling interests FEIEA R R (90,625) (71,448) (5,470) (103) -
Loss for the year FREE (412,983)  (664,581)  (212,848) (46,418) (14,104)
Loss per share (cents) FREE GBL)
Basic and diluted AR S (22.80) (200.69) (6.32) 2.13) (0.78)
(Restated)
(F=E5)
Assets and liabilities EEREE
Total assets BERE 589,058 1,004,176 1,287,377 967,849 492 567
Total liabilities BfEBE (793,641)  (848,845)  (690,502)  (605,663)  (373,176)
Net (liabilities)/assets (BEFE) EEFE (204,583 155,331 506,875 362,186 119,391
Total (deficit)/equity (Fia%%E) X85 (204,583 155,331 596,875 362,186 119,391

4 CVM MINERALS LIMITED Annual Report 2013



Chairman’s Statement

EREHE

JI KUANG

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of CVM
Minerals Limited (the “Company” or “CVM”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”), | am pleased to present the Annual Report and
the financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended
31 December 2013.

Financial Performance

The Group registered an after tax loss of approximately
HK$412.98 million, which was substantially lower by HK$251.60
million as compared to the previous financial year. The after tax
loss of approximately HK$412.98 million for the year ended 31
December 2013 (2012: HK$664.58 million) was mainly as a
result of loss from operations of HK$23.32 million (2012:
HK$74.40 million), non-operational items of impairment losses
and write offs of HK$345.69 million (2012: HK$538.33 million)
and finance costs of HK$84.14 million (2012: HK$82.41 miillion).

Loss from operations decreased as compared to the previous
year due to higher turnover recorded, lower cost of sales and
administrative expenses as a result of cost cutting measures
implemented and other net gains which resulted from
recognition of a profit guarantee from the previous financial
year’s business acquisition. Higher finance costs were incurred
in the current financial year due to higher interest rate.

BE
Executive Chairman #7TE/E

RAERKRETEEEGR AR AAR sk k)
FEMBRAR(AEENEES((EEE 2 LEE
CE=FtT A=+ HUEMBFENREEFR
N AR

B RHE

AEBRBBRIEZEIE4412,980,000/87T & —
B B 4 & K@ R 4> 251,600,000/8 70 - HE-Z—=
F+ZA=+—BLFE BRHEBEBEBOA
412,980,000% 70 (=& — — 4 : 664,580,000/8 )
TE R RNKEEEE23,320,008 (T — —F:
74,400,000/ 7T ) « FEAE E 1B B R B B B &
345,690,000/8 7L (=& — =4 : 538,330,000/8 L) &
B & X 484,140,000 ;L ( = F — = 4 : 82,411,000
IC) FTEL ©
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Chairman’s Statement

ERE®RE

Operations Review

Magnesium Smelter

The financial year of 2013 was no different from the previous
year whereby almost every sector of the economy was struggling
with the uncertainties surrounding the global economy. The
nonferrous metals industry was also confronted with difficult
challenges in its operating environment and faced downward
trend pricing pressure during the financial year of 2013.

The slowdown in the world economy and depressed prices for
magnesium ingots continued into the financial year 2013. In view
thereof, the Smelter continued with its manufacturing process of
refining magnesium crown to produce magnesium ingots. The
change in the manufacturing process helped the Smelter to
lower its cost of production to buffer itself against the depressed
prices of magnesium ingots.

Extraction of dolomite from the dolomite quarry has also been
temporarily stopped since 2012. Hence, there was no dolomite
extracted from the dolomite quarry throughout 2013 (2012: Nil
production) as the Smelter had changed its operating process to
refining magnesium crown instead.

The Smelter improved its sales contribution to the Group despite
the many challenges it faced as extensive marketing effort
carried forward previously from the previous financial year begin
to bear fruit. Turnover contributed by the Smelter was
approximately HK$16.10 million (2012: approximately HK$12.38
million) and it managed to reduce its gross loss to approximately
HK$27.13 million (2012: approximately HK$40.30 million).

The Mineral Water Bottling Plant in the PRC
(“Bottling Plant”)

During the year 2013, the Company did not manage to invest in
a new production line as planned due to its limited cash
resources. In view thereof, the plan to automate the production
line and expand into a new product line has been postponed,
thus affecting the sales target. The Bottling Plant managed to
achieve a turnover of approximately HK$4.80 million (2012:
approximately HK$2.15 million) and a gross profit of
approximately HK$0.96 million (2012: approximately HK$0.15
million).
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Chairman’s Statement
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Operations in Indonesia

The Group’s four (4) exploration rights, covering an area of
approximately 23,985 hectares, namely two (2) exploration rights
for coal covering an area of approximately 19,825 hectares
(Permit 1 and 3), one (1) exploration right for manganese
covering an area of approximately 3,710 hectares (Permit 2) and
one (1) exploration right for iron ore covering an area of
approximately 450 hectares (Permit 4), all of them are located in
Aceh Province, Indonesia and held by the Company’s indirectly
held subsidiaries. All these Permits had either expired during the
financial year or at the date of this Annual Report as the Group
has not submitted any applications to the relevant local
authorities in Indonesia in view that the Group plans to dispose
of all its equity interest in these subsidiaries.

Kindly refer to the Company’s announcement dated 16 October
2013, 25 October 2013, 15 November 2013 and 19 November
2013 in relation to, amongst others, the discloseable transaction
on the part of the Company relating to the disposal of the entire
issued share capital of CVM International Limited (“CVM
International”). CVM International is the holding company which
holds equity interest in the subsidiary companies which owns
the four exploration rights located in Aceh Province, Indonesia.
The Company further announced on 3 April 2014 that the
completion of the disposal (“Completion”) has taken place on 3
April 2014 in accordance with the terms of the Sale and
Purchase Agreement. As a result of the Completion, the
Company ceases to hold any equity interests in CVM
International Limited and as a result ceases to be the holding
company of CVM International group of companies.

The Group also has 1 production operation mining permit right
for manganese at Jatimulyo Village, Girmulyo Subdistrict, Kulon
Progo Regency, Daerah Istimewa Yogyakarta Province,
Indonesia covering an area of approximately 195 hectares. The
daily operations including its operation project of this indirectly
owned subsidiary, PT Laksbang Mediatama (“PTLM”) has
ceased since 19 October 2012 when the legal representative
could not be contactable. The Company had decided that the
members of the board of directors of PTLM shall be re-
nominated and re-elected according to the relevant legal
requirements in Indonesia. In view thereof, the Company will
replace the legal representative of PTLM to restart the daily
operation and exploration activities of PTLM. In this respect, the
Company is resolving the issue of the absence legal
representative and expects to complete this by mid of 2014.
Once it is completed, the Company will mobilise its team to
continue the exploration programme from where it left off.

EIEE 3
NEEHEA M 4) ERE =5 E 423,985 A BEAYHIFRE -
BN (2) 1878 2 &5 B 919,825 A B 89 & ik Bh iR 4 (1 9%

RIFFAE)  —(NEEELELHI 710 ENGE Y
RAEQBEFTRE) R— () EEEHE 450 RAEMNE
BOBRE(4RETAE) - B RESLNENE SR
BE  THARBMEEMBARISE - ARAKEG
EHEENZEMBARMNDARE  AEELER
ENFEERaH 7 BUT B R S 5 58 - AT B ER
A EERAM B FEE AR A R B BB -

BL2BARRBHA T —=F+tA+B =F
—=ftA=Z+AA - ZZE—=F+—A+FEHE=
T—=F+—A+tNBNEEAH  NABHEEHPR
) N2 &) A B8 H & CVM International Limited ([ CVM
International ]) & #8E B ITIR AR B T HFEZ S - CVM
International BIER A ) - FB %A LEAM A EE RS
HHMREONBATARE - ARRR T —MFH
A=R#E—25H HEFTEERZZT—EOFENA=
AREEEBZEMGERTK (K] « BKE - AR
AT B A CVYM International Limited {E fa] f% & - It &
M5 A CVM International £ B /A R FIE I A A ©

N EE A — @ AR ED EDaerah Istimewa
Yogyakarta& Kulon Progo Regency &) Girmulyo % [&
Jatimulyo 7+ 78 25 & [ #7195 /A 18 Ay 45 4 7= 45 & B IR
SRR o HRNEAIAEAENREK - WEFE L EENE
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Chairman’s Statement
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In the meantime, in order to generate cash flow as soon as
practicable, the Company plans to conduct basic mining
activities and sell the ore to local production companies. The
Company will use this approach to generate cashflow to cover
its immediate operational expenses before conducting
exploration for major mining in the future.

Prospects

Based on the International Monetary Fund’s January 2014 report
(“IMF Report”), global economy is expected to continue to
improve in 2014 with GDP forecasted at 3.7%. The US economy
is anticipated to strengthen now that agreement has been
reached on the budget and the debt ceiling raised. The
Eurozone, having turned the corner from recession to recovery,
will see some growth on the back of improved consumer
spending as well as stronger manufacturing data. Most emerging
and developing economies should also benefit from
improvement in external demand following recoveries in
advanced economies, thus further supporting global economic
growth. The pace, strength and sustainability of growth,
however, remain to be seen.

As for the magnesium metal industry, key markets of US and
Europe is expected to be robust, spurred by fast-paced
industrialization and extensive infrastructure needs. We hope
that this momentum will be reflected in higher demand and
better prices for magnesium metal in 2014.

Growth in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) rebounded
strongly in the second half of 2013, due largely to acceleration in
investment. This surge is expected to be temporary, in part
because of policy measures aimed at slowing credit growth and
raising the cost of capital. Based on the IMF Report, the PRC’s
real GDP growth is expected to moderate to around 7.7% in
2014-18 (compared to 10.5% during 2000 and 2007), as the
country rebalances its growth model towards growth driven by
domestic consumption. Implementation of structural reforms will
also be a critical factor in driving the Chinese economy towards
sustainable development and growing beyond the middle-
income trap.

In this regard, we look forward to capturing a larger share of
PRC’s domestic mineral water consumer market in the coming
financial year by intensifying our marketing activities to increase
our brand awareness. With demand growth outpacing supply,
the mineral water industry cycle should remain on an upward
trend over the next few years.
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Corporate Governance

The Board is committed to high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders and
stakeholders. The Corporate Governance Report included in this
Annual Report describes how the Company applies the
principles of corporate governance in compliance with the code
provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
“Code”) in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The Company has
complied with the code provisions in the Code during the
financial year 2013 save as disclosed in this Annual Report.

Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s internal
control and risk management systems and for reviewing their
effectiveness. These procedures aimed to safeguard assets and
ensure proper accounting records are maintained so that the
financial information pertaining to the business and for
publication is transparent and reliable. The risk management
procedures are designed to manage key vulnerabilities.
However, they cannot eliminate all the commercial risks and
guarantee that there will be no shortfall in achieving the business
objectives.

Risk in today’s world moreover is multifaceted. We are pleased
to report that the Group has instituted an ongoing process for
identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks
endemic to our industry. The process of our Internal Control
system in this Annual Report reports on the process in place
and is regularly reviewed by the Board, Audit Committee and
our Internal Auditors.

Appreciation and Acknowledgement

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my heartfelt
gratitude to Mr. Li Zi Cong and Mr. Liang Hai Yang who resigned
from the Board on 6 September and 30 September 2013
respectively, for their invaluable contributions and wise counsel
throughout their time as Executive Directors.

| would also like to take this opportunity to congratulate our Vice
Chairman and Executive Director, Dato’ Lim Ooi Hong (“Dato
Lim”) on his recent conferment of “Datukship” by the Sultan of
Pahang for his contribution to the State and society in general.

| would also like to welcome Ms. Meng Xiao Ying and Mr. Chong
Cha Hwa (“Mr. Chong”), both joined the Board on 26 February
2014 as Executive Directors. Mr. Chong has also been
appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee
replacing Dato Lim who relinquished his position in the
Remuneration Committee on 26 February 2014.
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| ' would also like to express my gratitude to the shareholders for
their continued support and loyalty, as well as the management
and the staff for their professionalism, enthusiasm and
unwavering commitment towards ensuring the success of the
Group. My heartfelt gratitude also goes to our customers,
suppliers, bankers, business associates, all our stakeholders
and the various relevant authorities for their cooperation and
continued support. Last but not least, | would also like to record
my appreciation to my fellow colleagues on the Board for their
invaluable contribution and wise counsel throughout the year.

Thank you.

On behalf of the Board of the Company

JI KUANG
Executive Chairman

Hong Kong SAR
28 March 2014
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEENWE TN |

The Company, CVM Minerals Limited (“CVMML” or the
“Company”) via its wholly owned subsidiary, CVM Magnesium
Sdn. Bhd. (“CVMSB”), operates in the State of Perak, Malaysia
and is the first primary magnesium producer in South East Asia.
The Company and its group of companies (the “Group”) are also
into extraction and bottling of mineral water in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and exploration of iron ore, coal
and manganese in the Republic of Indonesia (“Indonesia”).

Business Review
The Perak Magnesium Smelter (the

“Smelter”)

The financial year of 2013 was no different from the previous
year whereby almost every sector of the economy was struggling
with the uncertainties surrounding the global economy. The
nonferrous metals industry was also confronted with difficult
challenges in its operating environment and faced downward
trend pricing pressure during the financial year of 2013.

The slowdown in the world economy and depressed prices for
magnesium ingots continued into the financial year 2013. In view
thereof, the Smelter continued with its manufacturing process of
refining magnesium crown to produce magnesium ingots. The
change in the manufacturing process helped the Smelter to
lower its cost of production to buffer itself against the depressed
prices of magnesium ingots.

Extraction of dolomite from the dolomite quarry has also been
temporarily stopped since 2012. Hence, there was no dolomite
extracted from the dolomite quarry throughout 2013 (2012: Nil
production) as the Smelter had changed its operating process to
refining magnesium crown instead.

The Smelter improved its sales contribution to the Group despite
the many challenges it faced as extensive marketing effort
carried forward previously from the previous financial year begin
to bear fruit. Turnover contributed by the Smelter was
approximately HK$16.10 million (2012: approximately HK$12.38
million) and it managed to reduce its gross loss to approximately
HK$27.13 million (2012: approximately HK$40.30 million).

The Mineral Water Bottling Plant in the PRC
(“Bottling Plant”)

During the year 2013, the Company did not manage to invest in
a new production line as planned due to its limited cash
resources. In view thereof, the plan to automate the production
line and expand into a new product line has been postponed,
thus affecting the sales target. The Bottling Plant managed to
achieve a turnover of approximately HK$4.80 million (2012:
approximately HK$2.15 million) and a gross profit of
approximately HK$0.96 million (2012: approximately HK$0.15
million).
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Status of Profit Guarantee

On 18 April 2013, the Company announced that based on the
assessment conducted, the Company noted that the Bottling
Plant is unable to meet its profit guarantee and the management
started its negotiation with the vendors on remedy course of
action to be taken. On 30 August 2013, the Company
announced that the audited figures show the Bottling Plant
made a net loss after taxation of HK$8,228,917 and hence, the
actual shortfall between the audited net loss and the profit
guarantee of HK$38,090,401 would be approximately HK$
46,319,318. The vendors agreed to pay the Company the actual
shortfall by deducting the outstanding principle amount of the
Convertible Bonds on a dollar for dollar basis. For more detail,
kindly refer to the Company’s announcement date 18 April 2013
and 30 August 2013.

Impairment of Goodwill and Exploration

and Evaluation Assets

During the financial year, the Goodwill from the acquisition of
Bottling Plant was fully impaired. A valuation report, prepared by
an independent qualified professional valuer, GC Appraisals
Services Company Limited, showed that the amount recoverable
of exploration and evaluation assets was HK$161,763,000 and
the Company’s directors determined that an impairment loss of
HK$74,239,500 (2012: Nil) has been recognised and included in
other operating expenses in the consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2013.

At 31 December 2013, the Group determined the recoverable
amount of cash-generating units (CGU) for extraction and
bottling of mineral water based on value in use calculation. The
calculation uses cash flow projection based on financial budgets
and production forecast as prepared by management covering a
thirteen-year period. For detail, kindly refer to Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, page 133 note 15(d).

The valuation methodology and assumptions used remained
unchanged comparing to previous year. The only changes were
in value of input:

i. The discount rate we used in the 2013 valuation was
significantly higher than the rate used in the 2012
valuation, partly because of the additional risk premium
which is necessary to be included in order to reflect the
continuous underperformance of the mineral water
business; and

ii. In comparison with the financial projection in 2012, the

2013’s financial projection had been significantly revised
downward due to under performance of the Bottling Plant.
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Operations in Indonesia

The Group’s four (4) exploration rights, covering an area of
approximately 23,985 hectares, namely two (2) exploration rights
for coal covering an area of approximately 19,825 hectares
(Permit 1 and 3), one (1) exploration right for manganese
covering an area of approximately 3,710 hectares (Permit 2) and
one (1) exploration right for iron ore covering an area of
approximately 450 hectares (Permit 4), all of them are located in
Aceh Province, Indonesia and held by the Company’s indirectly
held subsidiaries. All these Permits had either expired during the
financial year or at the date of this announcement as the Group
has not submitted any applications to the relevant local
authorities in Indonesia in view that the Group plans to dispose
of all its equity interest in these subsidiaries.

Kindly refer to the Company’s announcement dated 16 October
2013, 25 October 2013, 15 November 2013 and 19 November
2013 in relation to, amongst others, the discloseable transaction
on the part of the Company relating to the disposal of the entire
issued share capital of CVM International Limited (“CVM
International”). CVM International is the holding company which
holds equity interest in the subsidiary companies which owns
the four exploration rights located in Aceh Province, Indonesia.
The Company further announced on 3 April 2014 that the
completion of the disposal (“Completion”) has taken place on 3
April 2014 in accordance with the terms of the Sale and
Purchase Agreement. As a result of the Completion, the
Company ceases to hold any equity interests in CVM
International Limited and as a result ceases to be the holding
company of CVM International group of companies.

The Group also has 1 production operation mining permit right
for manganese covering an area of approximately 195 hectares
in Yogyakarta Province, Indonesia.

The Board had announced on 19 October 2012 on the updated
status of the Company’s investment in PT Laksbang Mediatama
(“PTLM”) since completion of the acquisition in April 2011
(“Acquisition”). As disclosed in the Circular dated 22 March
2011, PTLM is the holder of an exploration mining permit for the
exploration of manganese in an area of 195 hectares at
Jatimulyo Village, Girmulyo Subdistrict, Kulon Progo Regency,
Daerah Istimewa Yogyakarta Province, Indonesia. The
exploration process has commenced since the completion of
Acquisition. Nevertheless, the exploration activities had ceased
because there were conflicts between the directors of PTLM
and the legal representative of PTLM. According to the legal
requirements in Indonesia, the legal representative of PTLM is
responsible for its daily operations and exploration activities.
However, having made all reasonable enquiries, the Board found
that the legal representative of PTLM could no longer be
contactable. This caused the suspension in the daily operations
of PTLM including its exploration project.
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In order to resolve such conflicts, the Company had decided
that the members of the board of directors of PTLM shall be re-
nominated and re-elected according to the relevant legal
requirements in Indonesia. In view thereof, the Company will
replace the legal representative of PTLM to restart the daily
operation and exploration activities of PTLM.

PTLM had called for two (2) extraordinary general meetings for
this purpose of appointing new directors and legal representative
to PTLM board of directors. However, due to the lack of
quorum, these meetings had to be adjourned without any
decisions being made. PTLM will be applying to the Court in
Yogyakarta for a Court ruling on the appointment of these
nominated directors and it is expected that the Court will make
their ruling within three (3) months of such application.

Impairment of Exploration and Evaluation

Assets

During the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012, the
Group did not conduct any exploration in these mines due to its
limited cash resources. No exploration and evaluation costs
were capitalised and no income was derived from these mines
during the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012.

Taking into consideration the expiration and non-renewal of
permits in PTCV Coal and PTCV Iron (kindly refer to Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, page 131 note 15(b) for
detail), the Company’s directors determined that the recoverable
amounts of cash-generating units (CGU) in respect of these
permits were below their respective carrying amount, impairment
losses of HK$87,500,000 (2012: reversal of impairment losses
of HK$6,960,000) have been recognised and included in other
operating expenses in the consolidated income statement for
the year ended 31 December 2013.

At 31 December 2013, the Group determined the recoverable
amount of CGU for PTLM based on value in use calculation. The
calculation uses cash flow projection based on financial budgets
and production forecast as prepared by management of the
Company covering a seventeen-year period. For detail, kindly
refer to Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, page
132 note 15(c). The Company’s directors determined that an
impairment loss of HK$45,823,080 (2012: HK$169,540,320)
has been recognised and included in other operating expenses
in the consolidated income statement for the year ended 31
December 2013.
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The valuation methodology and assumptions used remained
unchanged comparing to previous year for PTCV Coal, PTCV
I[ron and PTLM. The only changes were in value of input:

i. The exploration operation is expected to commence in the
year of 2016 instead of 2015 as stated in the 2012
valuation;

ii. The discount rate we used in the 2013 valuation was
higher than the rate used in the 2012 valuation.

Financing of the Smelter

In order to finance the operations of the Smelter, CVMSB
obtained banking facilities totalling approximately Malaysian
Ringgit (“RM”) 184.6 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$468.0 million), which comprises a ten-year term loan from
Bank Kerjasama Rakyat Malaysia Berhad (“Bank Rakyat”).

As at 31 December 2013, the total utilised facilities amounted to
approximately RM172.6 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$437.6 million) (2012: approximately RM172.6 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$437.5 million)).

On 25 July 2011, CVMSB has negotiated a re-scheduling of the
loan repayment with Bank Rakyat. The monthly instalments have
been revised to RM670,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1.59 million) with effect from August 2011 to December
2013 and increasing to RM4.2 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$9.94 million) from January 2014 till the end of
the loan tenor in 2018.

CVMSB commenced negotiation with Bank Rakyat in 2013 as
the Directors anticipated that the monthly instalments from 2014
onwards will be too taxing for the Group. These negotiations
concluded successfully on 24 February 2014 whereby Bank
Rakyat agreed to extend a one year grace period without
executing legal proceedings against the Company and CVMSB
for CVMSB to continue repaying the monthly instalments of
RM670,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1.59 million) until
31 December 2014.
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Capital raising exercise

On 15 January 2013, the Company issued 347,936,507 ordinary
shares of HK$0.025 each in respect of the conversion of
convertible bonds with a principal amount of HK$43,840,000
held by Voice Key Group Limited (“Voice Key”). Voice Key is one
of the vendors of the Bottling Plant which was issued convertible
bonds when the Company acquired the Bottling Plant.

The details of the share issue are as follows:

-

%)

RZTE—=F—A+HH  &NQEHE I Voice Key
Group Limited ([ Voice Key ]) 575 K4 %8 & 43,840,000
75 7T B B] 2 A% fE 5 T % 17 847,936,507 A% & A% [ B
0.02578 JTHI & @AY ° Voice Key BEIMMAIEdh — &
B - ANA R SRR MBI TR IR E S

B EITRIBOT

Net price to the issuer
BITARSHERHE

The name of the allottee

ABC AR TR

The market price of the Company’s shares concerned
on 15 January 2013, being the date on which the

HK$0.126 per share
HFi%0.126 77T

Voice Key

HK$0.095 per share
/% 0.0958 7T

terms of the issue were fixed
ARRRZE—=F—A+aH BIEBEEETIKRE
B) MG TE

The use of the proceeds
eI A%

There was no proceeds from this share issue as the
shares were issued in respect of conversion of convertible

bonds with a principal amount of HK$43,840,000
AR 19 T LABE A 7K £ 58 /5 43,840,000 7 7T /Y Al 3R iR (&
HMEBELT - ARG ETILREEMSHKIE

On 2 September 2013, 268,030,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10
each were issued at a price of HK$0.168 each for cash
consideration of HK$45,029,040. This share placement was
held to obtain working capital due to the limited cash resources
faced by the Group. Net proceeds from the share placement
received was HK$43.0 million.

The details of the share issue are as follows:

Net price to the issuer

BITARBHERFER

The names of the allottee

B AR BT

R-Z—=FAA-H - 268,030,000 K EFEEO0.10
BT T BRI ER0.168E T BIRETT B
RAE 545,029,040 - AR AEENIESEREH -
REABRHOEETNAEELEEES - CRBRNEEMRS
FRUEFEE A4 43,000,000 78 7T

B EITRHIBIOT

HK$0.168 per share
Fh20.1687%8 T

The shares were placed to not less than six placees who
are independent third parties.

B TIEAR DR BBIBILE =TT AR AR E

The market price of the Company’s shares concerned
on 30 July 2013, being the date on which the
placement agreement was signed
RATRZE—=FtA=1THAIFITELEWHEE
H)BRDTH(E
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The market price of the Company’s shares concerned HK$0.20 per share

on 30 August 2013, being the preceding business day Fi%0.208 T

ARFRZE—=FNA=ZFTHBE E—@EEXH)K

AD T (B

The use of the proceeds : (@)  Working capital for the Smelter which amounted to

PRISIR R &

Kindly refer to the Company’s Next Day Disclosure Returns and
announcement on 15 January 2013 and 2 September 2013
respectively for further details.

Licences, approvals and permits

CVMSB has obtained all major/material licences, approvals and
permits in relation to the operation of the Smelter and such
licenses, approvals and permits are still valid as at the date of
this announcement.

The Bottling Plant have obtained all major/material licences,
approvals and permits in relation to the operation of the Bottling
Plant and such licenses, approvals and permits are still valid as
at the date of this announcement.

HK$17.0 million;
BERRm2EES - ©£% /517,000,000 7T :

Repayment of long outstanding creditors i.e. third
party loan interest, convertible bond interest and
other accrued charges which amounted to HK$16.0
million;
EERAREBEEEAFBBIE=FEFFEL
AR ESFNEREMESAER) 8RR
16,000,000 7T

Working capital for the Bottling Plant which
amounted to HK$5.0 million ; and
BEERMmEEES - ©7/55,000,000/87T &

Working capital for the Company which amounted to
HK$5.0 million
RERRRIEEE S - ©5/5,000,00087T
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Outlook

The Smelter will intensify its refining process and marketing
efforts for the next financial year of 2014 to capture new demand
from customers and explore into new markets. However, in view
of the current challenging economic environment and with
stronger and more experienced competitors, the Smelter will
continue to face pressure to lower its cost of production in its
refining and to improve its gross margin. The Group also plans
to improve its marketing network and to allocate more resources
to human capital, internal controls and research and
development which may yield higher profit in the future.

The Company is currently working closely with one of its major
customers (whom to the best knowledge of the Directors has
vast base of clients in the Western markets) to promote and
enhance the Company’s sales of magnesium ingot. Since the
Company recent entry into the Western markets, the Company
will require continuous promotion of its products before it can
capture a larger market.

While the Company takes note of its competitors from the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) which has huge advantage
on lower cost, the Company is promoting its quality to the
Eastern markets. The management has continuously made trips
to its competitors’ factory to study their production process and
to see the result of the ingots produced. The management
noticed that the ingots produced by the Smelter Plant has
advantages over its competitors as the ingots are consistent in
terms of size and grade while the PRC competitors do not
exhibit such qualities. This gives the Company some advantage
over the competitors when promoting its products to large and
reputable corporation (as only large and reputable corporation
are able and willing to purchase at higher price for better quality).

The Company is also currently conducting analysis studies on
producing other minerals with its current equipment. For
example, the current equipment was built to include the
production of magnesium alloy. The Company has done some
studies on this but will require more time to conduct the market
survey.

The Company is cautiously optimistic about the future of the
Bottling Plant and its prospect in contributing higher sales and
profit to the Group. The extraordinary economic development in
the PRC in the past decade has made it the world’s second
largest economy and created higher disposable income to its
citizen. In view of changing lifestyle, higher disposable income
and increase awareness of health risks in the PRC municipal
water supplies, the sale of bottled mineral water is expected to
increase. The Group hopes to capture this growth in the bottled
water market by becoming a brand which is recognised by the
public in the PRC.
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The current status of the Bottling Plant is still very fragile as it
requires a lot of financial, technical and management support
from the Company. The Bottling Plant is still building up its
market share and creating as much brand awareness with its
consumers.

In order to improve the Bottling Plant, we had planned for a
comprehensive development with concentration to carry out
more promotion and advertisements through billboards,
sponsorships and exhibitions to enhance the Bottling Plant’s
brand among the public.

The Company’s plan also involves raising cash resources
through various financial instruments at the Company level (with
funds to be extended as shareholder’s loan to the subsidiary) to
finance a new production line of sparkling water products. The
Company considers that by venturing into this premium range of
mineral water product, it will further enhance the turnover, gross
profit margins and cash flow to the Group. It will also enlarge the
product mix to a wider consumer segment to help improve our
turnover and market reach.

Furthermore, the Group will also consider expanding the mineral
bottle water business in Hong Kong and South East Asia in the
future.

In respect to PTLM, the Company is resolving the issue of the
absence legal representative and expects to complete this by
mid of 2014. Once it is completed, the Company will mobilise its
team to continue the exploration programme from where it left
off.

In order to generate cash flow as soon as practicable, the
Company plans to conduct basic mining activities and sell the
ore to local production companies. The Company will use this
approach to generate cashflow to cover its immediate
operational expenses before conducting exploration for major
mining in the future.

In the meantime, the Group is always on the look-out for new
and profitable ventures for its long term growth plans.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Turnover and other revenue

The Group’s turnover for the financial year ended 31 December
2013 was HK$20,901,439 (2012: HK$14,531,302). The
increase in turnover was mainly due to higher volume of sales as
higher effort was placed in marketing the Group’s two (2) main
products namely magnesium ingots and mineral water. The
Group received interest income of HK$10,164 (2012:
HK$81,490) from money deposited with approved financial
institutions and rental income from leasing of drilling machines of
HK$27,273 (2012: HK$116,637) for the financial year ended 31
December 2018.
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Cost of sales

The cost of sales amounted to HK$47,066,090 (2012:
HK$54,684,477) which mainly includes staff costs, depreciation
and amortisation. The decrease in the cost of sales is mainly due
to decrease in all components of the cost of sales as a result of
management’s efforts in various cost cutting measures carried
throughout the financial year.

Administrative expenses

The administrative expenses decreased substantially by 14.0%
to approximately HK$35.02 million for the financial year ended
31 December 2013 from approximately HK$40.73 million in
2012. This was mainly due to the greater effort being placed in
various cost cutting measures undertaken by the Group.

Exploration, development and mining

production activities

Geological exploration

The Group did not incur any geological exploration expenses
during the financial year 2013 namely due to the intended
disposal of the Group’s equity interest (for the Group’s
operations in Aceh, Indonesia) and absence of a legal
representative (for the Group’s operations in Yogyakarta,
Indonesia).

Mining of dolomite

As at 31 December 2013, the Group did not extract any
dolomite from the dolomite quarry. Hence, the accumulated
dolomite extracted up to 31 December 2012 remained at
19,970 MT (2012: approximately 19,970 MT).

The expenditure incurred on dolomite mining production
activities, which was mainly minimum royalty payment, for the
financial year ended 31 December 2013 was approximately
HK$0.97 million (2012: approximately HK$1.10 million).

There were no new contracts and commitments entered into
during the financial year 2013 other than those already disclosed
in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, page 179
note 35. The details of such capital commitments contracted for
are as below (2012: same items with the same values):

(@ Contract for the Construction and Completion of B29
Retort and Maintenance Workshop, valued at
approximately RM3.31 million (approximately HK$7.84
million);

(b)  Engineering and Procuring Contract for the Development
of Retort and Maintenance Workshop, valued at
approximately RMB9.10 million (approximately HK$10.57
million);

(c) Project Management Services Agreement, valued at
approximately RM117,900 (approximately HK$276,700)
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Iron ore, coal and manganese

The Group did not undertake any exploration, development or
mining production activities of iron ore, coal and manganese in
the financial year ended 31 December 2013. The expenditure
incurred on these activities was therefore nil (2012:

approximately HK$0.2 million).

There were no new contracts and commitments entered into
during the financial year 2013 in the mining production activities

of iron ore, coal and manganese.

Estimated Proved Reserves

The updated mineral reserves of the Company and its
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2013 and 2012 were as follows:

Minerals

®E

Location
NE

HEA - BxRkiE
AEBREBEE-ZT—=F+-A=+—BLTHFE
ESEED - R REETE R - RS
HEEE - At - ARZBEENRAS AT (ZE—=
& 1 49200,000/87C) °

ARAR—E-—=FHBRFERELEREL - KR
BRI R BB BRI SLFT A K SR IE -

fhETRAREE

Total Area
HEE

KRR REMBARNR - E—=FF _T——F+=
A=+—HBZBEEMEEFWOT

Reserves Reserves
identified by identified by
JORC standard JORC standard
(000’ tonnes) as at (000’ tonnes) as at
31 December 2013 31 December 2012
—2-= —E-—F
+t=-A=+—AH +t=-RA=+—H
JORC #3 Al 38 5l JORC #% 8l Bl
ZHE (F0E) W E (TH)
Proved Proved

#E RE

Dolomite
HER

Iron Ore®

#HiZE?

Lots: HS (D) 13756, PT13404
and HS (D) 13757, PT13405
Mukim: Sungai Siput
District: Kuala Kangsar
State: Perak

Country: Malaysia

B © HS (D) 13756, PT13404
K HS (D) 13757, PT13405
B : Sungai Siput

& : Kuala Kangsar

M1 BRI

Bx: BREsE

City: Subulussalam

Subdistrict: Pananggalan

Province: Nanggroe Aceh Darussalam
Country: Indonesia

W : Subulussalam

2 & : Pananggalan

# : Nanggroe Aceh Darussalam

BX : HJE

13 hectares
13RI

450 hectares

450 A8

19,9700 19,9700

Exploration Under Exploration

activities ceased R
EfFik
BNERIEED
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Reserves
identified by
JORC standard
(000’ tonnes) as at
31 December 2013

Reserves
identified by
JORC standard
(000’ tonnes) as at
31 December 2012

—E—= —E-—-F
+T=ZA=+—8H +=A=+—H
JORC #3 Al & 7 JORC #7 Bl & 5l
ZEE(TH) KR (T W)
Minerals Location Total Area Proved Proved
®E wE BEE =B EE
Coal? Subdistrict: Beutong & Tadu Raya 10,000 hectares Exploration  Under Exploration
Bz @ Regency: Nagan Raya 10,000 A8 activities ceased By
Province: Nanggroe Aceh Darussalam BiFikE
Country: Indonesia EREE
2 & : Beutong & Tadu Raya
& : Nagan Raya
# : Nanggroe Aceh Darussalam
BIX : EHJE
Coal? Subdistrict: Kuala & Tadu Raya 9,825 hectares Exploration  Under Exploration
Bz @ Regency: Nagan Raya 9,825 AR activities ceased BhERH
Province: Nanggroe Aceh Darussalam Bf=lE
Country: Indonesia EREE)
& : Kuala & Tadu Raya
& : Nagan Raya
# : Nanggroe Aceh Darussalam
B : HIfE
Manganese® Subdistrict: Bakongan 3,710 hectares Exploration Under Exploration
iz Regency: South Aceh 3,710 AE activities ceased iR
Province: Nanggroe Aceh Darussalam =AYl
Country: Indonesia RES
2 & ! Bakongan
& : South Aceh
# ' Nanggroe Aceh Darussalam
B=x : HfE
Manganese® Village: Jatimulyo 195 hectares Exploration activities ~ Under Exploration
s Subdistrict: Girimulyo 195 A8 temporarily on hold By
Regency: Kulon Progo TR E
Province: Daerah Istimewa Yogyakarta BRES
Country: Indonesia
A & Jatimulyo
2 & : Girimulyo
& : Kulon Progo
# : Daerah Istimewa Yogyakarta
B=R : EfE
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Notes:
(1) The average % of magnesium oxide (“MgQ”) and Magnesium (“Mg”) are as
follows:
South Hill Above Ground
B i -
Average % of MgO 19.17%
MgO FTiE FHE St
Average % of Mg 11.50%
Mg PR FHEE Dt
North Hill Above Ground
p1A1] iy -
Average % of MgO 20.06%
MgO Fr i F¥9E ot
Average % of Mg 12.04%
Mg i FIEE Dt
2 At the date of this annual report, the permits for the exploration right for iron

ore, coal and manganese in Aceh Province, Indonesia, have all expired
without the Group submitting any application for their renewal as the Group
has disposed of all its equity interest in these subsidiaries.

Q) During the financial year 2013 until the date of this annual report, the
operations in Yogyakarta, Indonesia, had been hampered due to the
absence of a legal representative. The Group is now working towards
nominating a new legal representative by submitting to the Court in
Yogyakarta for a Court ruling to appoint the Group’s nominated legal
representative.

Net foreign exchange losses

The net gain of approximately HK$0.11 million (2012: net losses
of approximately HK$0.22 million on foreign exchange mainly
represented the net realised gain on sales receipts net off
against payments to suppliers and creditors in Malaysia and
Indonesia.

Looking forward, the Group will be exposed to foreign currency
risk primarily through exposures in sales and purchases that are
denominated in foreign currencies (e.g. US dollars (‘US$”), RM,
Chinese Yuan (“RMB”) and Indonesian Rupiah) other than the
Group’s functional currency of Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”). The
Group did not use any financial instruments for any hedging
purposes during the financial year of 2013.

0 b8 (IMgO]) Bk (TMg ) B FHE DL

Below Ground (30 metres depth)
i T (30 3K3%R)

18.59%

11.15%

Below Ground (30 metres depth)
i T (30 3K3%)

19.10%

11.46%

@ RAFHRAH > ARAKEE HEERENBEREE M
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Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs mainly consisted of effective interest
of approximately HK$19.36 million (2012: approximately
HK$20.81 million) for convertible bonds issued by the Company,
interest expense of approximately HK$24.03 million (2012:
approximately HK$21.63 million) on loans from third parties and
interest on the Group’s bank loans of approximately HK$40.23
million (2012: approximately HK$39.36 million).

Loss before taxation

The Group incurred a loss before taxation of approximately
HK$453.15 million (2012: approximately HK$695.15 million for
the financial year ended 31 December 2013 mainly as a result of
loss from operations of approximately HK$23.32 million (2012:
approximately HK$74.40 million) and finance costs of
approximately HK$84.14 million (2012: approximately HK$82.41
million).

Loss from operations dropped substantially as compared to the
previous year mainly due to lower gross loss incurred from
higher turnover achieved, a one-off fair value change in
contingent consideration receivable and lower administrative
expenses.

Higher finance costs were incurred in the financial year ended 31
December 2013 due to the higher interest rate on unsecured
loans from third parties.

Loss per share

The loss per share for the financial year ended 31 December
2013 decreased substantially to 22.80 HK cents (2012: 200.69
HK cents, restated) as the loss attributable to owners of the
Company dropped substantially to approximately HK$322.36
million (2012: approximately HK$593.13 million).

Liquidity and financial resources

Net current liabilities of the Group stood at approximately
HK$695.96 million (2012: approximately HK$562.01 million) as
at 31 December 2013. Included in current liabilities were
secured bank loans and finance lease creditors of approximately
HK$406.75 million (2012: approximately HK$435.76 million).
The bank loans from Bank Rakyat bear an interest rate of 8.6%
per annum as at 31 December 2013 (2012: 8.6% per annum)
based on the floating rate of Bank Rakyat’s base financing rate
plus 2% per annum. The Group had negative gearing ratio
(which is calculated on the basis of total finance leases,
borrowings from Bank Rakyat and third parties and convertible
bonds over total equity attributable to owners of the Company)
of approximately 2.50 times (2012: positive 57.01 times) as at
31 December 2013 due to the substantial decrease in total
equity attributable to owners of the Company.
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The Group’s pledged deposit, bank and cash balances as at 31
December 2013 was approximately HK$0.43 million (2012:
approximately HK$1.10 million). The Group’s prepayments,
deposits and other receivables amounted to approximately
HK$10.86 million (2012: approximately HK$11.56 million).

The Directors have taken and/or will take the following actions to
mitigate the liquidity issues faced by the Group:

(i) The Directors review the Group’s cash position regularly
and if need be, will re-negotiate with the unsecured loan
lenders to restructure the repayment terms;

(i)  On 30 January 2014, the Company had successfully
negotiated and the unsecured loan lenders have agreed to
extend the repayment of HK$150,000,000 by one year to
the first half of 2015;

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 21
March 2014, the Company and each of the unsecured
loan lenders (“Lenders”) entered into conditional
Capitalisation Agreements respectively in relation to,
among others, the set-off of each of the Lenders’
Outstanding Sum by way of (i) the issue and allotment of
Capitalisation Shares; and (ii) the issue of Convertible
Preference Shares (“CPS”).

The Outstanding Sum to the Lenders which comprises the
outstanding principal sum and unpaid interest amounts to
HK$181,037,242.

The Capitalisation Agreements and the transactions
contemplated thereunder, including but not limited to the
issue and allotment of the Capitalisation Shares and the
issue of the CPS shall be subject to, among others, the
approval of the shareholders of the Company at an
Extraordinary General Meeting to be called at a later date.

(i) The Board had on 24 February 2014 successfully
negotiated with Bank Rakyat whereby Bank Rakyat agreed
to extend a one year grace period without executing legal
proceeding against the Company and its wholly-owned
subsidiary, CVMSB until 31 December 2014. During the
grace period, CVMSB is required to repay monthly
instalment of RM670,000 (equivalent to HK$1,586,032) for
the year ending 31 December 2014. The directors of the
Company will monitor the operations of CVMSB closely in
order to fuffill the covenants for these loans;
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(iv)  Subsequent to the end of the reporting period and up to
the approval date of the consolidated financial statements,
Dato’ Lim Hui Boon advanced cash of HK$15.0 million to
the Group for its daily operation. The advance would be
unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed terms of
repayment; and

(v)  The Group is seeking investors or strategic partners for the
Group’s projects in Indonesia.

Capital expenditure

The carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant and
equipment, and interest in leasehold land held for own use under
operating lease as at 31 December 2013 had decreased by
17.08% and 13.68% respectively to approximately HK$410.90
million and approximately HK$8.71 million respectively (2012:
approximately HK$495.56 million and HK$10.09 million
respectively) mainly due to annual depreciation charge and
impairment of assets.

Charge on assets
The bank loans are granted to CVMSB and secured by way of:

(i) a legal charge over the land and factory building to be
erected thereon held by CVMSB;

(i)  assignment of trade receivables;

(i)  a debenture creating fixed and floating legal charge over
all present and future assets of CVMSB excluding the
performance bonds;

(iv)  assignment of all CVMSB'’s rights, entitement and interest
in and to all building contracts, design drawings and other
contracts pertaining to the magnesium ingot project (the
“Project”);

(v anassignment of all CVMSB'’s rights, benefits and interest
under insurance undertaken by CVMSB as part of its
operations for the Project;

(v an assignment over the existing revenue accounts
maintained at Bank Rakyat and monies standing to the
credit of the revenue account in favour of the bank, the
revenue accounts shall be operated solely by the bank;

(vii)  afirst fixed charge/assignment over the retorts of CVMSB;

(vii) an assignment over the insurance policies of the retorts of
CVMSB; and

(ix) any other securities as may be advised by the appointed
legal counsel.
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Human resources

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had a total of
approximately 148 employees (2012: 174 employees). Total staff
costs (including Directors’ remuneration) for the financial year
ended 31 December 2013 were approximately HK$10.27 million
(2012: approximately HK$19.99 million) representing
approximately 12.51% (2012: 20.95%) of the Group’s total cost
of sales and administrative expenses. Employees are
remunerated based on their performance, experience and
industry practice. Bonuses are rewarded based on individual
staff performance and in accordance with the Group’s overall
remuneration policies. The Group’s management reviews the
remuneration policies and packages on a regular basis.

Capital commitments and contingent
liabilities

As at 31 December 2013, the Company has issued corporate
guarantees totaling approximately RM184,600,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$436,987,000) (2012: RM184,600,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$468,000,000)) to a bank in
respect of bank loan facilities granted to CVMSB.

The directors of the Company do not consider it probable that a
claim will be made against the Company under the corporate
guarantees. The maximum liability of the Company as at 31
December 2013 under the corporate guarantees issued is
approximately RM172,600,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$408,581,000) (2012: RM172,600,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$437,494,000)).

In addition, as at 31 December 2013, the Company has issued
a corporate guarantee totalling RM850,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,012,000) (2012: RM850,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,150,000) to a supplier in respect of the
purchase of liquefied petroleum gas made by CVMSB.

As at 31 December 2013, the Company has issued corporate
guarantees totalling approximately RM222,768 (equivalent to
approximately HK$530,000) (2012: RM763,373 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,935,000)) for finance lease creditors in
respect of the purchase of motor vehicles and equipment by
CVMSB.

The Company has not recognised any deferred income in
respect of the corporate guarantees as its fair value cannot be
reliably measured and its transaction price was nil for the years
ended 31 December 2013 and 2012.
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The Company is committed to enhancing the corporate
governance and transparency of the Group by applying the
principles in the code provisions of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 14 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing Rules”). The Board reviews its corporate governance
practices from time to time in order to meet the rising
expectations of shareholders and comply with increasingly
stringent regulatory requirements and to fulfill its commitment to
maintain a high standard of corporate governance. To the best
knowledge and belief of the Directors, the Company has
complied with the code provisions in the Code during the year
ended 31 December 2013 save as disclosed in this report.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as the code of
practice for carrying out securities transactions by the Directors.
After specific enquiry with all members of the Board, the
Company confirmed that all Directors have fully complied with
the relevant standards stipulated in the Model Code during the
year ended 31 December 2013.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the
Chairman of the Company and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company should be separate and performed by different
individuals.

The positions of the Chairman and the Group Chief Executive
Officer are held by separate individuals with a view to maintain
an effective segregation of duties between the management of
the Board and the day-to-day management of the Group’s
business and operations. One of the important roles of the
Chairman is to provide leadership to the Board to ensure that
the Board always acts in the best interests of the Group. The
Chairman shall ensure that the Board works effectively and fully
discharges its responsibilities, and that all key issues are
discussed by the Board in a timely manner. All Directors have
been consulted about any matters proposed for inclusion in the
agenda. With the support of the Group Chief Executive Officer
and the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”), the Chairman seeks to ensure that all directors are
properly briefed on issues arising at any board meeting and have
received adequate and reliable information in a timely manner.
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Board of Directors

The Board currently comprises eight Directors, five of whom are
Executive Directors and three of whom are Independent Non-
executive Directors.

Composition of the Board:
Executive Directors:
Name Other positions in the Company
Mr. Ji Kuang Executive Chairman

Vice Chairman
Member of the Nomination Committee

Dato’ Lim Ooi Hong

Mr. Leung Wai Kwan  Group Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Chong Cha Hwa  Member of the Remuneration Committee

Ms. Meng Xiao Ying -

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Name Other positions in the Company

Ms. Wong Choi Kay Chairperson of the Audit Committee

Chairperson of the Remuneration
Committee

Member of the Nomination Committee

Mr. Chong Lee Chang Chairman of the Nomination Committee

Member of the Audit Committee

Member of the Remuneration Committee

Mr. Tony Tan Member of the Audit Committee

The composition of the Board is reviewed regularly to ensure
that it has a good balance of expertise, skills and experience
which can meet the requirements of the business of the
Company. The brief biographical details of the Directors are set
out under the section “Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 44 to 49.

During the year, the Executive Directors and the Independent
Non-executive Directors provided the Group with a wide range
of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professionalism. The active participation of the Independent
Non-executive Directors in the Board and committee meetings
brought independent judgement on issues relating to the
Group’s strategy, performance and management process,
taking into account the interests of all shareholders of the
Company (“Shareholders”).
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Responsibilities of the Board:

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company. The Board determines the overall strategies, monitors
and controls operating and financial performance, sets
objectives and business development plans and makes key
decisions of the Company. The day-to-day management and
operation are delegated to the Executive Directors and senior
management. The delegated functions are closely supervised by
the Board to ensure effectiveness and compliance with the
Company’s overall strategies. Approval has to be obtained from
the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into by
the senior management.

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
in relation to the Company as well as the advices and services of
the Company Secretary, if and when required, with a view to
ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed.

There are established procedures for directors to seek
independent professional advices for them to discharge their
duties and responsibilities, where appropriate at the Company’s
expense.

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the Company held 5
Board meetings and the attendance record is set out below:

EFSZAMT:

B2 RASRERARAR  EERRARNEBER
B BEE RIS EEMYBERR  FIVBERERE
REBUAREFHERZRR - RITEERSNEEEE
BREAAAREERZE MESSETVEERHN
RIERTS  MREMEEENARRA MR -
SREEEAREEEHE  HARILENERRS -

2REFENN 2HSERREMBARRRHEFEER -
NERFBERERARWSRENE R LIRS - AR
REZFEREFIABEANRANRIIC ZHET -

RRABRERERF  BEFEEZBERNTHETE
ENBBEIBESKBEVEXEER  ERAAREA

=

HE_Z—=F+-A=1+—HILFE A nHH
I5REEFES S DECHEHEINET

Meeting
attendance/
Number of
Name meetings held
HERE
®E SRETRE
Mr. Ji Kuang (Executive Chairman) 5/5
MESLE (BTTEE)
Dato’ Lim Ooi Hong (Vice Chairman) 5/5
SEWEE(BIFE)
Mr. Leung Wai Kwan (Group Chief Executive Officer) 5/5
RUEE ST (FETTRAER)
Mr. Liang Hai Yang (resigned on 30 September 2013) 0/4
PFEEE(RZE—=FNLA=THET)
Mr. Li Zi Cong (resigned on 6 September 2013) 2/3
FFREE(RZZE—=F N AEET)
Mr. Chong Cha Hwa (appointed on 26 February 2014) 0/0
RREXE(RZZE—NEF A=+ BEZT)
Ms. Meng Xiao Ying (appointed on 26 February 2014) 0/0
ANRZT(RZZE—HF A+ RBEZE)
Ms. Wong Choi Kay 2/5
mERL T
Mr. Chong Lee Chang 5/5
SRR ST A
Mr. Tony Tan 4/5
BREE585E 4

There is no financial, business, family or other material
relationships among members of the Board.
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Regular Board meetings each year are scheduled in advance to
facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. At least 14 days’
notice of a Board meeting is normally given to all Directors who
are given an opportunity to include matters for discussion in the
agenda. The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in
preparing the agenda for meetings and ensures that all
applicable rules and regulations are complied with. The agenda
and the accompanying Board papers are normally sent to all
Directors at least 3 days before the intended date of a regular
Board meeting (and so far as practicable for such other Board
meetings). All minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and
are open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable
notice by any Director.

According to current Board practice, if a substantial shareholder
or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be
considered by the Board which the Board has determined to be
material, the matter will be dealt with by the Board at a duly
convened Board meeting. The Articles of Association of the
Company also stipulate that save for the exceptions as provided
therein, a Director shall abstain from voting and not be counted
in the quorum at meetings for approving any contract or
arrangement in which such Director or any of his associates
have a material interest.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and
related materials and has access to the advice and services of
the Company Secretary. The Board and each Director also have
separate and independent access to the Company’s senior
management. Directors are continuously updated on the major
development of the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good
corporate governance practices. In addition, in discharging of
Directors’ duties, Directors are allowed to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at a reasonable
cost to be borne by the Company.

To comply with the new requirement under the Code in respect
of the responsibilities for performing the corporate governance
duties, the Board is responsible to develop and review the
policies and practices of the Company on corporate governance;
to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management; to review and
monitor the policies and practices of the Company on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; to develop,
review and monitor the code of conduct applicable to the
directors and employees and to review the Company’s
compliance with the code provisions set out in the Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.
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Independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors:

The Company has received confirmation from each of the
Independent Non-executive Directors regarding his/her
independence pursuant to the requirements of Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Based on these confirmations, the Board
considers each of the Independent Non-executive Directors to
be independent.

Terms of Non-executive Directors:

Code Provision A.4.1 provides that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
The independent non-executive directors of the Company were
not appointed for a specific term but are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meetings of the
Company in accordance with the provisions of the
memorandum and articles of association of the Company. As
such, the Company considers that sufficient measures have
been taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate governance
practices are no less exacting than those in the Code.

Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional Development
On appointment to the Board, each newly appointed Director
receives a comprehensive induction package covering the
general, statutory and regulatory obligations of being a Director
to ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her
responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other relevant
regulatory requirements.

The Directors are regularly briefed on the amendments to or
updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. In addition,
the Company has been encouraging the Directors and senior
executives to enroll in a wide range of professional development
courses and seminars relating to the Listing Rules, companies
ordinance/act and corporate governance practices organized by
professional bodies. Written materials on new or changes to
salient laws and regulations applicable to the Company were
provided to the Directors.
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According to the records maintained by the Company, the
Directors received the following training with an emphasis on the
roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed company in
compliance with the new requirement of the Code on continuous
professional development during the year:

BIBAATEE 2R

REA —rﬁ‘JFé%E"Fi*iﬁr%?f*
RZHHRE  EENFRAGEIATEH /LT
ExvAt  BRELBE 2

Corporate Governance/
Updates on laws,
rules and regulations

¥ER BRNES - RARKRHZESH

Notes Readmg Materials Attend briefing(s)
LiEs REM R HESRS

Executive Directors BITES

Ji Kuang ME v/

Lim Ooi Hong MIEHE v/

Leung Wai Kwan RUEE 4

Liang Hai Yang 28%F 1 v/

Li Zi Cong TR 2 v

Chong Cha Hwa REKE 3

Meng Xiao Ying E)E 3

Independent Non-executive Director MFHITESE

Wong Choi Kay H5EH v

Chong Lee Chang SRR R 4

Tony Tan PeR 3 0 v

Notes: 3T -

1. Resigned on 30 September 2013. 1. RZE—=FNLA=THEE -

2. Resigned on 6 September 2013.

3. Appointed on 26 February 2014.

Responsibilities of Company Secretary

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring
that board procedures are followed and the board is fully briefed
on all legislative, regulatory and corporate governance
developments and that it has regard to them when making
decisions.

Directors and Officers Policy

Appropriate insurance covers on directors’ and officers’ liabilities
have been in force to protect the directors and officers of the
Group from their risk exposure arising from the business of the
Group.

Board Committees:

Various Board Committees have been set up to assist the Board
to manage the overall strategies of the Company. These include
the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Audit Committee.

2. RZFB—=FNARBEE-
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REWEENESCRE  HRESCETES
MEESNERARHESEEEHR G ‘i
RERBEERZER -

EFRERABBE
REEDAEENRBABRIRBZEEZFEMZH
BERE  UMREASEEERSHRABRALEEER
EXxCRERK -

EFZFE
ARREKRLTRAMNEEZESHPEZTSRELR
AIEEERE PREITNEZEES  REZESRERZRE
Bg -

HREXERAT FHR2013 33



Corporate Governance Report
SEEARE

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members
namely, Ms. Wong Choi Kay (Independent Non-executive
Director), Mr. Chong Cha Hwa and Mr. Chong Lee Chang
(Independent Non- executive Director). Ms. Wong Choi Kay acts
as the chairperson of the Remuneration Committee.

The role and function of the Remuneration Committee are set
out in its terms of reference which are posted on the websites of
Stock Exchange and the Company. Primary terms include
recommendations to the Board on policy and structure of
remuneration of the Directors and senior management whereby
the Board has the final authority to approve the remuneration of
directors and senior management, determination of the
remuneration packages of each Director and member of the
senior management by reference to corporate goals, ensuring
that no Directors or any of their associates are involved in
deciding their own remuneration packages and objectives and
compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of
Directors. The remuneration package of each Director is
determined by reference to the prevailing market conditions, his
duties and responsibilities to the Company and the Company’s
remuneration policy.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Remuneration
Committee had held one Remuneration Committee meeting and
the attendance record is set out below:

e ES SN

FTHEESGMERHLL (BUFNITES)  RRE
S RRMR L BUIFNTESR) ZARBAK -
ERALTAFMESEER -

FMZE e BE MBS RS E (AT B0
RRARNREE)  TRREREERSREREH
MRRELZHRETERHUER BHEFTSRAIE
EXENSREEEHFMOREEN)  2E0XARE
EREENSRERASNHMGTE HRVEEES
HIREEMMEADEEEASNHFMTER B I
MEBBEXBRESNRERS SEZFZ2HMEF
BORBERTR  EEAFRARANBEMBE
AR AR 2Rz HrB R T EEE

o2 =E+-A=+-AILEE FHESS
BETRFMERR RS HEEERIINT -

Meeting attendance/

Name Number of meeting(s) held
% & HERE, EFRITRH
Ms. Wong Choi Kay (Chairperson) BEEBRL L (TE) 0
Dato’ Lim Ooi Hong (resigned as member EEMEE(R_Z—M4F

on 26 February 2014) ZAZ+HRBEERERE) 1/
Mr. Chong Cha Hwa (appointed as member RRELEE (RZT—WOF N/A

on 26 February 2014) — A+ BEZITAKE) T E A
Mr. Chong Lee Chang RBRLE 11

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee had
reviewed the remuneration of the Board during the year ended
31 December 2013, and, having taken into consideration of the
current situation of the economy and the results of the Group
had recommended to the Board that no adjustments be made
to the remuneration of the Board.
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Pursuant to B.1.5 of the Code, the remuneration of the members
of the senior management by band for the year ended 31
December 2013 is set out below:

BETFABISE BE-T—=F#+-A=+—Hi1t
FE - SREBARZHMEERIIZNT -

No. of senior

Emolument bands management
HrH BREEARHAE
HK$500,001 to HK$600,000 500,001 /& 7T % 600,000 /& 7T 1

For particulars regarding Directors’ emoluments and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in note 10 to the
financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises three members namely,
Dato’ Lim Ooi Hong (Vice Chairman), Ms. Wong Choi Kay
(Independent Non-executive Director) and Mr. Chong Lee Chang
(Independent Non- executive Director). Mr. Chong Lee Chang
acts as the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The role and function of the Nomination Committee are set out
in its terms of reference which are posted on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company. Primary terms include
review and supervision of the structure, size and composition of
the Board, developing the criteria for identifying and assessing
the qualification of and evaluating candidates for directorship,
making recommendations to the Board on the selection of
nominated directorship and matters related to appointment or
re-appointment of Directors.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, all Directors appointed to
fill a casual vacancy should be subject to re-election by the
Shareholders at the forthcoming general meeting of the
Company after their appointment, but shall not be taken into
account in determining the Directors who are to retire by rotation
at such meeting. In addition, at each annual general meeting of
the Company, one-third of the Directors shall retire from office
by rotation (but will be eligible for re-election) such that all
Directors should be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years.

Mr. Ji Kuang, Dato’ Lim Ooi Hong (Vice Chairman) and Mr. Tony
Tan (Independent Non-executive Director) and Mr. Chong Cha
Hwa and Ms. Meng Xiao Ying shall retire by rotation, and being
eligible, have offered themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting pursuant to the Articles of
Association and the Code.

REBELHRAUVMEI6ETHEZEFTHEURTRER
= # MR B e BRI B A IR R MIRE 10

REZES

REZEGHENEE (BITR)  EHRALL (BY
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RRARRR)  TRBRERIMEEEFENR
B ABRAEK - HIRTER R REESERMIR
HANRBEEEREARZERENZEESTZE
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The Nomination Committee follows a set of procedures when
recommending candidates for the directorship. The primary
criteria of selecting a candidate include assessing the:

— integrity, objectivity, and intelligence of the person, with
reputations for sound judgement and open mind, and a
demonstrated capacity for thoughtful group decision-
making;

— qualification and career experience; and
— understanding of the Company and its Group mission.

When a candidate is proposed for a directorship, he or she shall
be evaluated on the basis of the criteria set out in the procedures
mentioned above. Selection of the suitable candidate is based
on a majority vote. Each committee member will be asked to
express his or her view before voting. After the voting, the
Chairman will present the proposal of the Nomination Committee
to the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Nomination
Committee had held one Nomination Committee meeting and
the attendance record is set out below:

-

REZESEMBERREARSENRERF - #
BIREANTIERERRBFEATEA

—  ZALREBEGFHBIE - BB T
B RS IFLRETOHE AR AT RE R A KEE
BIEHEEEA N ERE

- BREIEER: R
-  TEBARRRAEEED

BREFREAR  FREOEFMABITEFE - A
BREAZHEEBRRHABEREA - KRR 8F
BeRBAZRRER BRER IFEEAEFEE2R
RERBEMNES -

E-=F+-_A=+—RILFE RE%ZE2

=14
REREERBEEF  HFCHEHIIMT

2=
B]1T

Meeting attendance/

Name Number of meeting(s) held
A HERY, EFRITRH
Mr. Chong Lee Chang KA R STAE 1/1
Dato’ Lim Ooi Hong EEMEH 1/1
Ms. Wong Choi Kay EEBZLT 0/1

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee had
considered and recommended the resignation of (i) Mr. Liang
Hai Yang as the Executive Director; (i) Mr. Li Zi Cong as the
Executive Director; (iii) the appointment of Mr. Chong Lee Chang
as the Chairman of the Nomination Committee, and the
resignation of Dato’ Lim Ooi Hong as the Chairman of the
Nomination Committee to the Board for approval.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three members namely, Ms.
Wong Choi Kay (Independent Non-executive Director), Mr.
Chong Lee Chang (Independent Non-executive Director) and
Mr. Tony Tan (Independent Non-executive Director). Ms. Wong
Choi Kay acts as the Chairperson of the Audit Committee.

The role and function of the Audit Committee are set out in its
terms of reference which are posted on the websites of Stock
Exchange and the Company. Primary terms include:

On external audit:

° make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the external auditor and
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor;

o review and monitor the external auditor’s independence as
well as the objectives and effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with applicable standards;

° discuss with the external auditor before the audit
commences, the nature and scope of the audit and
reporting obligations and ensure co-ordination where more
than one audit firm is involved; and

° develop and implement policy on the engagement of the
external auditor to provide non-audit services.

On annual financial results:

° monitor integrity of the interim and annual financial
statements and interim and annual reports and accounts,
and review significant financial reporting judgements
contained therein before submission to the Board;

° review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

° review external auditor’'s management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditor to the management in
respect of accounting records, financial accounts or
system of control and management response; and

° consider any significant or unusual items that are, or may
need to be, reflected in the interim and annual reports and
accounts and give due consideration to any matters that
have been raised by the Group.

BEREES
BERLZEER -2 EERERRTCBIFRITESR)
REAREECBIUIFNTES) RREREECBLIEF
WITER)AK -  EERLIRERZEEER -

BERZBENBE BN RS E (R BN
R RANTELE)  EEBE

IEER

o  HEE BENZEMERIEBRBMAEREEIR
IR DA S L BE P SINE A SR B 357 B S AR5

o  REBEERERFRERIEZBEMNE LY
AR EZIZFE B RERR

o FMEZI(EA - EIMNERBEN N BB RE
BEZUHEREE  mis kBB —Masths
B AIMABGREEEEIZAE &

o HIEREEAREMAIMNSZBEN R IFEHBR
2R

FZRFAE -

o ERTHRFEMBHRRETHRFERSE N

RERBATER THZRERSAEMES
P B R B T 3R T

o REAKEMEREIEEREE

o EHIMEZEED 2 E IR E 1 LA R IR HERZ BLAD
REEEMREARECHE  MIERE e
EENEMEREAAREREE 2OE &

. ERPHRFEREREAFRRATELEE
RRNEMEARTEHEE - TEAEFAE
BRI M FEE -

HREXERAT FHR2013 37



Corporate Governance Report

EERERHRE

On internal control and risk management:

review the Group’s financial controls and its internal control
and risk management systems;

discuss with management the system of internal control
and ensure that management has discharged its duty to
have an effective internal control system including the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting
function, and its training programmes and budget;

consider any findings of major investigation of internal
control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own
initiative and management’s responses thereto;

ensure co-ordination between the internal and external
auditors and that the internal audit function is adequately
resourced and has appropriate standing within the Group;
and

report to the Board on the matters raised in the Code.
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During the year ended 31 December 2013, the Audit Committee #HE-T—=F+_-_A=+—HIFE HBXRZLES
had held three Audit Committee meetings and the attendance  E&R{TABZHEZE e HEIHIANNNOT :
record is set out below:
Meeting attendance/
Name Number of meetings held
4 RE EREITRE
Ms. Wong Choi Kay (Chairperson) =sERLLT(EE) 2/3
Mr. Chong Lee Chang SRR EE 3/3
Mr. Tony Tan PR 258 5 A& 2/3
As summarised below, the Audit Committee had considered, HBEZZEeEE BHE HilmEEMGMOT
reviewed and/or discussed:
1. the auditing and financial reporting matters; 1. BEEFHHARER:
2. the continuing connected transactions of the Group; 2. AXREENFERERS
3.  the re-appointment of Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as 3. EREXBELSSHMEEMBERATALRA T
the Company’s external auditors for the financial year BEZZT—=F+A=1T—"HBLUKFEHDN
ended 31 December 2013; SNEEAZ AT
4.  the revision of the terms of reference of the Audit 4. BilEXZESNBESELMNESSIREE
Committee and make recommendation to the Board; E
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5. the interim and annual financial results;

6. the report on the Group’s internal audit and audit activity
status prepared by independent professional parties; and

7. the appointment of an independent internal auditor
including the terms of engagement.

In addition, the Audit Committee had reviewed, discussed and
approved the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2013.

Auditors’ Remuneration

For the year ended 31 December 2013, the remuneration in
respect of audit services and non-audit service assignment
provided by the auditor of the Company, Baker Tilly Hong Kong
Limited, amounted to HKD870,000 and HKD235,000
respectively.

Internal Control

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for maintaining a
sound and effective internal control system for the Company to
safeguard investments of the Shareholders and assets of the
Company at all times.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
system of internal control of the Group in 2013. The Board has
not taken a different view from that of the Audit Committee
regarding the selection, resignation or dismissal of the external
auditors.

Internal Control System

The system of internal control aims to help achieve the
Company’s business objectives, safeguard assets and maintain
proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information. The system is designed to provide reasonable, but
not absolute assurance against material misstatement in the
financial statements or loss of assets and to manage rather than
eliminate risks of failure when business objectives are being
sought.

5. TFHRFEMBFRE:

6. MBIFEXALREEMARENBERERE
SHEBERARES R

7. REBIUAEZEE (BFEH) -

o BREZESCEH W kiEREER#E"
B+ A=T—HILFEZFEEXE -

3 Gl
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B RBE S G M EBIARA FIEROBRS
Fe 3k 4% 8 BR #5180 B 2 5 B /870,000 T R
235,000/8 7T °
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EREHEFBHEREEERXEFEREES  #2
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BB EBERMER
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The following are the key processes which the Board has
adopted in reviewing the adequacy and integrity of the system of
internal control for the Company:

° Monitoring mechanisms and management style

There are periodic meetings of the Board attended by the
Directors. The Board Committees and the management of
the Company represent the main platform by which the
Company’s performance and conduct are monitored. The
daily operations of business are entrusted to the Executive
Chairman, the Group Chief Executive Officer and the
management team. Under the purview of the Executive
Chairman and the Group Chief Executive Officer, the
respective heads of each operating department of the
Company are empowered with the responsibility to
manage their respective operations.

The Board is responsible for setting the business direction
and for overseeing the conduct of the Company’s
operations with the aid of the various Board Committees.

° Enterprise risk management framework

The Board recognises that an effective risk management
framework will allow the Company to identify, evaluate and
manage risks that affect the achievement of the
Company’s business objectives within defined risk
parameters in a timely and effective manner.

Through scheduled periodic meetings, the Board will
identify the risks affecting the Company and evaluates the
effectiveness of the existing controls to determine whether
any mitigation action plans need to be formulated
accordingly. The Company'’s risk management framework
is progressively being built up as the operations of the
Smelter are rammed up.

Internal audit:

The Company’s internal audit function is outsourced to a
professional internal audit service provider and this ensures that
the outsourced internal auditor is independent and has no
involvement in the operations of the Company. The outsourced
internal auditor which is responsible for the review and appraisal
on the effectiveness of risk management, internal control and
corporate governance processes in the Company, reports
directly to the Audit Committee.
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The Audit Committee has full and direct access to the
outsourced internal auditor, reviews the reports on all audits
performed and monitors the audit performance. The Audit
Committee also reviews the adequacy of the scope, functions,
competency and resources of the outsourced internal audit
functions.

The outsourced internal auditor will carry out internal audits on
various operating units within the Company based on the
audit plan approved by the Audit Committee. Based on these
audits, the outsourced internal auditor will provide the Audit
Committee with periodic reports highlighting observations,
recommendations and management action plans to improve the
system of internal control.

Weaknesses in the system of internal control that result in
material losses:

There were no material losses incurred during the current
financial year as a result of weaknesses in internal control. The
management will continue to take adequate measures to
strengthen the control environment in which the Company
operates.

The improvement of the system of internal control is an on-going
process and the Board maintains an on-going commitment to
strengthening the Company’s control environment and
processes.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial

Statements

Each of the Directors understands and acknowledges his or her
responsibility for the preparation and the true and fair
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with the
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant
to the preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
ability of the Company to continue as a going concern. The
statement of auditors about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report.
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Communication with Shareholders

The Board recognises the importance of good communication
with Shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is
disseminated to Shareholders in a timely manner through a
number of formal channels, which include interim and annual
reports, announcements and circulars. Such published
documents together with the latest corporate information and
news are also made available on the website of the Company.

The Company’s Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) is a valuable
forum for the Board to communicate directly with the
Shareholders. The Executive Chairman actively participates at
the AGM and personally chairs the meeting to answer any
question to ensure effective communication with the
Shareholders. The chairman of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee or in their
absence, another member of the respective committees or
failing that their respective duly appointed delegate, are also
available to answer questions at the AGM. The chairman of any
independent board committee formed as necessary or pursuant
to the Listing Rules (or if no such chairman is appointed, at least
a member of the independent board committee) will also be
available to answer questions at any general meeting of the
Shareholders to approve a connected transaction or any other
transaction that is subject to independent Shareholders’
approval.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings for
each substantial issue, including the re-election of retiring
Directors.

The notice to Shareholders is to be sent in the case of an AGM
at least 20 clear business days before the meeting and to be
sent at least 10 clear business days before the meeting in the
case of all other general meetings. An explanation of the detailed
procedures of conducting a poll is provided to the Shareholders
at the commencement of the meeting. The Executive Chairman
answers questions from Shareholders regarding voting by way
of a poll. The poll results are published in the manner prescribed
under the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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Shareholders’ Right
Procedures for Shareholders to Convene

an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Section 113 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
32 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Shareholder(s) holding not
less than one-twentieth of the paid-up capital of the Company
may request the Board to convene an extraordinary general
meeting. The related requisition must state the objects of the
meeting, must be signed by the Shareholder(s) who requested
to convene the meeting and deposited at the registered office of
the Company.

Procedures for Directing Shareholders’

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders and other stakeholders may send their enquiries
and concerns to the Board in writing whose contact details are
as follows:

Flat B, 21st Floor,

Neich Tower, 128 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Facsimile: (852) 2598 0188

Email: raymondleung@cvmminerals.com.hk

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to Put

Forward Proposals at a General Meeting

In relation to a resolution relating to other matters in a general
meeting, Shareholders are requested to follow the requirements
and procedures as set out in Section 115A of the Companies
Ordinance, whichever is applicable.
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Executive Directors

Mr. Ji Kuang

Mr. Ji Kuang (“Mr. Ji”), aged 53, Chinese, is an Executive
Director and the Chairman of the Board of Directors (the
“Board”) of the Company. He graduated from Nanjing University
of Chinese Medicine with a Bachelor Degree of Chinese
medicine in 1989. Mr. Ji has 20 years of experience in corporate
management, property development, construction management
and marketing. He was the chief manager of Federation of
Returned Overseas Chinese Industry and Trade Group in Wuxi
County and Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese Real
Estate Development Company Limited in Wuxi City during the
period from 1992 to 1999. He was then promoted as the
chairman of Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese Real
Estate Development Company Limited in Wuxi City during the
period from April 1999 to November 2009. He is the current
chairman of the Wuxi Yuqgi Datang Real Estate Company Ltd..
Mr. Ji is also the chairman of presidium of World Chinese-
Overseas-Trade Union General Attestation (“WCUGA”) and a
minister of the investment department of WCUGA. WCUGA is
founded in 1986, which unites Chinese elites and Oversea-
Chinese.

Dato’ Lim Ooi Hong

Dato’ Lim Ooi Hong (“Dato’ Lim”), aged 37, Malaysian, is an
Executive Director and Vice Chairman of the Company. Dato’
Lim graduated from RMIT University with a Bachelor’ Degree in
Business (Business Administration) in 1998. Dato’ Lim’s
contribution to the development of the Company began from
inception, as he was a member of the task force established in
February 2004 to develop the magnesium business. He was
conferred with the title of Dato’ on 26 December 2013.

Prior to joining the Company, Dato’ Lim was involved in special
projects relating to the exploration and processing of zircon and
kaolin, both non-ferrous metals, in Kalimantan, Indonesia and a
tin mining project in Bentong, Pahang, Malaysia. Dato’ Lim was
appointed as managing director and chief executive officer of Ho
Wah Genting Berhad (“HWGB”) on 30 August 2012, a public
limited company incorporated under Malaysian law in Malaysia
and listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities
Berhad (“Bursa Malaysia”), a substantial shareholder of the
Company.
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Mr. Leung Wai Kwan

Mr. Leung Wai Kwan (“Mr. Leung”), aged 50, Chinese, is an
Executive Director, Group Chief Executive Officer and Authorised
Representative of the Company. Mr. Leung has been the Vice
President, Business Development (Asia) of the Company since 1
March 2010. He continues in a business development role for
the Company.

Mr. Leung holds a Bachelor Degree of Business Administration
in Finance from The Queen’s University of Brighton, United
States of America (“USA”). Prior to joining the Company in
March 2010, he was a principal of a local audit firm and
the managing director of a consulting firm providing services
of secretarial, taxation and corporate finance consultancy.
Mr. Leung was an executive director of two companies listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange for more than 7 years
until 2004 and 2005 respectively, and has extensive experience
in merger and acquisition activities, financial management and
corporate compliance.

Mr. Chong Cha Hwa

Mr. Chong Cha Hwa (“Mr. Chong”), aged 47, is a Fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
United Kingdom and a member of the Malaysian Institute of
Accountants. Mr. Chong received a bachelors degree of
management with honours from the University of Science,
Malaysia. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Chong gained more
than 20 years of experience in the accounting and finance
sector, servicing private and publicly listed companies in Hong
Kong and the Southern Asia region. Currently, Mr. Chong is an
independent non-executive director of China Mining Resources
Group Limited (Stock Code: 340) and Boshiwa International
Holding Limited (Stock Code: 1698), both companies are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He is also an
executive director of Sing Pao Media Enterprises Limited (Stock
Code: 8010), a company listed on the Growth Enterprises
Market of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM”).

Mr. Chong had been an executive director of RCG Holdings
Limited (Stock Code: 802; AIM Stock Code: RCG), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange for the period
from 1 July 2012 to 13 November 2012. Mr. Chong had also
been an independent non-executive director of both Longlife
Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8037), a company listed
on the GEM for the period from 3 December 2007 to 28
February 2013 and CGN Mining Company Limited (Stock Code:
1164, formerly known as Vital Group Holdings Limited), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange for
the period from 19 October 2006 to 18 August 2011.

REETE

RigBARE(REL]D  505%  PEFE - BAREH
TEF SETHARLERERR RELE_FT—
TE-ZA-ARETARTEBER (M) BIEE -
RSBEEARREERERER -

REABENRIBEERARBEAR  HAEIHEE (B
BELEM - R_T—ZFF=AMARRALZA] » &
LREMBHAANEEA LA —MRHEMERS
B REEBEBBRGHERRRIETESALE -
BRECMABRIAER LT ARNRITESELSF
ZA DHEEZZTNFR_TTRFER/I - EH
BEE  MBEERARARE I HEREELR -

RREXRE

RERELRA([REA]D) 475 AREREITARE:

MAGERAGERERATGFMAEEE - RAEE
A 5 7 78 58 3 &L K E2 (University of Science, Malaysia)
WMEEBETLEEN - EIARRAZH - KREE
EREheBTERRBE _+FEH TAEER
EhmENLARBIRAR EMABRE - REER
AR ER LR BEREEEREEER AR (RN
SR : 340) RIE T HBERIERAR QA (RMDAHR -
1698) MY B L IEHITE S o WIN BB FTalZEMR (T8l
FR)EMHAREESEEER A A(RMHAIR:
8010) H)FATTEE °

BT+ A—RE_E——F+—A+=0HH
M RESERTBIATER EMAEBHEEEGER)
BRAR(BRMHASE 802 BARZHBERET S
A RER : RCG)MHITES c REANMEAE_TT+
F+-_AZHE-_Z—=ZF_A=-+N\BHHE " &I
AIZER ET M W REBIERAR A A (DR :
8037) M E—ZTEARE+ATAAE-ZE—F)\A
+NABEE EEBIAER TP EZEESR
DA (BRHAEE - 1164 » AITEHEREBITRERAF])
BB IEMITES ©

HREXERAT FHR2013 45



Directors and Senior Management

EENRENEEE

Ms. Meng Xiao Ying

Ms. Meng, aged 44, is a lawyer and the founding partner of
Guangdong Huishang Law Firm (& 5 2 7 12 B =8 75 Ff7). She
graduated from the Department of Law of Xiangtan University in
Hunan. She was assigned to work in Hunan Heshan Justice
Bureau in 1990. She was admitted as a lawyer with excellent
results in 1992 and was sent by Justice Bureau for the formation
of Heshan Second Law Firm (fif LU [& % — @2 B0 = A7) in the
same year. Since then, she started her career as a professional
lawyer. Afterwards, she worked as a professional lawyer in
Hunan Zhenli Law Firm (8 f & 32 £ &l 5 7 FfT) from 1994 to
2000 and co-founded Guangdong Huishang Law Firm (&R &=
P ZRM = 5FT) in 2000.

Her distinct style and characteristic of effectiveness in case
handling has been established in the practice for law for over 20
years. She has extensive working experience as a lawyer, and
has handled numerous non-litigation legal affairs, such as
economical, civil and criminal cases and issuance of legal
opinion and feasibility studies reports. Since the practice of law
in Shenzhen, she has assisted in the successful listing of several
units who sought for legal advice and received their
appreciations.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Wong Choi Kay

Ms. Wong Choi Kay (“Ms. Wong”), aged 47, Malaysian, has
been an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
since 27 December 2007, the Chairperson of the Audit
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company since
14 October 2008 and 30 March 2012 respectively. Ms. Wong
obtained her Bachelor of Arts Degree from Queen’s University,
Kingston, Canada in 1988. She is a member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of British Columbia, the Institute of
Internal Auditors, a certified fraud examiner of the Association of
Certified Fraud Examiners, Texas, USA and a member of the
Institute of Corporate Directors, Corporate Governance College,
Sauder School of Business and University of British Columbia,
Canada.

Ms. Wong has more than 20 years of experience in forensic
accounting, organisational design and development and
Sarbanes-Oxley financial control reviews. Ms. Wong has
provided consulting services to a number of mining companies,
principally in the areas of corporate governance and due
diligence. Some of the companies she has advised included
Energy Metals Corporation, a uranium exploration company
which is listed on Nasdag and the Toronto Stock Exchange
(“TSX”), Peregrine Diamonds Ltd which is also listed on the TSX
and Peregrine Metals Ltd which is engaged in gold and copper
exploration.

Prior to joining the Company, from 1990 to 1995, Ms. Wong
was a senior associate and an internal control specialist at
PricewaterhouseCoopers where she advised on various internal
control or other specialized engagements for clients involved in
mining businesses, including Teck-Cominco (zinc, metallurgical
coal, gold, copper and specialty metals; listed on TSX and the
New York Stock Exchange), and KAP Resources Ltd. Ms. Wong
has also been an independent non-executive director of
Nagacorp Ltd. (Stock Code: 3918) a company listed on the
Stock Exchange from February 2005 to May 2009.

After leaving PricewaterhouseCoopers, Ms. Wong also worked
for the Imperial Parking Group, Great Canadian Gaming
Corporation, Vancouver International Airport Authority, Workers
Compensation Board of British Columbia and the Royal
Canadian Mounted Police. Additionally, Ms. Wong has consulted
with a number of resource companies such as Oromin
Explorations Ltd., Strathmore Minerals Corp., Yukon Zinc
Corporation, Madison Minerals Ltd., Entrée Gold, Golden
Predator Mines Inc. and Crosshair Explorations & Mining Corp.
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Mr. Chong Lee Chang

Mr. Chong Lee Chang (“Mr. Chong”), aged 55, Malaysian, has
been an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
since 27 December 2007. He graduated with a BA (honours)
degree in law from the Manchester Metropolitan University in
1982. He was admitted to the Honourable Society of Lincoln’s
Inn, London, in 1982 and was enrolled as a Barrister-at-Law in
1983. In 1984, he was admitted as an advocate and solicitor of
the High Court of Malaya and is currently holding a legal
practising certificate to practise law in Malaysia. Mr. Chong has
more than 26 years of experience in legal practice in Malaysia.

Mr. Chong is the founding and senior partner of a Kuala Lumpur
based law firm, Messrs. LC Chong & Co. His legal experience
has included advising various companies from Asia and United
Kingdom, including steel millers from China. He has served as
an executive director of Antah Holdings Berhad (a public
company listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia) from
June 2000 to October 2001 and also held directorship in
Permanis Sdn. Bhd., the Malaysian franchise holder and bottler
of Pepsi-Cola and Seven- Up. He was a director of Midwest
Corporation Limited since May 2005, a company listed on the
Australian Stock Exchange, whose main businesses are mining,
exploring and processing iron ore. He resigned from Midwest
Corporation in February 2009 after the company was wholly
acquired by a Chinese company and delisted from the Australian
Stock Exchange. On 25 June 2010, Mr. Chong was appointed
as an independent non-executive director of Agritrade
Resources Limited (Stock Code: 1131), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chong was appointed
as an independent non-executive director of EITA Resources
Berhad, a public company listed on Bursa Malaysia on 9 April
2012.

Mr. Chong was a non-executive director of Bingo Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8220), a company listed on the
GEM board of the Stock Exchange and was subsequently
redesignated as an executive director with effect from 14
February 2013.

Mr. Chong is also the managing director of Guangxi Xin Wei
Hotel Management Co., Ltd (EFA&ZEA/EEE AR R 7)), a
private foreign investment company in the PRC which owns the

(£ =

Nanning Marriott Hotel (75 % 18 & 5B 5).
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Mr. Tony Tan

Mr. Tony Tan (“Mr. Tan”), aged 63, Malaysian, has been
appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director and a
member of the audit committee of the Company since 1 June
2011. Mr. Tan graduated from the University of Tasmania,
Australia with a Bachelor of Arts Degree majoring in Political
Science and Administration and then read law at Lincoln’s Inn
England. He was called to the English Bar in July 1979. Mr. Tan
was called to the Malaysian Bar in 1980 and is now an advocate
and solicitor of the High Court of Malaya. He is the founding
partner of the legal firm, Messrs N.K. Tan & Rahim. He has 32
years of experience in commercial law and is well-versed in
conveyancing, litigation and general law.

Mr. Tan was an Independent Non-executive Director and the
chairman of the Board of the Company from 9 November 2007
until 1 September 2010. He also served as the chairman of the
nomination committee, chairman of the remuneration committee
and member of the audit committee of the Company until his
resignation from the Board on 1 September 2010.

Mr. Tan has served first as a non-executive director and then as
an executive director of Antah Holdings Berhad, a public
company listed on the Main Market of the Bursa Malaysia from
14 July 1999 until 30 August 2001.

Mr. Tan was also an independent non-executive director of
HWGB from 4 July 2001 until 12 December 2007. He was re-
appointed as an independent non-executive director to the
board of HWGB on 1 September 2010 and resumed the
position of chairman on the same date. He was re-designated
as deputy chairman with effect from 10 January 2011. He is also
a member of the audit committee, the chairman of nomination
and remuneration committees of HWGB. He was re-designated
as chairman of HWGB on 14 June 2011 and resigned all his
positions in HWGB on 30 August 2012.

He is also an independent non-executive director of APFT
Berhad, a public company listed on the Main Market of the
Bursa Malaysia since 6 December 2010. He was appointed as a
member of the audit committee and chairman of the nomination
committee of APFT Berhad on 15 December 2010.

Mr. Tan was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Connectcounty Holdings Berhad, a public company
listed on the ACE Market of Bursa Malaysia on 1 November
2011 and also as a member of its Audit Committee on 18
November 2011.
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Senior Management

Mr. Wong Keet Loy

Mr. Wong Keet Loy (“Mr. Wong”), aged 49, Malaysian, Chief
Financial Officer, joined the Company since March 2010. He is a
Fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, United Kingdom and a Chartered Accountant of
the Malaysian Institute of Accountants. He holds a Diploma in
Commerce (Financial Accounting).

He has over 20 years of experience in finance, corporate
finance, banking and accounting in various industries.

Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Wong was the Chief Financial
Officer of a USA owned timber plantation and manufacturing
company. He has also been a Group Financial Controller in an
engineering company as well as in a property development
company during the course of his career. Both these companies
are listed on the Main Board of Bursa Malaysia.
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The Directors hereby present their report together with the
audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2013.

Principal Activities

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 17 to the
financial statements.

Results and Appropriations
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2013
are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 67.

Final Dividends

The Board did not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: Nil).
Accordingly, there will be no closure of the register of members
of the Company.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Additions to property, plant and equipment of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2013 amounted to HK$666,207
(2012: HK$6,876,161).

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 13 to the financial
statements.

Share Capital
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 31(b) to the financial statements.

Interest Capitalised
No interest on bank loans have been capitalised for the year
ended 31 December 2013 (2012: Nil).

Reserves

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and note 31(a) to the financial
statements respectively.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 December 2013, the Company’s reserves calculated
under section 79B of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
were represented by accumulated losses of HK$1,120,200,345
(2012: HK$950,725,908). At both 31 December 2013 and 2012,
there are no distributable reserves available to owners of the
Company.

EEENREHE T =F T+ A=+ —BHILtFHE
MRS RA K BEEZIBRE o

IEXK
ARARBELBRDF - AHBRARANEBEHRR
BT RAMIEET -

AEBBE-_T—=F+_A=1+—BILFENEE
HRRAKERFEOT B °

RERE
EFETHARBE T =F+-A=+—BLF
RN EMRE(ZT—=F : &) - At RAFAT
SEEHERHBEERTE -

Y - BB KR
AEEBE-ZE—=F+-A=+—RHILFENYE -
BER&ZHBRE F/BBB207TET(ZF — ZF:
6,876,161 7T) *

REBRKFENWE - BELREESFBEHRY
FEIRRMEE13 -

N

RRABRANEENRAB B F BN B RE W T
31(b)

BIEERZRR

BE-Z=F1+-"A=+—"HILFELERTER
NMEBARER(ZT——F &) -

i
AN B R R D B RA E E RO GE B R 5 R B AR
AMSEBR LY HRERMES1EQ A -

A {7 R % e

RZZE—=F+_A=+—8 " REFBELEHE
7OBETE - RRRINEEARETEE1,120,200,345
B (ZZT— % :950,725,908 L) - R T —=
F+ZA=+—AEKZZE—=-F+ZA=+—H &K
AR EARAED IR T AR REAREE

HORB¥ERAT F3,2013 51



Report of the Directors
EEEWRE

Directors
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Ji Kuang (Executive Chairman)

Dato’ Lim Ooi Hong (Vice Chairman)

Mr. Leung Wai Kwan (Group Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chong Cha Hwa (appointed on 26 February 2014)
Ms. Meng Xiao Ying (appointed on 26 February 2014)
Mr. Liang Hai Yang (resigned on 30 September 2013)
Mr. Li Zi Cong (resigned on 6 September 2013)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Wong Choi Kay

Mr. Chong Lee Chang

Mr. Tony Tan

The biographical details of the Directors are set out under the
section “Directors and Senior Management” of this Annual
Report.

In accordance with Article 107 of the Articles of Association, Mr.
Chong Cha Hwa and Ms. Meng Xiao Ying shall retire and be
eligible for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

In accordance with Article 104(A) of the Articles of Association,
Mr. Ji Kuang, Dato’ Lim Ooi Hong and Mr. Tony Tan shall retire
by rotation and being eligible, have offered themselves for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Directors’ Service Contracts

None of the Directors has any existing or proposed service
contract with the Company or its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the employing company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ and Controlling Shareholder’s

Interests in Contracts

Save as disclosed under the headings “Continuing Connected
Transactions” in the Report of the Directors and “Material
Related Party Transactions” in note 38 to the financial
statements, no Directors or controlling shareholder of the
Company or their respective subsidiaries had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the
business of the Group and to which the Company, its
subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding company was a
party, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.
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Directors’ Interests in Competing Business
Up to the date of this report, none of the Directors have any
beneficial interest in other businesses which constitute, either
directly or indirectly, a competing business of the Group.

Controlling Shareholder

HWGB, the largest shareholder of the Company, has ceased to
be the controlling shareholder under the definition of the Listing
Rules during the year ended 31 December 2013. In view thereof,
HWGB’s annual confirmation of its compliance with the non-
competition undertaking was not required.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2013, the Group had a total of
approximately 148 employees (2012: 174 employees). Total staff
costs (including Directors’ emoluments), incurred for the year
ended 31 December 2013 amounted to approximately
HK$10.27 million (2012: HK$19.99 million). Remuneration
packages of the Directors are recommended by the
Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board.
Employee remuneration will be determined by the management
with reference to the performance, experience and industry
practice.

Share Option Scheme

The Company has a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) which
was adopted on 14 October 2008. The purpose of the Scheme
is to attract and retain the best quality personnel for the
development of the Company’s businesses; to provide additional
incentives to the employees; to provide eligible participants with
the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company;
and to promote the long term financial success of the Company
by aligning the interests of grantees to the Shareholders. Under
the Scheme, the Board shall be entitled at any time (except for
the period as defined under the Listing Rules whereby price
sensitive event or a price sensitive matter has been the subject
of a decision) within 10 years commencing on the date of
adoption of the Scheme to make an offer for the grant of an
option to any employee (including any officer or director, whether
executive or non-executive, of the Company or its subsidiaries),
and any consultant, adviser, supplier, customer or subcontractor
of the Company or any other person determined by the Board
as appropriate.
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The shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Scheme and any other schemes must not exceed 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue from time to time. The maximum
number of shares available for issue under options which may
be granted under the Scheme and any other schemes of the
Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued
shares of the Company, being 160,818,426 shares. The total
number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options (whether exercised or outstanding) in any 12-
month period granted to each grantee must not exceed 1% of
the shares of the Company in issue, such further grant shall be
subject to separate approval by the Shareholders in general
meeting with the relevant grantee and his associates abstaining
from voting.

The subscription price in respect of any particular option shall be
such price as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine
at the time of grant of the relevant option but the subscription
price shall not be less than whichever is the higher of () the
closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant; (i)
the average closing prices of the shares of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and
(iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company. An offer shall
remain open for acceptance for a period of 28 days from the
date of offer (or such longer period as the Board may specify in
writing). HK$1.00 is payable by the grantee to the Company on
acceptance of the offer of the option. The period within which
the shares of the Company must be taken up under an option
shall be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion at the
time of grant, but such period must not exceed 10 years from
the date of grant of the relevant option.

For the year ended 31 December 2013, no option has been
granted or agreed to be granted under the Scheme.
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Interests and Short Position of Directors or
Chief Executive of the Company in the
Shares or Underlying Shares or Debentures
of the Company and its Associated

Corporations

As at 31 December 2013, the interests and short positions of
the Directors or Chief Executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporation (within the meaning of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)), as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO or otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Long positions in the shares:

RAREEHERTHRABRAQAREM
BEE R HERONES 2 BHERE

B

R-F-—=F+-_A=1—H ARAREFHEET
BABRANRAREBRERE (E& R ESF RBE D
(TEHEHEGRG D)) 2Bt - HERD REFTES
RIBEFS LR RDIE 2GR ERAARFFE
ZE MR IARBARE T RIZBAE AR R KB P
ZHERFORBIAT -

Bty zire

Nature of interest

EEME Total Approximate
Beneficial Interest of Number percentage of
owner spouse of shares shareholding Note
Name of director EERS BREEA [ REBH FERELEIL M
Leung Wai Kwan PueE 725,000 3,324,500 4,049,500 0.25% -

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2013 was the
Company or its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company (including their spouse and children under 18 years of
age) to acquire benefits by an acquisition of shares or underlying
shares in, or debentures of the Company or its subsidiaries.
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Interests and Short Position in the Shares
and Underlying Shares of Substantial

Shareholders

As at 31 December 2013, so far as is known to any Directors or
the Chief Executive of the Company, the Shareholders, other
than the Directors or the Chief Executive of the Company, who
had an interest or short positions in the shares or the underlying
shares of the Company, as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO
were as follows:

-

FERRRRORMEARSD 2EERXR

R-Z—=F+=A=+—0 BARAEAEER
TEARABHM  BR(FOEARAEFRE B
BAB)RAR AR RARRIRR G A R ES R
I F 336 AT ARERARAFE 2 B LM E
HRARWT :

Number of
shares  Approximate
directly or percentage of

Name of shareholders BEREE L indirectly held  shareholding Notes
HiEDREE BR
BHENRAEE BRAEDL e
Ho Wah Genting Berhad Ho Wah Genting Berhad 186,037,500 11.56% 1
Silver Rhythm Sdn. Bhd. Silver Rhythm Sdn. Bhd. 125,511,797 7.80% 2
Teoh Tek Siong Teoh Tek Siong 126,761,797 7.88% 3
Tao Qian [ 100,000,000 6.21% -
Cheung Hei Man R X 81,650,651 5.07% -
Jui Hon Cheong s 81,650,651 5.07% -
Biosolid Investments Limited Biosolid Investments Limited 107,460,000 6.68% -
Wang Vickie Wang Vickie 107,460,000 6.68% -
Notes: B 5E -
1. Ho Wah Genting Berhad is a public limited company incorporated under 1. Ho Wah Genting Berhad AR & 5 2R F s A @B i 2 M A R

Malaysian law and listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities
Berhad, Malaysia.

2. Silver Rhythm Sdn. Bhd. is a private company incorporated under
Malaysian law.

3. Mr. Teoh Tek Siong holds 99% equity interest in the issued capital of Silver
Rhythm Sdn. Bhd., therefore, he is deemed to be interested in the
125,511,797 Shares held by Silver Rhythm Sdn. Bhd. In addition, Mr. Teoh

Teck Siong also holds 1,250,000 Shares under his own name.

4. All interests stated above represent long positions.
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed

Securities

During the year, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

Sufficiency of Public Float

The Company has maintained the prescribed minimum amount
of public float from the date of its Listing and up to the date of
this Annual Report as required by the Listing Rules, based on
the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this report.

Major Customers and Suppliers

As at 31 December 2013, the proportion of purchases and sales
from major suppliers and major customers of the Group to the
total purchases and sales, respectively, are as follows:

Purchases

The total purchases from the largest supplier and five largest
suppliers of the Group represent 81% and 81% of the total
purchases respectively. All transactions between the Group and
its suppliers were conducted on normal commercial terms.

Sales

The total sales from the largest customer and five largest
customers of the Group represent 62% and 85% of the total
sales value respectively. All transactions between the Group and
its customers were conducted on normal commercial terms.

During the year, to the best of the Directors’ knowledge, none of
the Directors, senior management or their respective associates
or any shareholders of the Company who holds more than 5%
of the issued share capital of the Company had any interest in
the five largest customers or the five largest suppliers of the
Group.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.
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Continuing Connected Transactions

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in note 38 to the
financial statements also constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Group within the meaning of the Listing
Rules. These continuing connected transactions which the
Group had entered into with HWGB, Ho Wah Genting Poipet
Resorts Sdn. Bhd. (‘HWGP”) and Majuperak Energy Resources
Sdn. Bhd. (“MERSB”) (formerly known as Harta Perak
Corporation Sdn. Bhd.) in 2013 were for the following purposes:

° Renting of office premises for operations by CVMSB from
HWGB

. On demand purchase of air tickets from HWGP, an
associate of HWGB in which HWGB has 40% equity
interest

° Maintenance fee payment to MERSB for mining of
dolomite

Although these transactions were “continuing connected
transactions” as defined in the Listing Rules, all of them were
either in relation to consumer goods or consumer services, or
sharing of administrative services or de minimis transactions
exempted under rules 14A.33(1) to 14A.33(3) of the Listing
Rules from reporting, announcement and independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the
year.

Our Independent Non-executive Directors have reviewed the
continuing connected transactions and are of the view that the
continuing connected transactions have been entered into under
the following circumstances:

(@  inthe ordinary and usual course of business;

(o) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms offered to/by
independent third parties; and

(c) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing

those transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interest of the Shareholders as a whole.
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Auditors

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2013
have been audited by Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited. A
resolution will be submitted at the forthcoming AGM of the
Company to re-appoint Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as
auditors of the Company. There has been no change in the
auditors of the Company in the recent three years.

On behalf of the Board
CVM Minerals Limited
Ji Kuang

Executive Chairman

Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, 28 March 2014
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BAKER TILLY
HONG KONG KBt

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of CVM
Minerals Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of CVM Minerals Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”), set out on pages 67 to
188, which comprise the consolidated and company statements
of financial position as at 31 December 2013, and the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the

consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 141 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Except for the
inability to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence as
explained below, we conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement. However, because of the matters
described in the basis for disclaimer of opinion paragraphs, we
were not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
provide a basis for an audit opinion.
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Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

1.

Opening balances and corresponding

figures

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2012, which forms the basis for
the corresponding figures presented in the current year’s
consolidated financial statements, was qualified because
of the significance of the possible effect of the limitations
on the scope of the audit in relation to the (a) valuations of
exploration and evaluation assets, goodwill and property,
plant and equipment and associated deferred tax liabilities;
(b) turnover, trade receivables, cost of inventories sold and
inventories derived by the mineral water operation in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”); and (c) valuations
of the Company’s investments in subsidiaries and amounts
due from subsidiaries and the material fundamental
uncertainty in relation to going concern. Details of the
qualified audit opinions were set out in the independent
auditor’s report dated 19 April 2013 and included in the
Company’s annual report for the year ended 31 December
2012,

We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to enable us to assess the limitation of scope for
the year ended 31 December 2012. Any adjustments
found to be necessary to the opening balances as at 1
January 2013 may affect the balance of accumulated
losses as at 1 January 2013 and the operating results and
related disclosures in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2013. The comparative figures showed in the
consolidated financial statements may not be comparable
with the figures for the current year.
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Scope Limitation: valuations of
exploration and evaluation assets,
goodwill and property, plant and
equipment and associated deferred tax
liabilities

During the year 2013, the principal operations of the
Group included: (a) mining of dolomite and manufacture of
magnesium ingots in Malaysia; (b) exploration for iron ore,
coal and manganese in the Republic of Indonesia
(“Indonesia”); and (c) extraction and bottling of mineral
water in the PRC. Due to various material fundamental
uncertainties faced by the Group, as disclosed in notes
2(b), 15 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements,
these principal operations, except for the operation of
extraction and bottling of mineral water, are effectively
suspended for various reasons. At the same time, the
extraction and bottling of mineral water operation is not
generating positive cash flow for the Group as anticipated
by the management of the Company. Included in the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2013 are: (a) exploration and evaluation assets
with an aggregate carrying value of HK$151,770,300
(2012: HK$359,332,880); (b) goodwill arising from
business combinations with an aggregate carrying value of
HKS$NIl (2012: HK$111,180,501); (c) property, plant and
equipment, including the interest in leasehold land, with an
aggregate carrying value of HK$419,614,001 (2012:
HK$505,640,766); and (d) deferred tax liabilities
associated with the fair value adjustment on the
exploration and evaluation assets of HK$32,061,574
(2012: HK$72,619,757).

As required by Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36
“Impairment of assets” (“HKAS 36”) issued by the HKICPA,
at the end of the reporting period, the Group has identified
that there were certain indications of impairment of the
above named assets, and therefore, the Group appointed
an independent valuer, GC Appraisals Services Company
Limited (“GC Appraisals” or “the valuer”) to perform
valuations to assess the recoverable amounts of these
assets as at the end of the reporting period. As defined in
HKAS 36, the recoverable amount of an asset is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The valuer was unable to find comparable recent
transactions in similar extractive assets to determine the
fair value less cost of disposal of these assets. As an
alternative, the valuer estimated the value in use as the
recoverable amount of these assets. The estimation is
prepared using an income-based approach and is based
on the estimated reserves of these extractive sites from
technical reports prepared in prior years (“Technical

CVM MINERALS LIMITED Annual Report 2013
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Reports”) and assumptions as to the Group’s ability to
explore for these mineral resources, particularly exploration
for manganese in Indonesia and to operate the plants for
production of magnesium ingots and bottled mineral water
in Malaysia and the PRC, respectively. As a result,
impairment losses on (a) exploration and evaluation assets
of HK$207,562,580 (2012: HK$166,086,731); (b) goodwill
of HK$111,180,501 (2012: HK$141,622,589); and (c)
property, plant and equipment, including the interest in
leasehold land, of HK$26,767,044 (2012:
HK$188,182,602) have been recognised and included in
other operating expenses in the consolidated income
statement for the year.

Taking into consideration that the Group has not incurred
any exploration and evaluation expenditures on these
extractive operations in order to obtain up-to-date
technical data for these extractive operations in the current
year and that the Group does not have sufficient working
capital to finance these extractive operations, we are
unable to assess the reliability of these valuations prepared
for financial reporting purposes. In addition, we consider
that the technical data in the Technical Reports used to
prepare the valuations are not up-to-date and we are
unable to verify the Group’s ability, both financially and
technically, to undertake exploration for or exploitation of
any of the resources under the relevant mining permits and
to operate the plants for production of magnesium ingots
and bottled mineral water in Malaysia and the PRC,
respectively. Accordingly, we are unable to assess whether
the recoverable amounts of these assets at the end of the
reporting period are reliably measured and the feasibility of
these operations. There are no alternative audit procedures
that we could perform to satisfy ourselves as to whether
the impairment losses should be recognised in the current
year, whether any further impairment losses should be
recognised on these assets and whether the carrying
amounts of the exploration and evaluation assets, goodwill
and property, plant and equipment and associated
deferred tax liabilities are free from material misstatement.
Any adjustments found to be necessary in respect thereof,
had we obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence,
would have had a consequential effect on the net liabilities
of the group and on its loss for the current year.
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Scope Limitation: material fundamental
uncertainties relating to the going
concern basis of presentation of the

consolidated financial statements

As disclosed in note 2(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group and the Company have
encountered a number of circumstances giving rise to
material fundamental uncertainties. The Group and the
Company are principally sustained in their daily operations
by bank loans, unsecured loans, convertible bonds and
placing of shares. The Group and the Company are
pursuing certain finance measures set out in note 2(b) to
the consolidated financial statements, and therefore, the
directors of the Company have prepared the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis. However,
we are unable to obtain sufficient audit evidence for us to
assess the validity of the going concern assumption which
depends on the continuing financial support of the Group’s
bankers and creditors and the Group’s ability to generate
adequate working capital in near future. The existence of
these material fundamental uncertainties casts significant
doubt on the Group’s and the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate,
adjustments may have to be made to reflect a realisation
basis which includes, where appropriate, writing down the
Group’s and the Company’s assets to net realisation
value, and providing for any contractual commitments that
become effective at the end of the reporting period. In
addition, the Group and the Company may have to provide
for further liabilities that might arise, and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively.
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Scope Limitation: valuation and
impairment assessment of the
Company’s investments in subsidiaries

and amounts due from subsidiaries
Included in the Company’s statement of financial position
are gross investments in subsidiaries of HK$457,898,800
(2012: HK$457,898,800), amounts due from subsidiaries
of HK$610,636,881 (2012: HK$592,133,807) and an
impairment provision in aggregate of HK$996,599,680
(2012: HK$840,699,394), respectively. As required by
HKAS 36 issued by the HKICPA, at the end of the
reporting period, the Company should assess whether
there are any indications of impairment on the carrying
amounts of these balances. As reported in the aforesaid
basis for disclaimer of opinion, there are material
fundamental uncertainties that may affect our ability to
assess the validity of the going concern assumption and
operations of these subsidiaries. We are unable to satisfy
ourselves as to whether any further impairment losses
should be recognised on these balances and whether the
carrying amounts of investments in subsidiaries and
amounts due from these subsidiaries are fairly stated at
the end of the reporting period. Any adjustments found to
be necessary in respect thereof, had we obtained sufficient
appropriate audit evidence, would have had a
consequential effect on the net liabilities of the Company
and on its loss for the current year.
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Disclaimer of Opinion

Because of the significance of the matters described in the basis
for disclaimer of opinion paragraphs, we have not been able to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for
an audit opinion. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements as to whether they give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the
Group as at 31 December 2013 and of the Group’s loss and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards. In all other respects, in our
opinion the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Report on Matters under Sections 141(4)
and 141(6) of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance

In respect alone of the inability to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence on the multiple matters described in paragraphs
from 1 to 4 above:

— we have not obtained all the information and explanations
that we considered necessary for the purpose of our audit;
and

— we were unable to determine whether proper books and
records had been kept.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

Choi Kwong Yu

Practising certificate number PO5071

28 March 2014
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Consolidated Income Statement

e WaEk

For the year ended 31 December 2013 #HZE—ZE—=#+_-F=1+—HILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& T 51/{&)

2013 2012
—E-= —F——F
Notes HK$ HK$
B aE BT BT
Turnover = 4 20,901,439 14,531,302
Cost of sales SHE R (47,066,090) (54,684,477)
Gross loss FEE (26,164,651) (40,153,175)
Other revenue H At WA 5 432,344 845,749
Other net gains Hoh s 58 6 44,990,813 5,732,730
Selling and distribution expenses HE RS HFAX (7,561,245) (94,312)
Administrative expenses TR S (35,019,340) (40,728,294)
Loss from operations REFHE (23,322,079) (74,397,302)
Finance costs RhE AR AR 7(a) (84,144,735) (82,414,094)
Other operating expenses = 7(c) (345,687,059) (538,333,695)
Loss before taxation CETL R 7 (453,153,873) (695,145,091)
Income tax credit Frigiiife 8 40,170,824 30,564,021
Loss for the year FREE (412,983,049) (664,581,070)
Attributable to: LT AL FE4G :
Owners of the Company ZIN/NSIETZE N (322,357,788) (593,133,228)
Non-controlling interests FEPERR (90,625,261) (71,447,842)
Loss for the year FREE (412,983,049) (664,581,070)
Loss per share BEREE 11
Basic and diluted AR EE (22.80 centsfli) (200.69 cents{ll)
(Restated)
(5&E5)

The notes on pages 76 to 188 form part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2013 #ZE_—E— =%+ _-HA=+—HIFFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& T 51/{E)

2013 2012
—E—= —ET——F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Loss for the year FREE (412,983,049)  (664,581,070)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income FREMCEZE (EE) WHE
for the year
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently — E{&RIgeEFH D IEEBHEHIER
to profit or loss:
— Exchange differences on translation of — BEBINCE R R BHRED
financial statements of overseas EHER  HIRHIE
subsidiaries, net of tax (641,532) 12,475,530
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREMEEIBEE (413,624,581)  (652,105,540)
Attributable to: T AT B -
Owners of the Company PN/NETE X =N (322,414,014)  (580,942,887)
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR M 2 (91,210,567) (71,162,653)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREHEEBAE (413,624,581)  (652,105,540)

The notes on pages 76 to 188 form part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financi

e B F AR R

At 31 December 2013 W-ZE—=%+_-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& T 51/{&)

2013 2012
—_E2—= —ET—=
Notes HK$ HK$
M BT BT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment WE - WERHE 13(a)
— Property, plant and equipment — ME - MR MRE 410,903,897 495,555,018
— Interests in leasehold land held for — RBEEHERE
own use under operating leases BAME LD 8,710,104 10,085,748
Goodwill EES 14 - 111,180,501
Exploration and evaluation assets IR HEE 15 151,770,300 359,332,880
Mining deposit REZL® 16 213,049 228,125
571,597,350 976,382,272
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 18 5,388,773 10,458,201
Trade receivables FEUT AR X 19 434,787 1,975,723
Prepayments, deposits and other FEMFRIE -« e R EMmEK
receivables RIB 20 10,860,759 11,564,524
Amount due from a related party JE U — & B 5 3R 26 9,476 -
Contingent consideration receivable U S AR 21 - 2,699,019
Pledged deposit ERiiEE=N 22 2,968 14,833
Cash and cash equivalents B RIRESEEY 423,524 1,081,207
17,120,287 27,793,507
Assets classified as held for sale PHEERIESFEEE 23 340,070 -
17,460,357 27,793,507
Current liabilities =R
Trade and other payables JE 1T BR 5k % EL At JE < R IE 24 110,430,866 52,407,776
Obligations under finance leases e TH & AIE 25(a) 413,972 1,094,496
Amount due to a director EN—ZEEFE 26 628,790 -
Amounts due to related parties FE(HREE 5 B 26 6,341,020 1,643,743
Convertible bonds AR ES 27 36,080,198 -
Bank loans — secured BEMRETER 28 406,331,729 434,661,748
Unsecured loans from third parties REF=ZFEMFER 29 150,000,000 100,000,000
Tax payable FET R IE 372,501 -
710,599,076 589,807,763
Liabilities associated with assets HYBARBIEEEEE
classified as held for sale B EE 23 2,819,092 -
713,418,168 589,807,763
Net current liabilities REBAEEE (695,957,811)  (562,014,256)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBARE (124,360,461) 414,368,016
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Pos

e AR R

At 31 December 2013

R=ZF—=F+=HA=+—H

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& T 51/{E)

2013 2012
—E-= —E——F
Notes HK$ HKS$
MisE BT BT
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Obligations under finance leases RhE THE A IE 25(a) 596,532 1,376,725
Convertible bonds AR E S 27 47,564,590 135,040,770
Unsecured loan from a third party REFZHEEFER 29 - 50,000,000
Deferred tax liabilities FEIERIEEE 30 32,061,574 72,619,757
80,222,696 259,037,252
Net (liabilities)/assets (BEFH) EERE (204,583,157) 155,330,764
Capital and reserves EXRFEE 31
Share capital A% A 160,818,427 125,317,014
Reserves ] (416,855,294)  (112,650,527)
Total equity attributable to owners AAREEABLERLRE
of the Company (256,036,867) 12,666,487
Non-controlling interests JEIERRRERS 51,453,710 142,664,277
Total (deficit)/equity (BiEAE)  RREs (204,583,157) 155,330,764

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on  EEEEHR T —F = A =+ )\ BH#fE RIE#EET -

28 March 2014.

=

Lim Ooi Hong

The notes on pages 76 to 188 form part of the consolidated

financial statements.

MEH
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Statement of Financial Position

BAFSIR T 2R

At 31 December 2013 W-ZE—=%+_-HA=+—H

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& T 51/{&)

2013 2012
—_E2—= —ET—_F
Notes HK$ HK$
M BT BT
Non-current assets kREBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENMEE 13(b) 1,217,927 855,209
Investments in subsidiaries R B A RIRIRE 17 71,673,419 209,333,213
72,891,346 210,188,422
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and FENRIE - Ze &k
other receivables H b fE UG B 20 2,406,803 1,791,523
Cash and cash equivalents He MRS EEYD 154,477 378,355
2,561,280 2,169,878
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accrued expenses Hih e 208 K BT R 24 45,386,654 15,592,202
Obligations under finance leases BhE TH S ARIE 25(b) 175,236 169,157
Amount due to a director B —REEHIB 26 628,790 -
Convertible bonds IR E S 27 36,080,198 -
Unsecured loans from third parties REFZHEEFER 29 150,000,000 100,000,000
232,270,878 115,761,359
Net current liabilities REBEETFHE (229,709,598)  (113,591,481)
Total assets less current liabilities WEERABER (156,818,252) 96,596,941
MREEERA T F#H2013 71



Statement of Financial Position

BAH5IR R AR

At 31 December 2013 W-ZE—=#+_-A=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& T 51/{E)

2013 2012
—E-= —E——fF
Notes HK$ HK$
hp=2 BT ABIT
Non-current liabilities FRBAE
Obligations under finance leases RhE THE A IE 25(b) 258,655 433,891
Convertible bonds AR E S 27 47,564,590 135,040,770
Unsecured loan from a third party REFZHEEFER 29 - 50,000,000
47,823,245 185,474,661
Net liabilities BEFHE (204,641,497) (88,877,720)
Capital and reserves EXRFEE 31
Share capital A% A 160,818,427 125,317,014
Reserves & (365,459,924)  (214,194,734)
Total deficit EiE4E (204,641,497) (88,877,720)

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on @& EeNR—E—maE= 8 —+ )\ B#LE R IZHET)EE o
28 March 2014.

Lim Ooi Hong Leung Wai Kwan
MR REE
Director Director

EFE BFE

The notes on pages 76 to 188 form part of the consolidated % 76 %= 188 B FR &[T A4 A& B &M%k — 25 -
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Chang

mEEm#ER

For the financial year ended 31 December 2013 #HZE —E—=F+—-A=+—HIIBHFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& T 51/{&)

Attributable to owners of the Company

AORERARE
Non-
Share Exchange Capital Accumulated controlling Total
capital reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
e ERfE B B4 BF FoREE  ERER
Notes HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
(i B BT BT B B B B
(Note (Note
S1(di) 31(di)
(st (Wit (5
At1 January 2012 R5-—5-f-B 87,942,014 18,119,606 1,338,136 (283280047)  442,963449 153,911,969 596,875,408
Changes in equity for 2012: TE-CERR%E:
Loss for the year EhEE - - - (BI85 BBIBNY [T MTHY (664581070
Other comprehensive income: LheEhE - 12,190,341 - - 12190341 25,189 12475530
Total comprehensive loss 2EERES - 12,190,341 - (693,133228) (680,942,887 (71,162,653  (652,105,540)
Acquisttion of subsiciaries hEHBAR 3 16,500,000 - - - 50400000 59914971 119314971
Shares issued pursuant RERAEERSTORG
toa share placing 3 20,875,000 - - - 40,706,250 - 40,706,250
Equity component of TEREFERDH
convertible bonds 2 - - - - 50,639,675 - 50530675
At 31 December 2012 RZ5-Z5+-A=1-H 125,317,014 30309947 1,338,136 (876,423175) 12,606,487 142,664,277 155,330,764
At1 January 2013 RZ5-=%-5-8 125,317,014 30,300,947 1,338,136 (876,423175) 12,666,487 142,664,277 155,330,764
Changes in equity for 2013: TE-CERERSE.
Loss for the year EPER - - - (320,357,788) (322,357,788 (90,625,261) (412,983,049
Qther comprehensive loss Lh2EER - (56,226) - - (66,226) 585,306 (641,532)
Total comprehensive loss 2EFBLES - 66,226) - (322,357,788)  (322,414014)  (91210,567)  (413,624,581)
Shares ssued pursuant to RERAEERS TR
ashare placing 3y 26,803,000 - - - 43903314 - 43903314
Conversion of convertble bonds RATaRES ) 8698413 - - - 29004400 - 29024400
Repayment of convertibe bonds [ERTARES 21) - - - - (19217054 - (19217064
At 31 December 2013 RZE-=5+-fA=1-H 160,818,427 30263721 1,338,136 1,198,780963) (206,036867) 51,453,710  (204,583,157)
The notes on pages 76 to 188 form part of the consolidated % 76 = 188 B FR &[T B4R A& B 5%k — 3B H -
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2013 #ZE_—E— =%+ _-HA=+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& T 51/{E)

74

Net cash used in operating activities

REXEBHRR S TR

CVM MINERALS LIMITED Annual Report 2013

2013 2012
—Eg—= —_EF——
Notes HK$ HKS$
B 5T BT BT
Operating activities REER
Loss before taxation B 75 B 5 18 (453,153,873)  (695,145,091)
Adjustments for: FHEIER
— Amortisation of exploration and — WIE R E Y
evaluation assets 7(d) - 206,419
— Amortisation of interests in leasehold — RELCEHEEREER
land held for own use FITE & Tt R A 5
under operating leases 7(d) 142,916 147,259
— Depreciation — e 7(d) 25,538,212 26,147,058
— Fair value change in contingent — WA RER
consideration receivable NEEEH) 6 (44,879,766) -
— Finance costs — BMEKAR 7(a) 84,144,735 82,414,094
— Foreign exchange losses — EREE 825,724 2,813,448
— Impairment on exploration and — WREEEERE
evaluation assets 7(c) 207,562,580 166,086,731
— Impairment on goodwill — HERE 7(0) 111,180,501 141,622,589
— Impairment on interest in leasehold land  — T8 & + iR E 7(0) 571,665 3,807,309
— Impairment on other receivable and — Hih I &
prepayments B FIRRE 7(c) 25,899 24,041,442
— Impairment on property, plant and — W% - WENEERE
equipment 7(c) 26,195,379 184,375,293
— Interest income — FRWA 5 (10,164) (81,490)
— Net loss on disposal of property, — NEYE  BEK
plant and equipment HfEE B TR 7(d) 786,486 151,844
— Write down of inventories — FEHUR 18(b) 952,452 645,177
— Write offs: — HEs
Exploration and evaluation assets RN EEE 7(c) - 242,849
Property, plant and equipment M - WEKEE 7(c) 15,525 45,063
Inventories FE 7(c) 135,510 18,112,419
Operating loss before changes in EEECRHBAIKEER
working capital (39,966,219) (44,367,587)
Decrease in inventories FEREAD 3,981,466 10,739,102
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables e BR TR A (38 0) 1,453,615 (1,975,723)
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and BEFIA ek
other receivables HAth pE UM IR 1,532,654 2,260,464
Increase/(decrease) in trade and JE AT BR SR T2 ELAth FE <P SR IE
other payables #an Osid) 9,078,956 (1,869,608)
Increase/(decrease) in amounts with FESTRAE 7 R
related parties B,/ O ) 1,097,316 (61,510)
Increase in amount due to a director JEN —ZEZRIEEN 628,790 -

(22,193,422)

(35,274,862)




Consolidated Statement of Cash FIq
n _\éIﬁﬁﬁE% ‘~

For the year ended 31 December 2013 HZE -—E—=#+_-A=+—HIFFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& T 31/1E)

-

2013 2012
—Eg-= —E——F
Notes HK$ HK$
M5 BT BT
Investing activities REE
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of U BE B B A A
cash acquired (FOBREE AR ©) 33 - (9,973,980)
Decrease in pledged deposit B IRFE RO 10,885 35,139
Deposit received from disposal of assets HERIEFEEED KiZS
held for sale 762,521 -
Increase in advance payment to a contractor [A]— 42 6 i 244~ ZR T 12 AN - (7,422,009)
Increase in deposits for purchase of BAYE  HWEME
property, plant and equipment bl (1,411,226) (3,720,176)
Payment for purchase of property, BAYE BB FERERR
plant and equipment (666,207) (6,876,161)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWME - BE K&
plant and equipment FriS k18 1,172,536 635,462
Interest received 2 HFILE 10,164 81,490
Net cash used in investing activities RE£EHAESFHE (121,327) (27,240,235)
Financing activities e
Capital element of finance lease rentals paid 2 JF &R ER S
BEARE D (1,383,906) (1,703,279)
Proceeds from the issue of shares, BT P18 5K IR
net of expenses incurred (HMBELERS) 31(b) 43,903,314 40,706,250
Proceeds from the issue of convertible BT RS A TS BB
bonds, net of expenses incurred (HBRELRS) - 36,075,000
Increase in amounts due with related parties J&{< 2818 J5 FXIEIE AN 3,699,116 1,022,092
Interest on finance lease rentals paid BENRmEHERSHNF B (111,053) (190,337)
Interest paid B FLE (24,404,764) (40,769,756)
Net cash generated from financing RS XERTEIRS EE
activities 21,702,707 35,139,970
Net decrease in cash and ReRBESEEYRDFHE
cash equivalents (612,042) (27,375,127)
Cash and cash equivalents at FURERESEEY
beginning of the year 1,081,207 28,194,751
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [E R #& &) > 24 (39,035) 261,583
Cash and cash equivalents at FRBERESEEY
end of the year 430,130 1,081,207
Represented by: Bp
Cash and cash equivalents Be MRS EEY 423,524 1,081,207
Assets classified as held for sale (Note 23) S8 AF{EFEEE
(3£ 23) 6,606 -
430,130 1,081,207

The notes on pages 76 to 188 form part of the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial State

e P R M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& T 3I1E)

76

Company Information

CVM Minerals Limited (the “Company”) is a company
incorporated and domiciled in Hong Kong. The address of
its registered office is Flat B, 21/F., Neich Tower, 128
Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The address of
its principal place of business is 3/F., Wisma Ho Wah
Genting, No. 35, Jalan Maharajalela, 50150 Kuala Lumpuir,
Malaysia. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the
“Group”). The principal activity of the Company is
investment holding. The principal activities of its
subsidiaries are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”),
which collective term includes all applicable individual
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”).

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group and the Company. Note 3 provides
information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to
the Group and the Company for the current and
prior accounting periods reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.

A summary of the significant accounting policies

adopted by the Group and the Company is set out
below.

CVM MINERALS LIMITED Annual Report 2013

AEREHR

ERBREERAFA(ARA D ZE—HEREBTE
A RERH AR - AFEMREEmIt AE S
BT ETITE128RFERNE21EBE - Hx
ZEE MBI A 3/F., Wisma Ho Wah Genting,
No. 35, Jalan Maharajalela, 50150 Kuala Lumpur,
Malaysia ° NA RO EBBHEXDHMERA
A ([EE32PT)) MR 7 o

RAEPBRERBREARRREWME QR (G A
KE]) - ARF T BN EREEIER > MEMW
BRIz EERXBHNGE M BHRRMET -

BEREFBER

(a) EHIEEA
REVBBRERIBRERSGHMAE (&
BERAE ) TEANFEERE SN
HHREER ([ BBV BREEN] e
EMEERNERNTEH RS EL &
BT ERRRE BEAREFRA K
BERTHEPIRENRRE) FRE - &6 0
BHRERIDTEEZMES EMARN (T EH
MADMBERAEERTE

BAE G EAGEBEME THR] REER]
BEMBHREER  ZFEANAEER
ARB ARG IR B R ERE A HIE R &
e IR B M SRR MWK P
PR BRER & SRR B E) - TS THE
BRERERRAEERARARAE
HIfE RIAE &t IR % S RIFTE R -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financi

e B R A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA L 3I/1E)

BERSBER (@)
(b) HFENBEBRRNFEREE

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 2
(b) Basis of preparation of the

consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the
Company’s functional currency.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements is the historical
cost basis except for non-current assets classified
as assets/liabilities held for sale is stated at the lower
of their carrying amounts and fair values less costs
to sell (see note 2(v)).

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of
making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant effect on
the consolidated financial statements and major
sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in
Note 39.

BAPBRRALRRNINEEEET
(MBI 25 °

FAMBRRTMERELRANEERE
WD EAFIEREEE ABENIRBE
EREREEREDFEREEKRAMEDN
BIREFIRR (RHTE2() °

ERETEBBV B RS LR OERS T
HRE BEEEFELHE A ER
ROHEBTZEBRRNER URBEE -
BE  MARXHOREBEBRKTE
ZEMEFT MAAERR D RBEAEERNE
EERERBEARSAENSRAMBEER
B RERBRTEREEEEXKRE
H At s 18 e By 15 A0 8 B B B (B A AR T (B B
YR HI BT Y B - BIRAERATBEA BN
fHET 8RR

BEEEY THRMES ARG EBERR
e sHA BT RFERX 1R - &%E
AR EZIENER  HETHERR
ARBREAHATE - BEFERETHHRE
R AR RER

EEEERABBVBREERNFGMIEDL
A MBERRAEATENHE ARG
SHNHERE 1Y = R AR K FE 39 ft
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial State

e P R M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& T511E)

2
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(b) Basis of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements

(continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity and performance
of the Group and the Company in light of the fact
that:

(i) The Group incurred a loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$322,357,788 (2012: HK$593,133,228) for
the year ended 31 December 2013 and, as of
that date, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by
HK$695,957,811 (2012: HK$562,014,256)
and the Company’s current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by HK$229,709,598 (2012:
HK$113,591,481);

(i) At 31 December 2013, the Group has cash
and cash equivalents of HK$423,524 which is
insufficient to settle accrued salaries of
HK$2,190,413 payables due in the immediate
month and certain committed repayment
instalments and interests payable of
HK$86,574,486 in the Group’s borrowings;

(i) Included in current liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements are unsecured loans from
third parties of HK$150,000,000 (2012:
HK$100,000,000) which are scheduled for
repayment in the first half of 2014;

(iv)  As detailed in Note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements, secured bank loans of
HK$406,331,729 (2012: HK$434,661,748) will
be due immediately if the Group is unable to
fulfill the covenants set out in the facilities
agreement;

(v} As detailed in Note 27(a) to the consolidated
financial statement, the principal amount of
convertible bonds of approximately
HK$43,000,000 will be matured in December
2014;

(v)  As explained in Note 13(d) to the consolidated
financial statements, the production plant in
Malaysia was suspended since the year ended
31 December 2012;

CVM MINERALS LIMITED Annual Report 2013
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Notes to the Consolidated Financi

e B R A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA L 3I/1E)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(b) Basis of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements
(continued)

(vii)

(viil)

()

As detailed in Notes 15(b) and 15(c) to the
consolidated financial statements, there were
no exploration activities conducted in the year
ended 31 December 2013 for coal and
manganese. This was because the Group is
trying to reallocate its limited cash resources to
other profitable business segments;

As explained in Note 15(b) to the consolidated
financial statements, exploration mining permit
for coal in Aceh, the Republic of Indonesia
(“Indonesia”) has expired in the year. The
operations and future profitability of the Group
might be affected by expiration of the
remaining permits;

As explained in Note 15(b) to the consolidated
financial statements, exploration mining permit
for iron ore in Aceh of Indonesia was rejected
to be extended or renewed. The operations
and future profitability of the Group might be
affected by an non-renewal of the permit; and

As explained in Note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group lost contact
with the legal representative of PT. Laksbang
Mediatama (“PTLM”") in prior year and the re-
nomination of the legal representative has not
yet been completed. PTLM holds a production
operating mining permit for manganese in
Indonesia. This brought to a halt to the daily
operations and mining activities of PTLM. The
operations and future profitability of the Group
might be affected by the loss of contact with
the PTLM’s legal representative.

2

BERSBER (@)
(b) HEUBRRNEREE &)

(vii)

(vii

()

NG A B R R T 5 15(0) K 15(c)
et » &2 —=F+_A
=+ — B IEFE IR R R
TENREE) - WY AE@IETE
ERENMAREEERNBSERE
Hh B F AT B H) 2B 5 &6

B A AR A B 7 3R 3% BT 5E15(0) BT 7
B REOERAREMBE(EHRE]D
o8 75 B KR B R SRR AT P B R
WEm o NEBEBZEE RARKREF
N EREKRTIERERMIE

X
FE

A0 AR A B 75 R 2% I 5 15(0) AT R
B ROEGREANEERMFER
BHAUETEENNEE - NEH
B TS KRR BT 68 s B AT
ABETESEEMTITE &

AR A IS MR MR 17 PR RE
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2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(b) Basis of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements

(continued)

The directors of the Company have taken the
following actions to mitigate the liquidity issues faced
by the Group and the Company:

80

M

(i)

As explained in Note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements, the unsecured loan
lenders have agreed to extend the repayment
of HK$150,000,000 by one year to the first half
of 2015;

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period,
on 21 March 2014, the Company and each of
the unsecured loan lenders (“Lenders”) entered
into conditional Capitalisation Agreements
respectively in relation to, among others, the
set-off of each of the Lenders’ outstanding
sum by way of (i) the issue and allotment of
Capitalisation Shares; and (ii) the issue of
Convertible Preference Shares (“CPS”).

The outstanding sum to the Lenders which
comprises the outstanding principal sum and
unpaid interest amounts to HK$181,037,242
at the end of the reporting period.

The Capitalisation Agreements and the
transactions contemplated thereunder,
including but not limited to the issue and
allotment of the Capitalisation Shares and the
issue of the CPS shall be subject to, among
others, the approval of the shareholders of the
Company at an Extraordinary General Meeting
to be called at a later date.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period,
on 24 February 2014, the Group’s principal
banker, Bank Kerjasama Rakyat Malaysia
Berhad (“Bank Rakyat”) agreed to extend a
one year grace period without executing legal
proceeding against the Company and its
wholly-owned subsidiary, CVM Magnesium
Sdn. Bhd. (“CVMSB”) until 31 December 2014.
CVMSB is required to repay monthly
instalment of RM670,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,586,032) for the year ending 31
December 2014. The directors of the
Company will monitor the operations of the
Group closely in order to fulfill the covenants
for these loans;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financi

e B R A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA L 3I/1E)

BERSBER (@)
(b) HEUBRRNEREE &)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 2
(b) Basis of preparation of the

consolidated financial statements

(continued)

(i)  Subsequent to the end of the reporting period
and up to the approval date of the
consolidated financial statements, a member
of staff, Dato’ Lim Hui Boon, advanced cash of
HK$15,000,000 to the Group for daily
operation. The advance would be unsecured,
interest-free and has no fixed terms of
repayment; and

(iv)  The Group is seeking investors or strategic
partners for the Group’s projects in Indonesia.

The directors of the Company consider that taking
into account the above, the cash requirements of the
Group for the next twelve months from the end of
the reporting period and the Group’s ability to attain
future profitable operations in CVMSB and its
indirectly owned subsidiary, 82J11 7 5E&E R GFR A &
(Long Chuan Sing Lung Mineral Water Co., Limited)
(“Long Chuan”) and all existing banking facilities will
be continuously available for the Group’s use, the
Group and the Company will have sufficient working
capital to meet in full their financial obligations as
they fall due for the foreseeable future. Accordingly,
the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to
write down the value of all assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which
might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and
liabilities as current assets and liabilities, respectively.
The effects of these potential adjustments have not
been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.
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2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

82

(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling

interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power, only substantive
rights (held by the Group and other parties) are
considered.

Investments in subsidiaries are consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions, cash
flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-
group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but
only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as a
whole having a contractual obligation in respect of
those interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability. For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling interests
either at fair value or at their proportionate share of
the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the
owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests in
the results of the Group are presented on the face of
the consolidated income statement and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as
an allocation of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the owners of the Company.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA L 3I/1E)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(c)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling

interests (continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 2(i)(iii)), unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (see Note
2(v)).

Business combination

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at
fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet
the conditions for recognition under HKFRS 3
(revised 2008), Business combinations, are
recognised at their fair values, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12, Income Taxes and
HKAS 19, Employee Benefits respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to the
replacement by the Group of an acquiree’s
share-based payment awards are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2, Shared-based
payment; and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified
as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5,
Non-current assets held for sale and
discontinued operations, are measured in
accordance with that standard.
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2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

84

(d) Business combination (continued)

Where the consideration the Group transfers in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities
resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is
measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
considered as part of the consideration transferred
in a business combination. Changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
being made against goodwill or gain on bargain
purchase. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the measurement period about facts
and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition
date. Measurement period does not exceed one
year from the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration that do not
qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity
is not re-measured at subsequent reporting dates
and its subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is re-measured at
subsequent reporting dates in accordance with
HKAS 39, Financial instruments: Recognition and
measurement, or HKAS 37, Provisions, contingent
liabilities and contingent assets, as appropriate, with
the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-controlling interests may be initially measured
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement
basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.
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2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(e) Goodwill

(f)

Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree; over

(i) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets and liabilities measured as at the
acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on
a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill arising on a business
combination is allocated to each cash-generating
unit, or groups of cash-generating units, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination and is tested annually for impairment
(see Note 2(i)iii)).

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see Note 2(i)(iii).

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight line method
over their estimated useful lives as follows:

—  Buildings 10-40 years
—  Plant and machinery 4-10 years
—  Motor vehicles 4-10 years
—  Furniture and fittings 10 years
—  Office equipment 4-10 years
—  Computer equipment 3-5 years
—  Retorts 25 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the
item is allocated on a reasonable basis between the
parts and each part is depreciated separately.
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2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

86

(f)

(9)

Property, plant and equipment

(continued)

Depreciation method, useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually and
adjusted if appropriate.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment
are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date
of retirement or disposal.

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series
of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group
determines that the arrangement conveys a right to
use a specific asset or assets for an agreed period
of time in return for a payment or a series of
payments. Such a determination is made based on
an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement
and is regardless of whether the arrangement takes
the legal form of a lease.

(i) Classification of assets leased to

the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases
which transfer to the Group substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership are classified
as being held under finance leases. Leases
which do not transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the Group are
classified as operating leases.
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2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(g) Leased assets (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Assets acquired under finance
leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets
under finance leases, the amounts
representing the fair value of the leased asset,
or, if lower, the present value of the minimum
lease payments, of such assets are included in
property, plant and equipment and the
corresponding liabilities, net of finance
charges, are recorded as obligations under
finance leases. Depreciation is provided at
rates which write off the cost of the assets
over the term of the relevant lease or, where it
is likely the Group will obtain ownership of the
asset, the life of the asset, as set out in Note
2(f). Impairment losses are accounted for in
accordance with the accounting policy as set
out in Note 2(j)(iii). Finance charges implicit in
the lease payments are charged to profit or
loss over the period of the leases so as to
produce an approximately constant periodic
rate of charge on the remaining balance of the
obligations for each accounting period.

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held
under operating leases, payments made under
the leases are charged to profit or loss in equal
instalments over the accounting periods
covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the
pattern of benefits to be derived from the
leased asset. Lease incentives received are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part
of the aggregate net lease payments made.

The cost of acquiring land held under an
operating lease is amortised on a straight line
basis over the period of the lease term.
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2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(h) Exploration and evaluation assets

(i

Exploration and evaluation assets
Exploration and evaluation assets comprises
costs which are directly attributable to:
researching and analysing existing exploration
data; conducting geological studies,
exploratory drilling and sampling; examining
and testing extraction and treatment methods;
and compiling prefeasibility and feasibility
studies. Exploration and evaluation assets also
includes the costs incurred in the entry
premiums paid to gain access to areas of
interest and amounts payable to third parties
to acquire interests in existing projects.

Exploration and evaluation expenditure is
capitalised if the project is technically and
commercially feasible and the Group has
sufficient resources and the intention to
complete the project. If a project does not
prove viable, all irrecoverable costs associated
with the project are expensed in profit or loss.
Capitalised exploration and evaluation
expenditures are stated in the statement of
financial position at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses (see Note

2(1)ii)-

Upon the commencement of quarrying
activities, the capitalised exploration and
evaluation expenditure is amortised using the
straight line method over its estimated useful
life of 20 years. Both the useful life of an asset
and amortisation method are reviewed
annually.
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2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(h) Exploration and evaluation assets
(continued)

(i)

(iii)

Exploration mining permits acquired
in business combinations

Exploitation mining permits acquired in a
business combination and recognised
separately from goodwill are initially recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, exploitation
mining permits are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses (see Note 2(i)(ii). Exploitation mining
permits are amortised on a unit-of-production
basis. The units of the exploitation mining
permits are reviewed annually in accordance
with the production plans of the Group and the
proved and probable reserves.

Water and mining permits acquired
in a business combination

Water and mining permits acquired in a
business combination and recognised
separately from goodwill are initially recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, water and
mining permits are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses (see Note 2(i)(ii)). Water and mining
permits are amortised on a unit-of-production
basis. The units of the water and mining permit
are reviewed annually in accordance with the
production plan of the Group.

2 EXEHBE#E)
(h) BERFEEE @)

(ii)

(iii)

EBE OB R B RBIERET R
fc

FEEB A GBI E 2D F g
REOERFARFAE - VT HER
Y iE B B R & E (R A EBA) #E

=7
o °©

RIEHER% - BIRFIRAT Al B 3%
FRANR R T 8 ROR BB B YR -
B BR B ER A A 9B b BE L 7 2R 4
(RWEE20)) - REBEFFRIEE
ErtdREPREERTEEERS
B RBAEREF A BV B AL o

FEIEE O W Y R oK R BAERRT
Gk

EEB A GBI E B D F i
ROFKEFRRFAIRE - fIFRE
RUHE B e~ FE (R A ERA)

R HERE - FK R FIRT Al &
LA R a8 ROR B R 1R BR
(BB EE20)() © 7K M BB Al 75
REMESFHEE AEESFR
A E AT B T RK R B ER 7T Al 75
HYBEfT o

HREXERAT FHR2013 89



Notes to the Consolidated Financial State

e P R M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& T511E)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(i) Impairment of assets

90

(i

Impairment of receivables

Receivables that are stated at cost or
amortised cost are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period to determine whether there is
objective evidence of impairment. Objective
evidence of impairment includes observable
data that comes to the attention of the Group
about one or more of the following loss events:

— significant financial difficulty of the
debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default
or delinquency in interest or principal
payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; and

—  significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the
debtor.

If any such evidence exists, any impairment
loss is determined, recognised and measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the
effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition of these assets), where the effect
of discounting is material. This assessment is
made collectively where these financial assets
carried at amortised cost share similar risk
characteristics, such as similar past due
status, and have not been individually
assessed as impaired. Future cash flows for
financial assets which are assessed for
impairment collectively are based on historical
loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics similar to the collective group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financi

e B R A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA L 3I/1E)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(i) Impairment of assets (continued)

@i

Impairment of receivables (continued)
If in a subsequent period the amount of an
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be linked objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised, the
impairment loss is reversed through profit or
loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not
result in the asset’s carrying amount exceeding
that which would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised in prior
years.

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for
impairment losses recognised in respect of
receivables whose recovery is considered
doubtful but not remote. In this case, the
impairment losses for doubtful debts are
recorded using an allowance account. When
the Group is satisfied that recovery is remote,
the amount considered irrecoverable is written
off against receivables directly and any
amounts held in the allowance account relating
to that debt are reversed. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously charged to
the allowance account are reversed against
the allowance account. Other changes in the
allowance account and subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off directly are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial State

e P R M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& T511E)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(i) Impairment of assets (continued)

92

(ii)

Impairment of exploration and
evaluation assets

The carrying amount of the exploration and
evaluation assets is reviewed annually and
adjusted for impairment whenever one of the
following events or changes in circumstances
indicates that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable:

the period for which the Group has the
right to explore in the specific area has
expired during the period or will expire in
the near future, and is not expected to
be renewed;

substantive expenditure on further
exploration for and evaluation of mineral
resources in the specific area is neither
budgeted nor planned;

exploration for and evaluation of mineral
resources in the specific area have not
led to the discovery of commercially
viable quantities of mineral resources
and the Group has decided to
discontinue such activities in the specific
area; or

sufficient data exist to indicate that,
although a development in the specific
area is likely to proceed, the carrying
amount of the exploration and evaluation
asset is unlikely to be recovered in full
from successful development of by sale.

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financi

e B R A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA L 3I/1E)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(i)

Impairment of assets (continued)
(iii) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets
may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment;

—  pre-paid interest in leasehold land
classified as being held under an
operating lease;

— investments in subsidiaries, except for
those classified as held for sale; and

—  goodwill.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill,
the recoverable amount is estimated annually
whether or not there is any indication of
impairment.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is
the greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined for
the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently
(i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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e P R M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& T511E)

2 Significant Accounting Policies continues) 2 EBEXRXEFBX#)
(i) Impairment of assets (continued) (i) EERE®
(iii) Impairment of other assets (continued) (i) HEEREE)

94

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units are
allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the
cash-generating unit (or group of units)
and then, to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit (or group
of units) on a pro rata basis, except that
the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable), or
value in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill,
an impairment loss is reversed if there
has been a favourable change in the
estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount. An impairment loss
in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that
would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversals of impairment losses
are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financi

e B R A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA L 3I/1E)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

)

(k)

Inventories
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs
of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and
condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of
any write down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as
an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised
at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less allowance
for impairment of doubtful debts (see Note 2(i)(i)),
except where the receivables are interest-free loans
made to related parties without any fixed repayment
terms or the effect of discounting would be
immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated
at cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful
debts, if any.
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e P R M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& T 3I1E)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

96

()

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds that can be converted to equity
share capital at the option of the holder, where the
number of shares that would be issued on
conversion and the value of the consideration that
would be received at that time do not vary, are
accounted for as compound financial instruments
which contain both a liability component and an
equity component.

At initial recognition the liability component of the
convertible bonds is measured as the present value
of the future interest and principal payments,
discounted at the market rate of interest applicable
at the time of initial recognition to similar liabilities
that do not have a conversion option. Any excess of
proceeds over the amount initially recognised as the
liability component is recognised as the equity
component. Transaction costs that relate to the
issue of a compound financial instrument are
allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost. The interest expense recognised in
profit or loss on the liability component is calculated
using the effective interest method. The equity
component is recognised in the convertible bond
equity reserve until either the bond is converted or
redeemed, and net of any tax effects.

If the bond is converted, the convertible bond equity
reserve, together with the carrying amount of the
liability component at the time of conversion, is
transferred to share capital and share premium as
consideration for the shares issued. If the bond is
redeemed, the convertible bond equity reserve is
released directly to accumulated losses.

(m) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at
fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between the amount initially recognised
and redemption value being recognised in profit or
loss over the period of the borrowings, together with
any interest and fees payable, using the effective
interest method.

CVM MINERALS LIMITED Annual Report 2013

2

EXRSEE®)

0

(m)

AR ES

fis #5578 A T2 B4R /0 M 2 AR R O R R R
AN E R TR IO BB BN 2R
WEEHRETESE  AIARIIEESA
BED B ASDOEAERTA -

BRER A RRES RGN RIAKG KT
NHERAS  RERERREARAE
WER (TS Ei0E) M SN ERTEM
SHHNREFE - HAERERERAE
BOOMAERAKSERB/RAIRND - B
MABITEASR T AN ZRABIZFAE
RIER DR O BRI B B R AARE R o

BERR D ERIABHKATIR - BED
KB N ATRER 8 B F ST A BB R 0%
FHE - B BORNMREAHBEZERR
BB ESERERETER  EERSK
HIMBERIAIE -

EESWERE  ATRRESEEREER
B AR DNREESELSEITRN
MREEARARBEDEES - EEFK
RO ATRRESESRHETEREA
REtEET -

FFEER
HEMERE R D FEREN R F KA
R MAURHERIL IR HK AR - M
MRERNCBEBOEE RN ZEE
REFMENMERER  RMERBREZ
BB SIERIERRER



Notes to the Consolidated Financi

e B R A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA L 3I/1E)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(n)

(o)

(p)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value and subsequently stated at amortised cost
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost using the
effective interest method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and cash
equivalents and deposits with banks that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition.

Employee benefits

()  Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits
are accrued in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employee. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the
effect would be material, these amounts are
stated at their present values.

Contributions to Mandatory Provident Funds
as required under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance and
contributions to the retirement schemes
operated by the relevant authorities for
employees of the subsidiaries in the Malaysia
and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
as incurred, except to the extent that they are
included in the cost of inventories not yet
recognised as an expense.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (L& T 3I1E)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

98

(p) Employee benefits (continued)

(ii) Termination benefits and share-

based payments

Termination benefits are recognised when, and
only when, the Group demonstrably commits
itself to terminate employment or to provide
benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by
having a detailed formal plan which is without
realistic possibility of withdrawal.

Share-based payments (the Group may issue
equity-settled and cash-settled share-based
payments to certain employees. Equity-settled
share-based payments are measured at fair
value (excluding the effect of non market-
based vesting conditions) of the equity
instruments at the date of grant. The fair value
determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments is expensed on
a straight line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of shares that
will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect
of non market-based vesting conditions).

() Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to business
combinations or items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from
deductible and taxable temporary differences,
respectively, being the differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax
assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused
tax credits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financi

e B R A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA L 3I/1E)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(q) Income tax (continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that
will arise from the reversal of existing taxable
temporary differences, provided those differences
relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary difference or in periods into
which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset
can be carried back or forward. The same criteria
are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to
the same taxation authority and the same taxable
entity, and are expected to reverse in a period, or
periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes,
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they
are not part of a business combination), and
temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable
differences, the Group controls the timing of the
reversal and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case
of deductible differences, unless it is probable that
they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& T511E)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

100

() Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company
or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and the following additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Group or the Company intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously; or

— inthe case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current
tax assets and settle the current tax
liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financi

e B R A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA L 3I/1E)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(r)

(s)

Provision and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company
has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions
are stated at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable. Provided it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can
be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit
or loss as follows:

(i) Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised when significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the goods are
transferred to the buyer. Revenue excludes
value added tax and is after deduction of any
trade discounts.

(ii) Interestincome
Interest income is recognised as it accrues
using the effective interest method.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& T511E)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

102

(s)

(t)

(u)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(iii) Rental income from operating
leases
Rental income receivable under operating
leases is recognised in profit or loss in equal
instalments over the periods covered by the
lease term, except where an alternative basis
is more representative of the pattern of benefits
to be derived from the use of the leased asset.

Translation of foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the relevant exchange rates ruling at
the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the relevant exchange rates ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in foreign
currencies are translated using the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the transaction dates.

The results of relevant operations in other
jurisdictions are translated into HK$ at the exchange
rates approximating the relevant exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of
financial position items, including goodwill arising on
consolidation of foreign operations acquired on or
after 1 January 2005, are translated into HK$ at the
closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the
exchange reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time
to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

CVM MINERALS LIMITED Annual Report 2013
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2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(v) Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified
as held for sale if it is highly probable that its carrying
amount will be recovered through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use and the asset (or
disposal group) is available for sale in its present
condition. A disposal group is a group of assets to
be disposed of together as a group in a single
transaction, and liabilities directly associated with
those assets that will be transferred in the
transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan
involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held
for sale when the above criteria for classification as
held for sale are met, regardless of whether the
Group will retain a non-controlling interest in the
subsidiary after the sale.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the
measurement of the non-current assets (and all
individual assets and liabilities in a disposal group) is
brought up-to-date in accordance with the
accounting policies before the classification. Then,
on initial classification as held for sale and until
disposal, the non-current assets (except for certain
assets as explained below), or disposal groups, are
recognised at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell. The principal exceptions
to this measurement policy so far as the financial
statements of the Group and the Company are
concerned are deferred tax assets, financial assets
(other than investments in subsidiaries) and
investment properties. These assets, even if held for
sale, would continue to be measured in accordance
with the policies set out elsewhere in Note 2.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for
sale, and on subsequent remeasurement while held
for sale, are recognised in profit or loss. As long as a
non-current asset is classified as held for sale, or is
included in a disposal group that is classified as held
for sale, the non-current asset is not depreciated or
amortised.

2

EXRSEE®)

(v)

HREXERAT FHR2013

HELENFRBEE

i —FE R B A E (R BRI HARE(E
5 7] 435 3B 1 45 52 5 (T SE I B (2 ) IR
B - A RKAE (KB EAR) AERRT
HE - AIDERRELE - HEERA—
ERE—Z BB THENEEMAR - AR
BN SERNANEEERARNE

& o

2SR BT R R A A BT B8 2 ] A 42 il
RERIHEE  ZBRARNEEER
BfE HEHEARERENDBIRER
WOBRFBIELE  ATHAEEEER
HERRBNZMB AR IHER R -

ERIBABELERN  FRBEE(R
HEARNMEBLEERAB)RDE
AIRIBE ST RRENE - 1R - ROF
DEAFEHENEZLERN  ERDE
ZE (TR E TEERIN b &4 5]
REREEN A FEREERANRES
R RAEERARBNPTBRRME
BARAUTERRNERPIINAE BIE
RHIBEE  SREE(RWE QR L
LERANKRERIN RIREYE - LEFEE
ENEARELE  DEBEERNEHE
) ERFT BN R T & -

RE D BARHELE RS FHEMER
BREFAENREBENERER A2
FRBEEDEDERFHELERINAD
BAFFLENHEMR  JERBEEN
NFIrEL S -

103



Notes to the Consolidated Financial State

e P R M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& T511E)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
(w) Related parties

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

104

M

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the Group;
or

is @ member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

0

)

(Il

%)

(Vi

The entity and the Group are members
of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or
joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in ().

A person identified in ()(I) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with

the entity.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA L 3I/1E)

EXRSEE®)

2 Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 2

(x) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management (being the chief
operating decision maker) (“CODM?”) for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing
the performance of, the Group’s various lines of
business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to

x) ZEBHE
REDBREEMHREABENZ DB
HENEHE  DREAEESETHRERE
BAZTZLLERRE(ETERERK
) EHERMBERASESERS
KD BRI FHAE R RB M ER o

EREANEEN BT ERMBHRERN

BT RIFERO AR B ERIE
YHAERBUMERRRFEE - £ET
FFIEE - FPRESMER - D HEMmSIR
HREEITE  AREERRFIEE - @5
FERWEZ D BHT A LA EER

distribute the products or provide the services, and AR T&5t -
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segment which are not individually materials may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
Changes in Accounting Policies 3 EBEX2H

The HKICPA has issued several amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective for the current accounting period of
the Group. Of these, the following development is relevant
to the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation
of financial statements — Presentation
of items of other comprehensive

income

The amendments require entities to present separately the
items of other comprehensive income that would be
reclassified to profit or loss in the future if certain
conditions are met from those that would never be
reclassified to profit or loss. The presentation of other
comprehensive income in the consolidated income
statement and consolidated statement of comprehensive
income in these financial statements has been modified
accordingly.

BEGHMASCEMZ AT BV BREER
ZERT » ANAEBENA ST BRI ERER - H
o TS EAREGAMEHRRA WE -

BRETHERE 1R BT UBHERN
2% — Etb2HERENE5]

ZEEIATERB 2N EMEEKEMNIEA
BORENARETHRETRRAENDEER
HIER - WK TEMDBEEANIER - H
HAPEREROESWARMES 2B ER
RESEMEERENZ25IEHBEERT -
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Changes in Accounting Policies (continued)
HKFRS 10, Consolidated financial

statements

HKFRS 10 replaces the requirements in HKAS 27,
Consolidated and separate financial statements relating to
the preparation of consolidated financial statements and
HK-SIC 12 Consolidation — Special purposes entities. It
introduces a single control model to determine whether an
investee should be consolidated, by focusing on whether
the entity has power over the investee, exposure or rights
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and the ability to use its power to affect the amount of
those returns.

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 10, the Group has
changed its accounting policy with respect to determining
whether it has control over an investee. The adoption does
not change any of the control conclusions reached by the
Group in respect of its involvement with other entities as at
1 January 2013.

HKFRS 12, Disclosure of interests in

other entities

HKFRS 12 brings together into a single standard all the
disclosure requirements relevant to an entity’s interests in
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and
unconsolidated structured entities. The disclosures
required by HKFRS 12 are generally more extensive than
those previously required by the respective standards. To
the extent that the requirements are applicable to the
Group, the Group has provided those disclosures in Note
17.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA L 3I/1E)

Changes in Accounting Policies (continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 7 —
Disclosures — Offsetting financial

assets and financial liabilities

The amendments introduce new disclosures in respect of
offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities. Those
new disclosures are required for all recognised financial
instruments that are set off in accordance with HKAS 32,
Financial instruments: Presentation and those that are
subject to an enforceable master netting arrangement or
similar agreement that covers similar financial instruments
and transactions, irrespective of whether the financial
instruments are set off in accordance with HKAS 32.

The adoption of the amendments does not have an impact
on these financial statements because the Group has not
offset financial instruments, nor has it entered into master
netting arrangement or similar agreement which is subject
to the disclosures of HKFRS 7 during the periods
presented.

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period (see Note 40).

Turnover

Turnover represents the sales value of magnesium ingots
and related materials, and bottled mineral water supplied
to customers. The amount of each significant category of
revenue recognised in turnover during the year is as
follows:

B REEE @)
BBV BRELERE TR BT — &K
E-H¥ETREERSRAE

ZEFERSIAFRAHEHEERSRAEN
MRBRTE  ZSHEBRERMEERASRT
AERBEAESHENERRFEN TR 27K
EENRNNBEFREE LB EUSR
TARRZOBUREFERE  BRxSERT
ARDIREBERRB T EREI2MRIFLRN -

HRAREERT2HRA[L ERH S T AN
RIMBFREEE TN BUGEMBEETEL
MHHELENE7RORERTE - SRAZFE
I EE I EM B REBREE -

AEEWERANER S HE R ARERNE
TR et (R MR 40) -

EXH
BEBEFAOE P HEESERABIEIAR
RSO Y EEE - NFENERAEEEZ
EERRABERISEMT :

2013 2012

—E—= —E——F

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Sales of bottled mineral water PHEMERERK 4,802,700 2,148,220
Sales of magnesium ingots and HEEE RAEE YR

related materials 16,098,739 12,383,082

20,901,439 14,531,302
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5 Other Revenue 5 HMKA
2013 2012
—E—= —T——4F
HK$ HK$
BT ABIT
Interest income B A 10,164 81,490
Rental income from drilling machines REEBFEEAOESKA 27,273 116,637
Sundry income FIFULA 394,907 647,622
432,344 845,749
6 Other Net Gains 6 HftlhzmFE

2013 2012
—E-=F —E——4F
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Compensation received from a contractor 2R B — & & B A BB (B 5F)
(Note) - 5,950,711

Fair value change in contingent U S AR B R A FEE S

consideration receivable 44,879,766 -
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) &5 Uk zs(E1E) F758 111,047 (217,981)
44,990,813 5,732,730

Note:

It represented a one-off compensation received from a contractor for its
failure to complete agreed maintenance work for the production plant in

Malaysia.

Wi

ETI2P A —EIBEE -
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7 Loss before Taxation 7 BREAIEE
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging: MR ATEIEE IR
(a) Finance costs: (a) BAERIA :
2013 2012
—E-—= —E——F
HK$ HK$
BT BIT
Interest on bank loans *: HRT E TSR
— wholly repayable within 5 years BRRFRNEHEE 9,356,279 7,224,463
— wholly repayable after 5 years aAﬂié%%1E 30,868,810 32,140,471
40,225,089 39,364,934
Effective interest on convertible bonds BRI ESE R A 19,362,417 20,806,072
Interest on unsecured loans from third KB % = F BN AERNEH
parties wholly repayable within 5 years ~ EERHEEFETHT S 24,034,565 21,628,594
Amortisation of loan transaction costs B G ANE Y (M3E28)
(Note 28) 411,611 424,157
Finance charges on obligations B AT E AN TS E
under finance leases 111,053 190,337
43,919,646 43,049,160
84,144,735 82,414,094

The analysis shows the finance costs on bank loans,

including terms loans which contain a repayment on
demand clause, in accordance with the agreed scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements. For the
years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012, the interest on
bank loans which contain a repayment on demand clause
amounted to HK$40,225,089 and HK$39,364,934,

respectively.

DIFIRIRITER (RERE R B REE RN
BHER) WBREKAR TR R E K IBEAR T

EEEEAMET - BE

—E-=ZER-F

——FT A=+ HLEFE  SFRERE
BIGKHIRTTERF B9 5 540,225,089 7T

239,364,934 7T
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7 Loss before Taxation (continued)
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging:

(b) Staff costs (including directors’

remuneration) (Note 9):

7 BRBIAEE®)
BB ATEIEE N

(b) BEIRAN(BEESHH) (L) :

2013 2012
—E-= —E——F
HK$ HK$
BT ABIT
Salaries, wages, bonuses and e TE - TARHAMETR
other benefits 9,764,426 19,012,799
Contributions to defined contribution A5 TR IRET IR
retirement plan 503,081 979,485
10,267,507 19,992,284
(c) Other operating expenses (c) HE&EMxX
2013 2012
—E-= —E—_F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Impairment losses: RIEEE -
— exploration and evaluation assets — B NGHEEE
(Note 15) (MF5E15) 207,562,580 166,086,731
— goodwill (Note 14) — B (ftsE14) 111,180,501 141,622,589
— interest in leasehold land (Note 13(a)) — FAE tihfEz
(MEE13(0) 571,665 3,807,309
— other receivable and prepayments — Hih fEUERIE R FE T R IE 25,899 24,041,442
— property, plant and equipment — W WEREE
(Note 13(a)) (M5 13(a)) 26,195,379 184,375,293
345,536,024 519,933,364
Write offs: sy
— exploration and evaluation assets — RN FHEEE
(Note 15) (Fg5E15) - 242,849
— inventories (Note 18(b)) — F& (FtsE18(b) 135,510 18,112,419
— property, plant and equipment — ¥ WENERE 15,525 45,063
151,035 18,400,331
345,687,059 538,333,695

110
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7 Loss before Taxation (continued)

7 BRBIAIESIE ()

(d) Other items: (d) HfbEAR :
2013 2012
—E—= —_F—=
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Amortisation of exploration and DR N R A A A 8
evaluation assets - 206,419
Amortisation of interests in leasehold RIBEGEEHEREE RN
land held for own use under TE T R
operating leases (Note 13(a)) (F7E 13(a)) 142,916 147,259
Auditors’ remuneration Gl kA 1,243,855 1,501,735
Cost of inventories sold* (Note 18(b)) BEEFERA (FizE18(0)) 46,113,638 54,039,300
Depreciation (Note 13(a)) e (FisE13() 25,538,212 26,147,058
Operating lease charges in respect of: B NI & IBHYALE
MELZH -
— equipment and machinery — R 1,403 38,937
— office equipment — WAERME 197,796 -
— office premises —WMAEME 2,117,238 1,751,582
— staff housing —BIE= 10,831 23,642
Net loss on disposal of property, HEDE  BEREED
plant and equipment 18558 786,486 151,844

8

# The cost of inventories sold includes HK$27,742,894 (2012:
HK$34,053,840) relating to staff costs, depreciation and
amortisation expenses, which amount is also included in the

respective total amounts disclosed separately above or in

Note 7(b) for each of these types of expenses.

Income Tax
(@) Taxation in the consolidated

income statement represents:

# HETKRA MEREHEENEEFERAK
27,742,894 7% jt ( = Z — — 4 : 34,053,840 /%
TC) TRRB AR _E XM s 7(0) & BRI X 5

RRENERESED -

Fri8%t
(a)

mEWBERPZRIARR

2013 2012
—E-—= —ET—_F
HK$ HK$
BT BIT
Current tax — Malaysian Income Tax ZHiFi1E — ERAIDFAAEH
Provision for the year FEBE 387,359 -
Deferred tax ELEBE
Reversal of temporary differences B oy = 88 (M52 30)
(Note 30) (40,558,183)  (30,564,021)
Total income tax credit FriSHiit e 858 (40,170,824) (30,564,021)
FMEEEERAR F$H2013 111
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& T511E)

8

112

Income Tax (continued)
(@) Taxation in the consolidated

income statement represents:

(continued)

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity
basis on profits arising in or derived from the
jurisdictions in which members of the Group are
domiciled and operated. The directors of the
Company determine the effective tax rate of the
Group is 16.5% (2012: 16.5%).

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2012:
16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the
year ended 31 December 2013. No provision for
Hong Kong Profits Tax had been made as the Group
did not have assessable profit which is subject to
Hong Kong Profits Tax for the years ended 31
December 2013 and 2012.

Malaysian Income Tax is calculated at 25% (2012:
25%) of assessable profits for the year ended 31
December 2013. The provision of Malaysian Income
Tax is calculated at 25% of the estimated assessable
profits for the year ended 31 December 2013. No
provision of Malaysian Income Tax had been made
as the Group did not have assessable profit which is
subject to Malaysian Income Tax for the year ended
31 December 2012.

In accordance with the tax laws of Indonesia,
companies engaged in metal, mineral and coal
mining are governed by a particular contract of work
and this is used for computation of the domestic
income tax relating to that contract of work. Since
the natural resources located in Indonesia are still in
a preliminary exploration phase, the management of
the Company was unable to ascertain from the local
tax authorities the tax rate that should be applied to
its mining operations for the years ended 31
December 2013 and 2012. No provision for
Indonesian Income Tax has been made as the
Group did not have assessable profit which is
subject to Indonesian Income Tax for the years
ended 31 December 2013 and 2012.
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8 Income Tax (continued) 8 mMBH@E
(a) Taxation in the consolidated (a) #FmeEWERFP2ZBEREK @)
income statement represents:
(continued)
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax RIEFREPEMBEE([EMS %RREJ)
(the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the RZESTEABHEAR - RREMEA
EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiary is 25% HE-Z—=F+=-A=+— EiJJ:ETEZ
(2012: 25%) for the year ended 31 December 2013. MER/25% (ZT—ZF : 25%) - BRA
No provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax has EEHE-_T—=FK-_T——-F+=A
been made as the Group did not have assessable _+ BIEFETERIESMNPRHPZE
profit which is subject to the PRC Income Tax for the Bz ERB AN - B EF PR A
years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012. Fﬁ?%ﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁé‘fﬁ o
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British RERAEABEZHS ([RERALES A
Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), the Group is not subject to RARH - REEEBEZADEEREMNE
any income tax in this jurisdiction. AIFF1SHL ©
(b) The reconciliation between tax (b) REAREAEZ2HERZHES
credit and accounting loss at TSRS
applicable tax rates is as follows:
2013 2012
—E-—= —E——F
HK$ HK$
BT BIT
Loss before taxation BRBLATES IR (453,153,873)  (695,145,091)
Notional tax on loss before tax, HEBRE ) A ERBRAKRE
calculated at the rates applicable to STE BRI EERETIEA
profits in the tax jurisdictions concerned (100,379,217)  (141,205,489)
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERBMUA 2 R (15,809,450) (2,214,732)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A~ 1% B 2 2 i i o 25 86,164,678 114,588,380
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RERZ REAHIBEEEZ
recognised s 2 24,059,437 22,638,432
Tax effect of utilised tax losses not KERZEBAKEEEY
recognised Mg (2,489) -
Tax effect of reversal of temporary BREoBACERERNERE
differences previously recognised M E (40,558,183) (30,564,021)
Tax effect of temporary differences not  KIERE IS EZRE 2 i &
recognised 6,354,400 6,193,409
Actual income tax credit BTSSR X (40,170,824) (30,564,021)
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9 Directors’ Remuneration 9 EEME
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to section 161 RIBEBBREGHIE161IEHEENESHE W
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is as follows: I
2013
—E-=F
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and benefits Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
§o 2WR Bk
£ Xtk BENHE BB R st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT B BT
Executive directors: HWITESE
Ji Kuang HE - 804,000 - - 804,000
Li Zi Cong (resigned on FFR(R=T—=F
6 September 2013) NARNBEEET) - 260,000 - - 260,000
Liang Hai Yang (resigned on 2EENZZT—=F
30 September 2013) NA=Z+HEHE) - 270,000 - - 270,000
Dato’ Lim Ooi Hong SEMEE - 147,698 - 19,201 166,399
Leung Wai Kwan DUE - 480,000 40,000 15,000 535,000
Independent BUFHTES
non-executive directors:
Chong Lee Chang EE 125,520 - - - 125,520
Tony Tan L 120,840 - - - 120,840
Wong Choi Kay EEH 116,160 - - - 116,160
Total et 362,520 1,961,698 40,000 34,201 2,398,419
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9 Directors’ Remuneration (continued) 9 E=EME
2012
—E-—F
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and benefits  Discretionary scheme
fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
e 2HR RIRGTE
HEHE EMfla MEEA R Bt
HKS HKS HKS HKS HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
Executive directors: HIEE:
Goh Sin Huat (resigned on Goh Sin Huat (R=F—=F
7 August 2012) NAEBET) - 1,109,561 - 75276 1,184,837
Ji Kuang (appointed on RE(WN=ZT—=%F
7 August 2012) NATBEZT) - 390,452 - - 390,452
Li Zi Cong (appointed on ZIE(N_T—=F
11 September 2012) NA+—REZA) - 152,000 - - 152,000
Liang Hai Yang (appointed on ~ Z2/8¥ (RZT——&F
7 August 2012) NALBEZRT) - 192,258 - - 192,258
Dato’ Lim Ooi Hong SEWEE - 517,354 - 55,046 572,400
Leung Wai Kwan RUE - 480,000 40,000 13,750 533,750
Independent BUEHTES
non-executive directors:
Chong Lee Chang KRR 109,374 - - - 100,374
Tony Tan BRER 107,289 - - - 107,289
Wong Choi Kay EEH 102,568 - - - 102,568
Total st 319,231 2,841,625 40,000 144,072 3,344,928
10 Individuals with Highest Emoluments 10 BReFHFMAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, four hEERFMATEENZ(ZE——4 : WE)

(2012: two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed
in Note 9. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of
the other (2012: three) individual(s) is/are as follows:

BEF MENFHORMEITRE - BRI
—H(ZE—ZF =F) ATHNEFMERENT

2013 2012

—E—= —E——F

HK$ HKS$

BT BT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EBIREDRE 500,687 1,419,674
Retirement scheme contributions RIRETEIE R - 13,750
500,687 1,433,424
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10 Individuals with Highest Emoluments 10 ESFMAL @

(continued)

Their emoluments were all within HK$Nil to HK$1,000,000. B EM SR B ITE 1,000,000 B TLLARA o
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group FRN - ANEEWERANRD BMERE B x5
to any of the directors of the Company or the five highest B R B AT RS MERMASMARSE
paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining EEeNFRERERL BE BEZ—=F
the Group or as a compensation for loss of office. No EZZ2——F+-A=1+—BILFE #ELRQ
directors of the Company have waived or agreed to waive AIE B WE LR B RERERTEIE B -

any emoluments during the years ended 31 December
2018 and 2012.

11 Loss per Share 11 BREE
(a) Basic loss per share (a) BREAXREIE
The calculation of basic loss per share is based on EREABEDNERFRARRGIEE AR
the loss attributable to owners of the Company of 15 B 18322,357,788 B T (—Z & — — & :
HK$322,357,788 (2012: HK$593,133,228) and the 593,133,228 8 7T ) Ik B 1T & AR ANAE T
weighted average number of 1,413,974,956 (2012 ) 81,413,974,956 R( Z T ——F (K&
(restated): 295,551,092) ordinary shares in issue Hl]) : 295,551,002 ) HE T ¢

during the year, calculated as follows:

()  Weighted average number of ordinary shares: i) TR N E
2013 2012
—E—= —E——F
(Restated)
(5&E:5))
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January R—A—HB&
2EITEBR 5,012,680,556  3,517,680,556
Effect of issue of new shares pursuant to 1R 1& %15 Bt & M 377
a share placing (Note 31(b)(i) IR &
(FF5E 31 (o)) 88,119,452 333,087,432
Effect of issue of new shares pursuant to 1818 U B i1 25 1T #T AR 1D
an acquisition (Note 31 (b)(ii)) 75228 (B3 31(o)(i)) - 465,245,902
Effect of shares consolidation R & RS2
(Note 31(bj(iii)) (B 31 (o)(iii)) (4,020,462,798) (4,020,462,798)
Effect of shares issued upon conversion 72 5, Al 1% (& 5
of convertible bonds (Note 31 (b)(ii)) BT R &
(B 31 (o)) 333,637,746 -
Weighted average number of ordinary R+=—A=+—H8H
shares at 31 December L mAR INRE &R 1,413,974,956 295,551,092
The weighted average number of ordinary A0 5 31 (b)) BB - R E =T
shares for the purpose of basic loss per share — =G+ B=+RABBRHAHR
in the years of 2013 and 2012 has been LR RN E—E——ER—F
adjusted retrospectively for the reduction of — — AR AN R A X AR N

shares through share consolidation on 30 July R E R .
20183 as set out in Note 31 (b)(iii).
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11 Loss per Share (continued)

(b) Diluted loss per share
The computation of diluted loss per share does not
assume the conversion of the Company’s
outstanding convertible bonds and warrants since
their exercise would result in a decrease in loss per

share.

12 Segment Reporting
The Group has identified the reportable segments set out
below. The segment information reported internally to the
Group’s most senior executive management (being the
chief operating decision maker) (‘CODM”) for the purposes
of resource allocation and performance assessment is the
same as those reported in the consolidated financial

statements.

Mining of dolomite
and manufacture of
magnesium ingots

Exploration for
iron ore, coal and
manganese

Extraction and
bottling of
mineral water

This segment includes trading of
magnesium ingots. Currently, the
Group’s trading activities are
mainly carried out in South America
and Malaysia.

This segment is engaged in the
exploration for iron ore, coal and
manganese in Indonesia. The
activities carried out in Indonesia
are through indirectly owned
subsidiaries.

This segment is engaged in the
extraction and bottling of mineral
water in the PRC. The activities
carried out in the PRC are through
indirectly owned subsidiary.

11

12

BRER#E)
b) ER#EER

FREEEBRNTETERRBERAAQF
AR A A E R KR EE - BH
TESEEHERERRD

Pl

REBEDHEE TXHINATZ2HN B - RERD
EMERBRFEEOMAAEERSTRERE
BIEE2EERKE((TBREREKE]) RS
BODMEMNEZEFAMBRRAMBRE
R -

FMREEER UHHBEBRES B

EERR A ASENESEDIE
FER % RS RF T -

DREEE WS IMEDE I E DR

WK i B BRI - EERMED
£ 30 BAT I A OB 2 )
1T -

RREEE S BEREAFRREE

BRIk BRIk - EREREDR
BB — MR A M B A
AT o

HREXERAT FHR2013 117



Notes to the Consolidated Financial State

e P R M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& T511E)

12 Segment Reporting (continued)

118

(@) Segment results, assets and

liabilities

For the purpose of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group’s CODM monitors the results, assets and
liabilities attributable to each reportable segment on
the following basis:

Segment assets include all non-current assets and
current assets with the exception of assets classified
as held for sale, pledged deposit, cash and cash
equivalents and other corporate assets. Segment
liabilities include non-current liabilities and current
liabilities with the exception of liabilities associated
with assets classified as held for sale, secured bank
loans, convertible bonds, deferred tax liabilities,
unsecured loans from third parties and other
corporate liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the
reportable segments with reference to sales
generated by those segments and the expenses
incurred by those segments or which otherwise arise
from depreciation or amortisation of assets
attributable to those segments.

Segment loss represents loss resulted by each
segment without allocation of central administration
costs including interest on bank loans, convertible
bonds and unsecured loans from third parties, and
directors’ emoluments, etc. This is the measure
reported to the Group’s CODM for the purpose of
resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance.

CVM MINERALS LIMITED Annual Report 2013
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12 Segment Reporting (continued) 12 WEHE)
(a) Segment results, assets and (a) 7K BEERAEE#E)
liabilities (continueq)
Mining of
dolomite and Exploration Extraction
manufacture for iron ore, and
of magnesium coal and bottling of
ingots manganese mineral water Total
HMHERER BREEA- RER
REESE BERE EIMER K @t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Year ended 31 December 2013 HE-ZE—=F
TZRA=+-HLEE
Reportable segment revenue BEE: SR L ONCiED)

(Note) 16,098,739 - 4,802,700 20,901,439
Segment loss DEpEIE (9,437,982) (1,138,078) (11,048,162) (21,624,222)
Interest income YN 9,696 - 171 9,867
Finance costs WERE (40,729,769) - - (40,729,769)
Depreciation and amortisation NEREHE (24,696,258) (178,458) (654,526)  (25,529,242)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME  BERE

plant and equipment o) 3= (786,486) - - (786,486)
Impairment of BE

— exploration and evaluation - DRLTEEE

assets - (45,823,080) (74,239,500)  (120,062,580)

— goodwil -EE - - (111,180,501)  (111,180,501)

— interest in leasehold land — HEHiER (571,665) - - (571,665)

— other receivable and — Hf AR

prepayments BN HE (25,899) - - (25,899)
— property, plant and - W% BERR
equipment (26,195,379) - - (26,195,379)
Write down of inventories FERR (952,452) - - (952,452)

Additions to segment NEFERDEERE
non-current assets - - 168,234 168,234

As at 31 December 2013 R-B-—=F
+=RA=+-8

Segment assets NEEE 419,331,483 64,747,930 100,583,415 584,662,828
Segment liabilities AHEE (9,011,598) (2,012,560)  (13,374,702)  (24,398,860)
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12

120

Segment Reporting (continued) 12 DEE2HH &)

(@) Segment results, assets and (a)
liabilities (continueq)

DERE - BERAE @)

Mining of
dolomite and  Exploration for Extraction
manufacture of iron ore, and
magnesium coal and bottling of
ingots manganese  mineral water Total
REAER BREEA - RELK
RAEESE B R MR @t
HK$ HKS HKS HKS
BT BT BT BT
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(FEE51) (fE=51) (=51 (fg=E51)
Year ended 31 December 2012 HBZ-Z——%
+ZA=+-BLEFE
Reportable segment revenue DEE R ONGIES)

(Note) 12,383,082 - 2,148,220 14,531,302
Segment loss PEEE (14,911,466) (2,771,858) (4,937,084) (22,620,408)
Interest income FBHA 58,087 434 54 58,575
Finance costs BERM A (39,955,365) - - (39,955,365)
Depreciation and amortisation WEREH (25,862,411) (214,719) (302,599) (26,379,729)
Exploration and evaluation HEREEEM S

assets written off - (242,849 - (242,849
Loss on disposal of property, HENE  BELEE

plant and equipment o) (151,844) - - (151,844)
Impairment of BE

— exploration and evaluation — BGERTEEE

assets (3,506,411)  (162,580,320) - (166,086,731)

— goodwill -BE - (141,622,589 - (141,622,589

— interest in leasehold land - HE T tiEs (3,807,309 - - (3,807,309)

— other receivable and — HMERZER

prepayments BIITE (24,041,442) - - (24,041,442

— property, plant and — W% BEREE

equipment (184,375,293 - - (184,375,293
Write down of inventories FEHH (645,177) - - (645,177)
Write off of inventories FEME (18,112,419) - - (18,112,419
Write off of property, ME - HE R s

plant and equipment (45,063) - - (45,063)
Additions to segment NEERDEERE

non-current assets 2,025,949 836,539 280,787,159 283,649,647

As at 31 December 2012 R-B--F
+=RA=+-H
Segment assets NEEE 514,584,363 198,853,777 286,989,012 1,000,427,152
Segment liabilities NEEE (5,482,132) (5,143,939) (1,976,972)  (12,603,043)

Note:
Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated

from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales in the
current year (2012: Nil).

CVM MINERALS LIMITED Annual Report 2013
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12 Segment Reporting (continued)
(b) Reconciliations of reportable

12 ZEEW @)
(b) AZ2F/LH WA - 8% - BEER

segment revenues, profit or loss, B ENYEE
assets and liabilities
2013 2012
—E-=F —T——F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Revenue WA
Reportable segment revenue 2 HoERA 20,901,439 14,531,302
Loss 518
Reportable segment loss A E2HmnBEE (21,624,222) (22,620,408)
Depreciation and amortisation & R (25,681,128) (26,500,736)
Exploration and evaluation assets written off  ## & ;4 & E 45 - (242,849)
Fair value change in contingent EUW S AR BN AT EE
consideration receivable 44,879,766 -
Finance costs BB A (84,144,735) (82,414,094)
Interest income FSWA 10,164 81,490
Impairment of exploration and WR R EERE
evaluation assets (207,562,580) (166,086,731)
Impairment of goodwill EESEHED (111,180,501) (141,622,589)
Impairment of interest in leasehold land HE T EDRE (571,665) (3,807,309)
Impairment of other receivable and Hip M B R IBNFIERE
prepayments (25,899) (24,041,442)
Impairment of property, plant and equipment  #)3 ~ i MR ERUE (26,195,379) (184,375,293)
Net loss on disposal of property, plantand &M - R RREH
equipment EiRR (786,486) (151,844)
Write down of inventories FEMR (952,452) (645,177)
Write off of inventories FEMsE (135,510) (18,112,419)
Write off of property, plant and equipment YIE - R KGR (15,525) (45,063)
Other unallocated amounts Hin R DB 58 (19,167,721) (24,560,627)
Consolidated loss before taxation BB AR A B8 (453,153,873) (695,145,091)
Assets 5E
Reportable segment assets ERHEEE 584,662,828 1,000,427,152
Unallocated corporate assets: APBRRIEE
Assets classified as held for sale DEAREFEEE 340,070 -
Pledged bank deposit ERIRITIE 2,968 14,833
Cash and cash equivalents BHehBREEEY 423,524 1,081,207
Others Efty 3,628,317 2,652,587
Consolidated total assets TEBEE 589,057,707 1,004,175,779
Liabilities &
Reportable segment liabilities AEHNBaE (24,398,860) (12,603,043)
Unallocated corporate liabilities: AOBARIEE:
Bank loans, secured BHEPBITER (454,260,751) (462,382,223)
Convertible bonds ARk ES (91,253,010) (138,260,770)
Unsecured loans from third parties RAE - FEEFER (181,037,242) (157,002,677)
Deferred tax liabilities ERETIEE R (32,061,574) (72,619,757
Liabilities associated with assets HAOBABIEREEE
classified as held for sale AEMERE (2,819,092) -
Others HAt, (7,810,335) (5,976,545)
Consolidated total liabilities ReraE (793,640,864) (848,845,015)
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12 Segment Reporting (continued) 12 DEE2HH &)
(c) Geographical information (c) HEER
The following tables set out information about the TREFHEBE()AEERBINBEF K
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from AN RAEEDE BEREZHE B
external customers and (i) the Group’s property, 2 PREMEEENRERERS (TEE
plant and equipment, goodwill, exploration and EMBEE D HIBLEER - BRI
evaluation assets and mining deposit (“specified BB IR BATAEmTEMTIE © #§5E
non-current assets”). The geographical location of SERBEERMIBAE I - (1) EEME
customers is based on the location at which the (B - BRERRE)  RQ)ESE
goods are delivered. The geographical location of BEXGEN(MBREEEREE) D
the specific non-current assets is based on: (1) the $ o
physical location of the asset in case of property,
plant and equipment; and (2) the location of the
operations to which they are allocated, in case of
intangible assets and goodwiill.
South America Malaysia The PRC Others* Total
S ERET L P gt
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
—E-=F —T--F ZB-Zf kS —g-=f ~BCf —B-=F —F-C —g-=f S 3
HK$ HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS
7 7 7 7 7 7 5 7 7 7
Turnover BEE 12,956,651 - 2,118,078 457,59 4,802,700 2,148,220 424,010 11,925,486 20,901,439 14,631,302
* Others principally included Japan and Middle East Hih FZFEARLRE
Hong Kong Malaysia The PRC Indonesia Total
=t ERET L il it
2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
-g-=§ -¥--% -®-Zf -"%¥--f C-B-Zf _-T--f -B-Zf _-"¥--f CB-Zf CT-Cf
HK$ HKS$ HKS HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS
#7 7 #7 #7 #7 #7 #5 £ #7 B
Specified non-curent  EEFRHEE
assets 1,217,927 855,209 411,632,009 497,059,064 94,061,297 279,976,835 64,686,117 198,491,174 571,597,350 976,382,272
(d) Information about major customers d BEBRXEEZEFHNER

122

Revenue from sales of goods to customers
represents 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue
is shown as follows:

HEEMTELABSRAGARERBAKA
10% sk LA EEH 0T -

2013 2012

—E—= —ET——F

HK$ HKS$

BT BT

Customer a ZFa - 8,554,808
Customer b ZFb - 3,341,419
Customer ¢ EFc 12,956,651 -

All revenue disclosed above is related to the “mining
of dolomite and manufacture of magnesium ingots”
reportable segment.
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= >
13 Property, Plant and Equipment 13 ¥ BERZE
(a) The Group (a) &&KE
Interestin
leasehold
land held
for own
Furniture use under
Plant and Motor and Office Computer operating
Buildings machinery vehicles fittings equipment equipment Retorts Sub-total lease Total
RESERE
BEER
Bz BRERES RE BRRER HAERE BHRE ERE Nt BREBER 3t
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT AT o i AT AT o BT AT i
Cost: A
At 1 January 2012 RZZ-ZF-f—-B 191673680 408,868,392 3,909,707 12,712,692 77576 91,526 80,953,423 698,286,996 14,414,488 712,701,484
Additions RE 991,162 4,273,206 299,219 1,268,788 37,567 16,219 - 6,876,161 - 6,876,161
Addtions through BRKENBATRE
acauisiton of (P3%33)
subsidiaries (Note 33) 1,871,476 1,467,006 - - - - - 3,338,481 - 3,338,481
Disposals HiE - - (1,156,031) 94,925) - - - (1,250,956) - (1,250,956)
Write off jit] - - - (61,197) - - - (61,197) - (61,197)
Exchange adjustments ~ EX 3% 6,476,346 13,862,956 104,205 425,116 (204) (288) 2,737,298 23,605,429 487,400 24,092,829
At31December 2012 H=Z-—F
+Zh=t-A 201,012,664 428,471,559 3,157,100 14,250,474 114,939 107,467 83,690,721 730,804,914 14,901,888 745,706,802
At 1 January 2013 201,012,664 428,471,559 3,157,100 14,250,474 114,939 107,467 83,690,721 730,804,914 14,901,888 745,706,802
Additions RE 141,766 14,426 - 456,349 38,842 14,824 - 666,207 - 666,207
Reclassfedasheld ~ EFHBEHEHE
for sale (Note 23) (HfzE23) - (149.6%) - (10904) - (7554) - (168,150) - (168,150)
Disposals HE - - (774,433 (1,981,877) - - - (2,756,310) - (2,756,310)
Wiite off s - - - (27,000 - - - 27,000 - (27,000)
Exchange adjustments  [E 5 :3% (13,008,311) (28,308,225) (97,954) (932,975) (10,441) (2,641) (6,530,937) (47,982,484 (984,833) (48,967,317)
At31December 2018 H=Z-=%
+-A=+-8 188,065,119 400,028,068 2,284,713 11,754,067 143,340 112,086 78,159,784 680,637,177 13,917,055 694,454,232
Accumulated REHTE B
depreciation, RAE:
amortisation and
impairment:
At1 January 2012 RZZ-Z5-f-H 3,706,037 15,516,601 650,061 1,265,423 17,892 56,061 3,180,095 24,392,260 833,502 25,205,762
Charge for the year ERTHE 4,159,260 16,938,433 376,515 1,339,617 18,138 24,946 3,290,149 26,147,068 147,259 26294317
Impairment WE 52,331,793 107,342,683 415,320 3,152,469 - - 21,133,028 184,375,293 3,807,309 188,182,602
Written back on HERE
disposals - - (449,369) (14.249) - - - 463611) - (463611)
Wit off W - - - (6,134) - - - (6,13) - (6,134)
Exchange adjustments [ 3 ;3% 122,144 510,347 24,180 41,000 2,347 8 105,004 805,030 28,070 833,100
At31December 2012 R=E-—%
+Zh=t-H 60,319,234 140,308,154 1,016,714 5,778,126 38,377 81,015 27708276 235,249,896 4816140 240,066,036
At 1 January 2013 W-Z-=F-f-R 60,319,234 140,308,154 1,016,714 5778126 38317 015 21,708,276 235,249,896 4,816,140 240,066,036
Charge for the year ERTE 4,062,565 16,758,677 272,255 1,221,321 20,390 10,173 3,192,831 25,538,212 142,916 25,681,128
Impairment B 7,736,748 16,407,120 20,554 - - - 3,030,957 26,195,379 571,665 26,767,044
Reclssfiedasheld ~ EHHEZHELE
for sale (Note 23) (Hz23) - (41,166) - (2,357) - (3,759 - (47,276) - (47,276)
Witen back on HERE
disposals - - (206,834) (590,454) - - - (797,288) - (797,288)
Wite off s - - - (11475) - - - (11,475) - (11475)
Exchange adjustments  [E 5 :3% (4,138,038) (9,910,848 (67,584) (425,518) (7,850) (1,195) (1,953,135) (16,494,168) (323,770) (16,817,938)
At31 December 2013 R-F—=F
+-A=t-A 67980500 162,521,067 1,045,105 5,969,643 50917 86240 31978020 269633280 520691 274840231
Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2013
+-R=t+-H 120,074,610 237,506,131 1,239,608 5,784,424 92,423 25,846 46,180,855 410,903,897 8,710,104 419,614,001
At31 December 2012 R=%-=
+-A=t+-8B 140,693,430 288,163,405 2,140,386 8,472,348 76,562 26442 55,982,445 495,555,018 10,085,748 505,640,766
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(c)

13 Property, Plant and Equipment continued) 13 1% - BREREE (&)
(b) The Company (b) ZA&AF]
Office Furniture Computer Motor
equipment  and fittings  equipment vehicle Total
BAERE HARER BB AE @t
HKS HK$ HKS HKS HKS
BT BT BT BT BT
Cost: B
At 1 January 2012 NZE——%—f—H 22,042 99,218 71,669 858,446 1,051,375
Additions RE - - 16,219 - 16,219
At 31 December 2012 RZE—ZF
+-R=+—H 22,042 99,218 87,888 858,446 1,067,594
At 1 January 2013 R-ZE—=F—H—H 22,042 99,218 87,888 858,446 1,067,594
Additions NE 26,800 456,349 14,824 - 497,973
Write off ! - (27,000) - - (27,000)
At 31 December 2013 RZIE—-=F
+-R=+—H 48,842 528,567 102,712 858,446 1,538,567
Accumulated ZIHE !
depreciation:
At 1 January 2012 RZE——F—F—H 4,719 21,385 52,972 14,307 93,383
Charge for the year FRLH 2,204 9,922 21,031 85,845 119,002
At 31 December 2012 R-ZB—_fF
+ZR=1—H 6,923 31,307 74,003 100,152 212,385
At 1 January 2013 R-E—=F—F—H 6,923 31,307 74,003 100,152 212,385
Charge for the year FAZH 2,874 24,556 6,455 85,845 119,730
Write off iG] - (11,475) - - (11,475)
At 31 December 2013 RZE—=F
+ZR=1—H 9,797 44,388 80,458 185,997 320,640
Carrying amount: REE :
At 31 December 2013 RZE—=F
+-A=+—H 39,045 484,179 22,254 672,449 1,217,927
At 31 December 2012 RZE—ZF
+-A=+—H 15,119 67,911 13,885 768,294 865,209
The carrying amount of properties (c) *EBEYENEEEMT :
of the Group is as follows:
2013 2012
—E-=F —E——F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Interests in leasehold land held for RIEEBEINCEHE
own use under operating leases FIEERMEE L m
outside Hong Kong — long term —KH 8,710,104 10,085,748
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e B R A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA L 3I/1E)

13 Y% - BERRE#E)

13 Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

(d) Included in the Group’s property, plant and (d) A&EER-_Z—=F+-F=+—80&Y

equipment as at 31 December 2013 are buildings,
plant and machinery, motor vehicles, retorts and
interests in leasehold land held for own use under
operating leases, with carrying amounts of
HK$117,880,129 (2012: HK$138,629,527),
HK$234,748,928 (2012: HK$284,356,114),
HK$313,176 (2012: HK$1,100,203),
HK$46,180,855 (2012: HK$55,982,445) and
HK$8,710,104 (2012: HK$10,085,748), respectively
located in Malaysia and operated by CVMSB. In light
of the sustained operating losses of CVMSB and
suspension of its production plant since 2012, the
directors of the Company conducted a review on the
recoverable amount of cash-generating units (“CGU”)
for mining of dolomite and manufacture of
magnesium ingots based on value in use calculation
and determined that an impairment loss of
HK$26,767,044 (2012: HK$188,182,602) was
recognised and included in other operating expenses
in the consolidated income statement for the year
ended 31 December 2013. The cash flow
projections were based on financial budget and
production forecast as approved and prepared by
management, covering a twenty-three year period,
which represents approximately the remaining
license period of the mining right to mine and extract
magnesium dolomite from two pieces of land in the
State of Perak, Peninsula Malaysia (the “Dolomite
Land”). The cash flow beyond the eight-year period
are extrapolated using zero growth rate. The
discount rate applied to the cash flow projection is
19.55% (2012: 14.57%) which is in reference to the
valuation prepared by an independent qualified
professional valuer, GC Appraisals Services
Company Limited (“GC Appraisals”) as at 31
December 2013. Other key assumptions applied in
the value in use calculation relate to the estimation of
cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted sales
and gross margin. The discount rate used is pre-tax
and reflects specific risks relating to the relevant
segment.

¥ BEEEGEEEMRERTEDE KA
CVMSB#&&EHIETF - /E KLi#as - )R8 -
ERERMEBELCEHERFEANEES
MR - BREED B A117,880,129%8 7T
(= T — — % :138,629,527/8 7T )
234,748,928/ L( = T — = F:
284,356,148 71 ) ~ 313,176 T( = &
— — 4 :1,100,20378 7T ) 46,180,855
JL( =& — — 4 :550982,44578 7T ) &
8,710,104/ 7L (=ZF — =4 : 10,085,748
HBIT) o ERCVMSBHIHEH B EBRALE
BMEA-T——FRENEE  ARAE
ERFEAEEFESZHRAKBEEARE
ESENReEFLEN ([ReEEEMN])
IR B S REHETEN - WEERRRE
&5 1826,767,044% T( = T — = &
188,182,602/ L) * Wit A\BEZE=ZT—=
F+ZA=t+—HLEFEMNGEKEERSP
EMgey - REREEANENREE
B ERRENTRBEEREZTEA 5
K23 F B (KA E RAIR B R R R M
MRt ([AEA L ]) FRRREIREE
HEAWREE 2B T ZRE) - &8
MNFHENRERERATERER
- EERBREREEINMNMEERSR
19.55% (=T — —4F : 14.57%) * JhE 2
EHBIUABIREEMER GC Appraisals
Services Company Limited ([GC
Appraisals ) R ZZE—=F+=ZA=+—
HiRbIEE - StEFREBEMRANE
MEBRBFEBRSRA S RENGEE
B HEEEEHE REMNE - ML
WEHRINGHIE - BERBBEESIME
B -
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13 Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

126

(e)

(f)

(9)

The significant portion of buildings, retorts and the
interests in leasehold land held for own use under
operating leases of the Group with an aggregate
carrying amount of HK$171,754,562 (2012:
HK$203,608,699) are pledged to a bank for banking
facilities granted to the Group (see Note 28).

Property, plant and equipment held

under finance leases

The Group leases motor vehicles and furniture and
fittings under finance leases expiring in 2 to 5 years.
None of the leases includes contingent rentals. As at
31 December 2013, the carrying amount of motor
vehicles and furniture and fittings held under finance
leases of the Group was HK$1,899,039 (2012:
HK$3,979,876).

The Company leases a motor vehicle under a finance
lease expiring in 5 years. It does not include
contingent rentals. As at 31 December 2013, the
carrying amount of a motor vehicle held under a
finance lease of the Company was HK$672,449
(2012: HK$758,294).

At the end of the reporting period, the property
ownership certificates in respect of the property
interests held in the PRC have not been issued by
the relevant PRC government authorities. The
carrying amount of the properties was
HK$1,843,328 (2012: HK$1,838,366) as at 31
December 2013.
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13 % BERRE #E)

(e)

(f

(9)

EF  ERERALEERELCEHERE
EANHELIHESEREERES R
171,754,562% n( = T — = &F:
208,608,699 /8 7L) B BE T AN EBAIRTT
BRA IR T IRT (RFIsE28) -

REMELEFENYE  BE
R&E
REEBRBERERERETE RRMEE
B - EHIA2EZESE - IEMEEBEN
RKBEL - R-_T—=F+-_A=+—8"
AEEREREAEFS N TEREME
ERHIRMEA 1,899,039 L (—ZE——
13,979,876 7T) ©

ARRIRERERERERE - FHAS
FoHWEBERARS - RZFT—=F
+Z—A=1+—8  ARAREREHER
EHAEMNEREEAT2,449E L (=F
— T4 758,204 7T) ©

RS IR - AR BB ATHERS A AR T
RARBIF YRS EMBESE - »
—E-=F+-A=+—8 ZEWEN
SR E B1,843328 B (&2 — —F ¢
1,838,366 5 7T) °
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA L 3I/1E)

14 Goodwill 14 HE
The Group
rEE
HK$
BIT
Cost: B
At 1 January 2012 W-_E——F—A—H 221,148,496
Addition through acquisition of subsidiaries i i@ U BE K B A T M5 00 (M55 33)
(Note 33) 111,180,501
At 31 December 2012, 1 January 2013 and = —F+=—A=+—H "
31 December 2013 —F-=F—H—BK
—E—=F+-F=+—H 332,328,997
Accumulated impairment losses: ZiHBEES :
At 1 January 2012 W_ZE——F—AF—H 79,525,907
Impairment loss TEEE 141,622,589
At 31 December 2012 R-ZE——F+=-A=+—H 221,148,496
At 1 January 2013 RZZE—=F—HF—H 221,148,496
Impairment loss PEREN SR 111,180,501
At 31 December 2013 RZE—=%+_A=+—H 332,328,997
Carrying amount: BRIEE :
At 31 December 2013 RZE—=F+=-A=+—H -
At 31 December 2012 RZE—=—F+=ZA=+—H 111,180,501
(@) The goodwill arose in the acquisition of Victory @ BEZZ——F+-A=1+—HILEFEK

B Hl e A R A A BB A ARl
(81 R E ) B BRI 38 - A2
AEERE  HEEDMBER LB
N T R AR5 SR %
0 o

Dragon Holdings Limited and its subsidiary, Long
Chuan (“Victory Dragon Group”) during the year
ended 31 December 2012 as set out in Note 33. In
the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
goodwill represented the future economic benefits
together with the current establishment of the
operation arising from the potential growth in the
mineral water business acquired.

A valuation report, prepared by GC Appraisals, GC Appraisals FT# 2L EEEREET © T

showed that the fair value of exploration and
evaluation assets of the acquired subsidiary at the
date of acquisition, determined based on the
income-based method, was HK$161,763,000 (see
Note 15).

WEE B A R ik M mEERWE R
NEEZWAEETF A161,763,000/8 7T
(RBKIEE15) »
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (A& T511E)

14 Goodwill (continued) 14 BHE B
(b) Impairment test for cash- (b) EEEHBZREeEEENZREE

generating unit containing goodwill i

At the end of the reporting period, goodwill is RHREPRR  REEMRELERRLE

allocated to the Group’s CGU identified according to DEEAC REEE BN D ERE -

country of operation and operating segment as

follows:
2013 2012

—E—= —E——fF

HK$ HK$
BT ATT

Extraction and bottling of mineral water 2B 2 i 5% 5 7K - 111,180,501

128

M

Extraction and bottling of mineral water

The recoverable amount of the CGU of
extraction and bottling of mineral water is
determined based on value in use calculation.
The calculation use pre-tax cash flow
projection based on financial budgets
approved by management of the Company
covering a thirteen-year period. The CGU’s
cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using a steady average growth
rate of 3.3% (2012: 15.56%). This growth rate
is based on the relevant industry growth
forecasts and does not exceed the average
long-term growth rate for the relevant industry.
The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projection is 36.27% (2012: 24.15%). The
discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant segment.

The revenue generated from this CGU
subsequent to acquisition did not meet the
previous expectations because of limited cash
resources to develop a new production line for
manufacturing sparkling water, and making
reference to the valuation performed by GC
Appraisal as at 31 December 2013, the
Company’s directors determined that an
impairment loss of HK$111,180,501 (2012: Nil)
on its CGU containing goodwill has been
recognised and included in other operating
expenses in the consolidated income
statement for the year ended 31 December
2013.
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() REEUREREERK

RERERERBERKASELESBLD
RSB NIZEREERNE - &
AETERATEERESNT=
FHOMBAEREERN - BF
HEeReELBUNESRE DR
3.3% (=T — % : 15.56%) MIZTE
FIERERE o IR RETHIZR
HETEERBUEE  BEXER
HHRBEITENFORPERE B
ERERAERZREG36.27%
(ZZF—ZF : 24.15%) o TR Z Bh
REEHAHRRIE  BERRERBED
e AR -

RUREER - REAMWESELBENMD
WA RIERERTTBE > Ty E R
B — G EE KN EERN
BeBRAR I E2EMRAGC
Appraisal® — £ — =Z & + = A
—+t—RETHEE ARRES
ErTERSELENOERENR
EE5#E 111,180,501 BT (= E——
E:mEREE_E—=E+_A
T+ BLEFENGRERESEPRE
R AL MG -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA L 3I/1E)

15 BERFHEE

15 Exploration and Evaluation Assets

The Group wE
Mining of
dolomite and Exploration Extraction
manufacture for iron ore, and
of magnesium coal and bottling of
ingots manganese  mineral water Total
REEER HREERR- BRREE
REESS Bk MERRK @t
HKS HK$ HK$ HK$
BT o o BT
Cost: A
At 1 January 2012 RZE——%—F—H 3,990,266 383,049,221 - 387,039,487
Avising on acqisition of subsidiaries Wi B 2 A A (P EE33)

(Note 33) - - 161,763,000 161,763,000
Write off s - (242,849 - (242,849)
Exchange adjustments Gk 134,924 - - 134,924
At 31 December 2012, R-Z-——#+-A=+-H-

1 January 2013 and “T-=4-A-8Hk

31 December 2013 ZE-=E+tZA=1-H 4125190 382,806,372 161,763,000 548,694,562
Accumulated amortisation and R EBEREE:

impairment:

At 1 January 2012 RZE——%—F—H 399,025 22,656,172 - 23,055,197
Charge for the year FRXH 206,419 - - 206,419
Impairment loss REEE 3,506,411 162,580,320 - 166,086,731
Exchange adjustments o 13,335 - - 13,335
At 31 December 2012 RZE-—&#+-A=1—H 4,125,190 185,236,492 - 189,361,682
At 1 January 2013 RZE—=%—-F—H 4,125,190 185,236,492 - 189,361,682
Impairment loss EEE - 133,323,080 74,239,500 207,562,580
At 31 December 2013 W-E-=f+-RA=+—A 4,125,190 318,559,572 74,239,500 396,924,262
Carrying amount; FHE:
At 31 December 2013 N = - 64,246,800 87,523,500 151,770,300
At 31 December 2012 WZZ2--%#+-HA=+-H - 197,569,880 161,763,000 359,332,880
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15 Exploration and Evaluation Assets
(continued)

130

(@)

CVMSB has undertaken various feasibility studies in
relation to the mining and extraction of dolomite in
Peninsula Malaysia since 2004. On 15 June 2006,
CVMSB entered into an agreement (the “Mining
Agreement”) with Majuperak Energy Resources Sdn.
Bhd. (“MERSB”) (formerly known as Harta Perak
Corporation Sdn. Bhd.), a subsidiary of the Perak
State Development Corporation (“PSDC”), a
shareholder of the Company. Pursuant to the Mining
Agreement, CVMSB has been granted, at no initial
cost, an exclusive right to mine and extract
magnesium dolomite from the Dolomite Land for a
period of 20 years, with an option to renew for a
further period of 10 years. The Mining Agreement
can be terminated early by the Group by giving one
month’s written notice to MERSB. CVMSB is
required to pay royalties to MERSB based on the
volume of dolomite extracted, subject to a monthly
minimum payment (see Note 35(b)). Due to
suspension of its production plant since 2012,
CVMSB did not extract any dolomite from the
Dolomite Land during the years ended 31 December
2013 and 2012.

Mining activities for this dolomite project had started
in 2010 and the amortisation charge relating to the
project for the year is included in “administrative
expenses” (2012: “administrative expenses”) in the
consolidated income statement.

As a result of impairment review performed by
management of the Company, an impairment loss of
HK$3,506,411 was made on the exploration and
evaluation assets during the year ended 31
December 2012. The management was of the view
that such impairment loss was resulted from the
suspension of CVMSB’s production plant and its
operating loss. The recoverable amount of CGU for
mining of dolomite and manufacture of magnesium
ingots had been determined based on a value in use
calculation. This calculation uses cash flows
projections based on financial budgets and
production forecast as prepared by management,
covering a twenty-three year period, which
represents approximately the remaining licence
period of the mining right to mine and extract
magnesium dolomite from the Dolomite Land. The
cash flow beyond the eight-year period are
extrapolated using zero growth rate, and a discount
rate of 19.55% (2012: 14.57%) with reference to the
valuation performed by GC Appraisals as at 31
December 2013. The discount rate used is pre-tax
and reflects specific risks relating to the relevant
segment.
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15 BRRAGEE @)

(@)

CVMSBE Z T WMF EE A F R
FERRMENEEAETZIEATIER
e RZTZRFXATHHA  CVMSB
B 7K 2 A % B AR R N A 7 B IR M 8 Perak
State Development Corporation ([PSDC )
&9 [T /& A & Majuperak Energy Resources
Sdn. Bhd. (MERSB]) ( A #Harta Perak
Corporation Sdn. Bhd.) &T37 1% ([ £25% 1#
) RIERERZ - CYMSBEH AT
AR AR E R TERRAEA T
ERENSEEOEANEERE - RE20
oA BEEEBRIOF AEBRT M
MERSB# i — &l A E @ A1IR R 4R EK
Ttk - CYMSBZERIEFTIRENA E A /)
B8 %S A KIENRMAMERSBX  H
B (AME350) BHEZE—=FR=
T—ZF+ZA=+—HLEFE BAR
CWSBMAEEREE T ——_FRE =
BE WEWENDEZA THRAREN S
EhH-

AREELMEENRARGSHER T —FF
Fn MAEBAFEHEENEHEERIIA
RARERWD TTRAX] (ZF——%F:
[MTTBRAXDA -

ARARARIEEEETREREE  BHE
E_B-—F+_A=t+—HILEEHF
MR B EEH 8,506,411 B TTREEIE -
BERERE  BHREEIETIHNCYMSB
MEERFEEEMELEEBEMK - FR
HEAREESENRSEESMAH TR
OeBEERFEREEFEREET  hiT
B ERAEEEERES N -+ =F 58
(WAERELALHHARKRIEREAR
FRBERENR TR EA N M8 FE
BERAEEBAMNRSRETRA o NFHE
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—ZF+-A=+—RETHHER &
TR R NARIRR19.55% (T — 4 :
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LA L 3I/1E)

15 Exploration and Evaluation Assets
(continued)

(b)

PT. Commerce Venture Iron Ore (“PTCV Iron”) and
PT. Commerce Venture Coal (“PTCV Coal”), both
indirectly held subsidiaries of the Company, have
exploration mining permits in relation to the mining
and extraction of coal, iron ore and manganese in
Indonesia.

PTCV Coal holds exploration mining permits for (i)
coal exploration in an area of 10,000 (2012: 10,000)
hectares in Beutong and Tadu Raya Subdistrict,
Nagan Raya Regency, Nanggroe Aceh Darussalam
Province of Indonesia, valid until 7 October 2013
(“Permit 17); and (i) manganese exploration in an
area of 3,710 (2012: 3,710) hectares in Bakongan
Subdistrict, South Aceh Regency, Nanggroe Aceh
Darussalam Province of Indonesia, valid until 28
January 2014 (“Permit 27).

PTCV Iron holds exploration mining permits for (i)
coal exploration in an area of 9,825 (2012: 9,825)
hectares in Kuala and Tadu Raya Subdistrict, Nagan
Raya Regency, Nanggroe Aceh Darussalam
Province of Indonesia, valid until 5 March 2014
(“Permit 3”); and (i) iron ore exploration in an area of
450 (2012: 450) hectares in Pananggalan
Subdistrict, Subulussalam City, Nanggroe Aceh
Darussalam Province of Indonesia, valid until 14
December 2012 (“Permit 4”). On 5 September 2013,
the relevant local authorities informed the Group that
the Permit 4 could not be extended or renewed due
to environmental issues surrounding the relevant
exploration activities location and the authorities will
reconsider the renewal application if the situation has
improved.

Permit 1 has expired in the year. Subsequent to 31
December 2013 and up to the approval date of the
consolidated financial statements, Permit 2 and
Permit 3 have also expired. The Group has not
submitted applications to the relevant local
authorities for extension of these permits in the view
that the Group is going to dispose of all its equity
interests in PTCV Coal and PTCV Iron (see Note 23).

During the years ended 31 December 2013 and
2012, the Group did not conduct any exploration in
these mines due to its limited cash resources. No
exploration and evaluation costs were capitalised
and no income was derived from these mines during
the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012.

15 BERFHEE @)

(b)

7R Al KT B /A AIPT. Commerce Venture
Iron Ore ( [PTCVIron| ) EEPT. Commerce
Venture Coal ( [PTCV Coall ) IEFFEENE
FIER R IREUE % - B MiG#ETTZ A
ITIERFE ©

PTCV Coal £ F &) &) £& 7 27T Al 78 7] () 1
E[) FE Nanggroe Aceh Darussalam & Nagan
Raya Regency A Beutong & Tadu Raya
2% 10,000 — & — — 4 : 10,000) A &
ERESERMR  BRHE T —=F
TAEBR1RTFAED: RV
Nanggroe Aceh Darussalam % South Aceh
Regency f)Bakongan % [&3,710( — &
—ZF :3710) NEEEBEREEDE A
BHEZZT-—NF—-—A=+N\B (2%
EE-ED

PTCV Iron #5785 B 8 £R FERET A1 28 7] (i) A ED
JE Nanggroe Aceh Darussalam % Nagan
Raya Regency ) Kuala & Tadu Raya?® [&
9,825 NHEEEME F R R IR - BUAE
ZE—FE=ARB (3K E]D « K&l
% ED JENanggroe Aceh Darussalam&
Subulussalam T Pananggalan 7 & 450 ( —
T 450) AEEEEN EEEA B
% ASHE-—Z——F#+_-_F+mHWA(4
WEAE]) RZZE—=FNLAAAH
AT BT BB A AN B 4585 Al B E
R R RS Eh it [ ) 18 A0 BR 35 e R fn TN &
HLAEE - A BT R R IE R B Pk
EREFZRBEERS ©

1TRFTAIERFAER - RZTE—=F
+Z A=+ —BEREEHFAMBEREL
HEB BRI - 25RFTAIE R BSRATAIRE AN E
JE R o BB & B PTCV Coal
KX PTCV Iron & 2 B A # - 2N 5 [ (= K )
FERBA b 75 BT 4 R B 5 5 52 5 B A 7R 4
(RMt3E23) »

RBE-FT—=FR-_F—-%+-A
ST HLEFER AaRAKERSER
BIR - B3 5 L % B8 LU AP 7T A B
R-BE_T—=FKk-_T——F+_A
=t HLEFE - BFELLETEHE
REHE AR E A R A A AR o
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15 Exploration and Evaluation Assets
(continued)

132

()

(continued)

Taking into consideration the expiration and non-
renewal of these permits as mentioned above, the
Company’s directors determined that the
recoverable amounts of CGUs in respect of these
permits were below their respective carrying amount,
impairment losses of HK$87,500,000 (2012: reversal
of impairment losses of HK$6,960,000) have been
recognised and included in other operating expenses
in the consolidated income statement for the year
ended 31 December 2013.

PTLM holds a production operation mining permit
for manganese in an area of 195 hectares in the
Jatimulyo Village, Girimulyo Subdistrict, Kulon Progo
Regency, Daerah Istimewa Yogyakarta Province,
Indonesia (“Mining area”). The permit is used for
mining activities including construction, mining,
processing and refining or smelting as well as hauling
and sales of manganese in the Mining area. The
production operation mining permit is valid for a
period of 10 years from 24 February 2011 and is
capable of being extended for two further terms of
10 years each at the maximum. PTLM has
undertaken various feasibility studies in relation to
the mining of and exploration for manganese in the
Mining area.

No exploration activities were conducted in the mine
as the Group lost contact with the legal
representative of PTLM in 2012. This brought to a
halt to the daily operations and mining activities of
PTLM (see Note 17). No exploration and evaluation
costs were capitalised and no income was derived
from the mine of manganese during the years ended
31 December 2013 and 2012.
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15 Exploration and Evaluation Assets
(continued)

)

(continued)

At 31 December 2013, the Group determined the
recoverable amount of CGU for PTLM based on
value in use calculation. The calculation uses cash
flow projection based on financial budgets and
production forecast as prepared by management of
the Company covering a seventeen-year period. The
cash flows are in zero growth rate. The discount rate
applied to the cash flow projection is 21.12% (2012:
20.35%). The discount rate used is pre-tax and
reflects specific risks relating to the relevant
segment. Taking into consideration the uncertainties
mentioned in Note 17 and making reference to the
valuation performed by GC Appraisals as at 31
December 2013, the Company’s directors
determined that an impairment loss of
HK$45,823,080 (2012: HK$169,540,320) has been
recognised and included in other operating expenses
in the consolidated income statement for the year
ended 31 December 2013.

Long Chuan holds a mineral water permit to extract
maximum volume of water up to 33,000 meter cube
per annum in relation to the Longchuan Spring (the
“Water Permit”) from 1 March 2007 to 16 February
2015. A mining permit to extract mineral water in the
stipulated mining area for a period from 23
December 2011 to 23 December 2021 has been
granted.

The Longchuan Spring is situated at Damiao Village
Longmu Town Longchuan County Heyuan City (;A]
R B )l %% B8 £ 8B K B A7), the PRC, with an
aggregate mining area of approximately 0.3956 km2.
It is well connected with the source of the East River
(Dongjiang) which supplies fresh water to Hong
Kong and parts of Guangdong Province. The
Longchuan Spring is protected by a protection zone
of 30 km in radius with no significant industrial
pollution source within a radius of up to 50 km.
Longchuan Spring contains seven of the eight
prescribed minerals in sufficient quantity to quality,
including free carbon dioxide.

15 BERFHEE @)

(©

HREXERAT FHR2013

(%)

R-ZZE—=F+-_A=+—H AE£EEK
FREENEAERPTIIMETRESESE
Bz rJREI$%E - LAt E A ERBAR
REEERESR17TFHNTRBERE
EEA - HeReENETHREHRE - 1
EREEAEAZRER21.12% (=ZF
— 4 : 20.35%) © B2 BRIRE AR
BREEE - BERMAEBES I EEER -
Mz AR E M ARIE - B RIAED
HERBEER o AQREBLEE RN
17RBE 2 TTHBPREE XL EGC
Appraisals R —Z—=F+-_A=+—H
ETWHEE BECBERAREERE
45,823,080/ w( = T — = £F:
169,540,320 L) ' Wt ABEZE T —=
F+ZA=t+—HILEFEMNGEREERSP
Hih gl o

B AER KT A& ([BUKE & D
—EE+F=-A—HE-_ZT—RHFE_A
+REREINESEARKELABF &S
33,0003 53K - WHEE FERIBRF 7] 5B AR
—E——F+-_A-+=HE-_T-—%F
+ = A=+ =8 - HIR 5 T FI R = 1 3
EUERK ©

BRI BIA R T BE ) || SR BE B SRR R
I ABRETRA R 0.3956F TR E - B
RITKRABE - [AEERERE SO TR
XK - B RRERFLEHLEI0OR
B ARESORBFEHENBEMER
TSR E)IREN\BBEHED TN
+tR(BEERE _ALK)  KHEINEE
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15 Exploration and Evaluation Assets
(continued)

134

(d)

(continued)

According to the technical report prepared by & &
BB BT T2 55 2 & (unofficially translated as
Guangdong Province Geological Engineering
Consulting Firm) in July 2003, the Longchuan Spring
provides about 270,000 tons of minerals water
annually and the water contains significant amounts
of minerals including potassium, sodium, calcium,
magnesium, lithium, strontium and zinc.

Taking into consideration the performance of the
mine as disclosed in Note 14, sustained operating
losses and unable to generate positive cash flow
from the date of acquisition in April 2012 to 31
December 2013, the business operated by Long
Chuan is not commercially viable, as a result, the
mineral water permit had not been reclassified to an
intangible asset.

At 31 December 2013, the Group determined the
recoverable amount of CGU for extraction and
bottling of mineral water based on value in use
calculation. The calculation uses cash flow projection
based on financial budgets and production forecast
as prepared by management covering a thirteen-
year period. The CGU’s cash flows beyond the five-
year period are extrapolated using a steady average
growth rate of 3.3% (2012: 15.56%). This growth
rate is based on the relevant industry growth
forecast and does not exceed the average long-term
growth rate for the relevant industry. The discount
applied to the cash flows projection is 36.27% (2012:
24.15%). The discount rate used is pre-tax and
reflects specific risks relating to the relevant
segment. Taking into consideration the performance
of the mine as disclosed in Note 14, and making
reference to the valuation performed by GC
Appraisal as at 31 December 2013, the Company’s
directors determined that an impairment loss of
HK$74,239,500 (2012: Nil) has been recognised and
included in other operating expenses in the
consolidated income statement for the year ended
31 December 2013.
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16 Mining Deposit

17

This amount represents a deposit of RM90,000 (equivalent
to HK$213,049) at 31 December 2013 (2012: RM90,000
(equivalent to HK$228,125) paid to MERSB pursuant to
the Mining Agreement (see Note 15(a)) by the Group.

Investments in Subsidiaries

16 HKEERS
HEEER_E—=F+-A=+—HBXEEH
RIEFER T (R 15() X+ F MERSB Hy3%
£ 90,000 F# (FHE R 213,0498 L) (ZE—=
£ : 90,000 FH#E (A&7 228,125 7T)) °

17 RBARWERE

The Company KA E]

2013 2012

—E—= —ET——F

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Unlisted shares, at cost JE TR - WA 457,898,800 457,898,800
Impairment loss B EE (386,013,465) (248,569,098)
71,885,335 209,329,702

Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUSBHI B A B I 610,636,881 592,133,807
Impairment loss RIEEE (610,586,215)  (592,130,296)
50,666 3,511

Amount due to a subsidiary JE —MEM B R RF0E (262,582) -
(211,916) 3,511

71,673,419 209,333,213
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17 RBRRNRE &)
R-B-—=F+-A=+—H HEIRFEW

17 Investments in Subsidiaries (continued)
Details of the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2013 are as

follows: b
Place of Percentage of
incorporation Issued and effective ownership  Principal
Name of company and operation paid up capital interest activities Note
HEME LR BRTR
A E 3R BRRE  FAREGERASNE EEER i3
Direct Indirect
¢ EiEE
CVMSB Malaysia RM36,000,000 100% - Mining of dolomite and ~ (a)
BARAS 36,000,000 & & manufacturing of
magnesium ingots
MROERREESSE
CVM Marketing Limited British Virgin US$10,000 - 100%  Investment holding (@
Islands (‘BVI’) 10,0005 T REER
HRERHS
([RBER
#51)
CVM International Marketing Malaysia RM2 - 100%  Trading of magnesium  (a)
Sdn. Bhd. BRAL 25% _ingots
Hitg5
CVM Marketing Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia RM100,000 60% - Dormant (@)
BRAR 100,000 5% EmEX
CVM International Limited BVI N US$10,000 100% - Investment holding (@
RBERES 10,000 7T RERR
CVM Mingrals Indonesia Malaysia RM10,000 - 51%  Investment holding (@
Sdn. Bhd. BRAS 10,000 5% REER
PTCV Iron Indonesia RPH®6,000,000,000 - 48.45%  Exploration for coal (b)
HERAED 6,000,000,000E1fE & and iron ore
HMRERRERA
PTGV Coal Indonesia RPH®6,000,000,000 - 48.45%  Exploration for coal (b)
EERAESR 6,000,000,000E1/E /& and iron ore
HMRERRERA
Step Pacific Development Bv US$10,000 51% - Investment holding (@)
Limited RBHRES 10,000% 7T REER
Stabil Megamas Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia RM10,000 - 51% Investment holding @
BRAED 10,000 5% RERR
PTLM Indonesia RPH10,000,000,000 - 50.50%  Exploration for (©)
HEERR 10,000,000,000 ENfEE manganese
B
Nice Tone Enterprises Limited BVI N US$10,000 100% - Investment holding (d)
RBHEREE 10,0003 7T REAER
Victory Dragon Holdings Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$6,000,000 - 51%  Investment holding (),
HEEEERAA 57 6,000,0005 7T REER
Long Chuan The PRC US$1,400,000 - 51%  Extraction and bottling  (g)
gl F 1,400,000 T of mineral water
REURERERK
Chinese Loong Culture Hong Kong HK$1 100% - Dormant )
Development Group Limited & 18T Tmex

PEEEREEERAF
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17 Investments in Subsidiaries (continueq) 17 RAMIBARNKRE &)

Notes:

(a) Audited by Baker Tilly Monteiro Heng.

(b) Audited by Johan, Malonda, Mustika and Rekan.
(c) Audited by Achmad, Rasyid Hisbullah & Jerry.

(d) No separate financial statements were prepared as it is not required
to issue audited financial statements under the local statutory
requirements.

(e) Audited by Solarmark (HK) C.P.A. Company Limited (“Solarmark”).

® Consolidated financial statements, including Long Chuan, were
audited by Solarmark.

©) Audited by IR HBE A NS FTRIBISAT.
(h) Reviewed by Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited.

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment. In light
of the continuing operating loss of the Group’s operations
in (i) the mining of dolomite and manufacture of
magnesium, (i) the exploration for iron ore, coal and
manganese, and (i) extraction and bottling of mineral
water, the directors of the Company have reviewed the
carrying amounts of the investments in subsidiaries and
assessed the recoverability of the amounts due from
subsidiaries. Consequently, impairment losses of
HK$137,444,367 (2012: HK$140,531,695) and
HK$18,455,919 (2012: HK$267,337,840), respectively,
have been recognised during the year in respect of these
two items.

In 2012, the Group lost contact with the legal
representative of PTLM. This brought to a halt to the daily
operations and mining activities of PTLM. During the year
ended 31 December 2013, re-nominating the legal
representative according to the relevant legal requirements
of Indonesia was being undertaken. Subsequent to 31
December 2013 and up to the approval date of the
consolidated financial statements, the re-nomination has
not yet been completed.

Victory Dragon Holdings Limited, a 51% owned subsidiary
of the company, has material non-controlling interests
(“NCI”). The NCI of all other subsidiaries that are not 100%
owned by the Group are considered to be immaterial by
the directors. Summarised financial information in relation
to the NCI of Victory Dragon Holdings Limited, before
inter-group eliminations, is presented as below:

M &

(@ 4% Baker Tilly Monteiro Heng 4% °

(o) #& Johan, Malonda, Mustika and Rekan 1% °
() #€ Achmad, Rasyid Hisbullah & Jerry #1Z ©

() AR IR E A E AR TE BATIEEFEMRE - S
ERRE MIERE

© EIER (BB grtel EBMARAR ([ER) &Fi -

® RapBmE - 2EE)l - KERAEX -

[©) AR AEA KGRI EBHATEE -
(@) ERBBEEMEEMERARFERN -

BB R RFIBEAEER 28 AEETER
H o R AKE()FARBEAREESESE (i) #)
FHEBEA - EREE ARGV EREENER
KREBHFELERBIE  AARERCEHIRE
MEARMEEE  WERAFATGHRERMNEA
AIFERMATRESRE - At - NARIFZMIEE
B RF NFERREE RS 5137,444,367 B (=
T — — 4 1 140,531,695) # 7T & 18,455,919 7%
T(ZT— =% : 267,337,840/ 7T) °

RIZE—ZF AEBEPTIMAEER KL E
4% o S PTLM A A B8 & MRS BB AERS
ME - BE-ZT—=F+_A=+—HILFE "
ERENEREEZREENREEERER - RN
T =F+ A=+ BHEREERAUH
wERBEB L - EFIRAMARTER ©

RRABEEI R RNV BAREEEAR
NAGEBEA IR ([ FRERiEas ) - 3k
BMASEZERANMA L MINE QR R IEE
BRESRESE/ALTEX - ERIEEEER
RANEEREHEANMEERRZZ25)0T
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17 Investments in Subsidiaries (continued)

18

138

17 RBATRINERE (&)

2013 2012
—E-= —E——fF
HK$ HK$
BT BIT
Year ended 31 December: BZE+-BA=1t—HLFE:
Revenue WA 4,802,700 2,148,220
Loss for the year FREHE (11,823,039) (5,239,629)
Total comprehensive loss ZHEEEERE (12,031,470) (5,239,629)
Loss allocated to NCI Dl E IEE R S A 1B (5,793,289) (466,506)
Dividends paid to NCI B SR ERR R IRE - -
Net cash (used in)/generated from KRR (BE),/ e
operating activities R FHE (15,514) 4,224,869
Net cash used in investing activities WEXBHARE F5E (167,326) (3,984,211)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and BekBELEEMORLD), LM
cash equivalents HEE (182,840) 240,658
At 31 December: R+=—B=+—8:
Non-current assets SEMEBNEE 6,537,796 7,033,334
Current assets mENEE 6,552,977 4,341,208
Current liabilities mENBE (30,211,501) (15,559,484)
Net assets BEFE (17,120,728) (4,184,947)
Accumulated NCI RE IR ER (8,389,157) (2,050,623)

Inventories

(@  Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial

position comprise:

18 BFE

(@ EHREMBMRRTPNFERRE:

The Group
AEE

2013 2012
—E-—= —E——4F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Raw materials B 2,772,702 6,770,260
Work-in-progress S 179,761 192,484
Finished goods BIRK B 2,436,310 3,495,457
5,388,773 10,458,201
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18 Inventories (continued)

(b)

The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense and included in profit or loss is as
follows:

18 FH#)
() MHREAIVHABESHNTFESEITWN
T

The Group
AEE
2013 2012
—E2—= —T——F
HK$ HK$
B ABIT
Carrying amount of inventories sold EEFEREE (7))

(Note 7(d) 46,113,638 54,039,300
Write down of inventories FEMOR 952,452 645,177
Write off of inventories (Note 7(c)) FEiE (HE7e) 135,510 18,112,419

47,201,600 72,796,896
Because of fluctuations in the market price of BRFEFRNENTELERY R_E—=F
magnesium during the year, there was a significant F+Z A=+ —BEEMERFENER
reduction in the net realisable value of inventories as D A F RMOR T E 952,452 T (=8

at 31 December 2013. As a result, a write down of
inventories of HK$952,452 (2012: HK$645,177) was
made at year end.

During the year ended 31 December 2013, raw
materials of HK$135,510 was written off. This was
because these materials used for manufacturing
bottling water had been deteriorated tremendously
and could not be used as assessed by the
management of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, work-in-
progress of approximately HK$17,736,000 was
written off. This was because these goods were
manufactured long ago did not undergo further
refining process which had become oxidized and
could not be further refined into commercially
saleable goods. The delay in refining was due to the
refining workshop was undergoing upgrading and
some important spare parts were pending for
change. Finished goods of approximately
HK$376,000 were written off due to quality of these
goods had deteriorated tremendously and could not
be saleable as assessed by the management of the
Company.

ZE BABATTETT) ©

BE-_Z—=F+-A=1+—B81tFE"
R4 135,510 T E M SH - b Th A #%
EHREBREKOMBERESRWL I
KARRERETHAEELER -

HE-_Z——F#+-A=+—H01LtFE"
H A MR 4917,736,000 7 7 2SS - by
HRZESEMCRRBRIEMMARET
E—SIERBRE  WEwaElt  miiE—
WIRRKEELAEEER - BRBIELE
EIHRNBRERETAREETEEST
B ek - 2K M 49376,000%8 T B
Wi W ERZEEMMNEEERESR
1t WEARBER BT BELEE -
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19 Trade Receivables 19 BUYWERRX
The Group

AEE
2013 2012
—E—= —E—_F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Trade receivables JEUR BR FX 434,787 1,975,723

All of the trade receivables are expected to be recovered TEEAPT A FEW R F R —F ALY E -

within one year.

(@) Ageing analysis (a)
An ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on
the invoice date, is as follows:

ARl oA

REBEEZ DM RYERTRE ST

The Group
AEH
2013 2012
—_E-= —_F—=
HK$ HKS$
BT BT
Current, neither past due nor impaired ~ BHA - 3t 38 ER kR (E 148,140 -
Less than 1 month past due wmE DR —{E A 82,075 1,663,093
1 month to 2 months past due B —EA=mEAR 32,086 116,691
More than 2 months but less than & BER i A 1 A
12 months past due BLR+ @A 172,486 195,939
Amounts past due mHASER 286,647 1,975,723
Total FEE 434,787 1,975,723

Trade receivables derived from sales of magnesium
ingots are due within 5 days (2012: 15 days) from
the date of the bill of lading for exports sales or date
of invoice for local sales. Other than that the Group
has a policy of allowing customers for domestic
trading and distribution in the PRC with credit terms
of normally cash on delivery.

Further details on the Group’s credit policy are set
out in Note 34(b).
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19 Trade Receivables (continued)

20

(a)

(b)

Ageing analysis (continued)

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
related to independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past
experience, the directors of the Company believed
that no impairment allowance was necessary in
respect of these balances as there had not been a
significant change in credit quality and the balances
were still considered fully recoverable. The Group
does not hold any collateral over these balances.

At 31 December 2013, none of trade receivables
(2012: Nil) were pledged as security for banking
facilities granted to the Group.

19 BUWRRM (&)

(a)

(b)

B 2T ()
WEBHSRE 2 BREHERNTEBR
HREBCHZBIEPER - REBEL
B ARBEFMHRE HUFEHRBAE
HRERE RERKEELARIEERE
8 BERMGSHRIDER ST 2HKE - K
SEEB I F RS EIERm -

R-ZE—=F+-_A=+—8  TEEK
BER(ZE——F:®\)BTEH  EAE
BRFAEBIRITRENIERS -

Prepayments, Deposits and Other 20 FEMNRIE- - REREMEWRFIE
Receivables
The Group The Company
F5H b NS
2013 2012 2013 2012
—E-=F —E-—F —E-=F —T-—F
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT B BT
Other receivables Hofth IR 873,671 1,116,407 6,600 6,600
Advance payment to a contractor m—REBEBER
(Note 20(a)) (B3 20()) 15,901,699 17,026,976 - -
Deposits for purchase of property, B EW¥ « BEL®E
plant and equipment ke 5,131,402 3,720,176 - 1,000,000
Prepayments for raw materials and R B TE R 508
machinery (Note 20(b)) (Fft 5% 20(0)) 6,562,868 7,001,389 - -
Deposits and prepayments Be RANRE 4,855,686 6,727,941 2,400,203 784,923
33,325,326 35,592,889 2,406,803 1,791,523
Less: Impairment losses: A RERE
— advance payment to — [~ REBEHER
a contractor (Note 20(a)) (i 20(a)) (15,901,699)  (17,026,976) - -
— prepayments for — REREENEN
raw materials and A (M3 20(0))
machinery (Note 20(b)) (6,562,868) (7,001,389) - -
10,860,759 11,564,524 2,406,803 1,791,523
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20 Prepayments, Deposits and Other

Receivables (continued)

Apart from certain of the Group’s deposits and
prepayments of HK$2,236,053 (2012: HK$5,519,869) as
at 31 December 2013, and of the Company’s deposits
and prepayments of HK$216,084 (2012: HK$336,483) as
at 31 December 2013, the remaining prepayments,
deposits and other receivables of the Group and the
Company are expected to be recovered or recognised as
expenses within one year.

(@)

In prior years, the Group advanced a total of
HK$15,901,699 (2012: HK$17,026,976) to a
contractor for ratification works in the production
plant of magnesium ingots in Malaysia. This
contractor was put under creditor’s winding up in
2012. The Group’s management assessed the
recoverability of these advances was remote and
had made a full provision against them as at 31
December 2013 and 2012.

In prior years, the Group has made prepayments of
HK$6,562,868 (2012: HK$7,001,389) to an entity for
purchase of raw materials and machinery. No goods
and/or machinery have been received by the Group
from that entity in settlement of the prepayments
made. The Group’s management assessed the
recoverability of these prepayments was remote after
suspension of the production plant in Malaysia, and
thus a full provision against them has been made as
at 31 December 2013 and 2012.

20 FEME

RIH - RERAEMERE

RIR ()

BAEBR -_Z—=F+_A=+—HHET
e RIEN FRIE2,236,0538 T( 8T — —F
5,519,8698 1) A R AN R RIMIE & R IB A B
216,084 7L (=& — Z 4 : 336,483/5 L) 5 -
TEEASKE R ARG MERTENZUE BeRE
fhEW R IE BN — F AR E S ER AR

@ MNBEFE FEBEHRFREENHEEL
ERFEORA TiEM —2ARERRNEH
15,901,699 7L(—F— 4 : 17,026,976
BIL) c ZEREBBER _E-_FHRER
NEH - REEEEEN T RO ZRHR
MgEEEM YTER-_Z—=FKk_
——FTZA=T—RER2HEE -

() MBAFE AEEREERMREER
— R E §8 X 78 1~ 5R1H 6,562,868 % 7T (=
T— — 4 17,001,389/ 7T) c BRI
WEREEREYEEER  ASETE
EREZEREMNAZNOTENRENE

MERR/ I REEE fir‘rﬁmu&z
@&t#ﬁﬁ RIEMEEEM - tERZ
—=EN T —F+-_A=+— ElT’Eﬁ
SR -

21 Contingent Consideration Receivable 21 EWHRARE
The Group
TEE
2013 2012
—E-= —E——F
HK$ HKS$
BT BT
Contingent consideration receivable FEN SR RAE - 2,699,019
The amount represented the contingent consideration HARBEHERWEY S EE S (B HE270)
relating to the acquisition of Victory Dragon Group (see %33)

142
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22

23

Pledged Deposit

The Group’s deposit of HK$2,968 (2012: HK$14,833) is
pledged to a bank for loan facilities granted to the Group
(see Note 28).

As at 31 December 2013 and 2012, the Company did not
have any pledged deposits.

Assets Classified as Held for Sale
Pursuant to an agreement dated 16 October 2013 entered
into between the Company and an independent third party
(the “Purchaser”), the Company disposed of 100% equity
interest in CVM International Limited (“CVMI”), to the
Purchaser at a consideration of US$1,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$7,753,940). CVMI and its subsidiaries, CVM
Minerals Indonesia Sdn. Bhd., PTCV Coal and PTCV Iron
(collectively “CVMI Group”), are principally engaged in the
business of exploration of minerals namely iron ore, coal
and manganese in Aceh of Indonesia. The assets and
liabilities attributable to CVMI Group, which are expected
to be sold within six months from the date of this sale and
purchase agreement, have been classified as a disposal
group held for sale and are presented separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The net
proceeds of sale are expected to be lower than the
carrying amount of the related net assets and, accordingly,
an impairment loss related to exploration and evaluation
assets of HK$87,500,000 as mentioned in Note 15(b) was
recognised, neither when the operation was re-classified
as held for sale nor at the end of the reporting period. The
disposal was completed on 3 April 2014.

22

23

BEREX

AEE2,968 0 (=T —Z4F : 14,8338 L) &
GRERAEERENE R E MK FET
(RMzE28) °

R-ZE—=FER - F——F+-A=+—0 K
DA ET A EFRFR -

PEABEGEERE
BEAAREBIE=ZFTER DT LAEA
ZE—=F+ A+ B0%H  ARAAE A
£ CVM International Limited ([CVMI) 8] 2 &B i%
# + R {& & 1,000,000 3 7T (16 & 72 7,753,940 7%
JC ) c CVMIA K E Bf B A 51CVM Minerals
Indonesia Sdn. Bhd. * PTCV Coal &zPTCV Iron (%t
BICWIEE]) FBHEDEA K =Y (AN
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LKBEBEESEARBEHEHESREE  WRERAEY
BARRERHHZRS - SHEMERIEFHEEHE
RIAFEEEFEMNREE - Bt - WIEREKE
ENOBEAREREINREHARERM T
15(0) T 3L 75 B8 B R & T 14 B E 8 R E B 1B
87,500,000/ 7T « ZHENEFHER T —MF
mA=A%MK -
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23 Assets Classified as Held for Sale 23 DERFEFSEEE®
(continued)
The major classes of assets and liabilities comprising CVMI RZE—Z=ZF+-_A=+—H 2HERBEFE
Group classified as held for sale as at 31 December 2013 HRLCVMIEBMEZEERBEERNOT

are as follows:

The Group
REE
2013
—g-=
HK$
BT
Assets BE
Property, plant and equipment (Note 13) LIE Jﬂ%& St (F5E13) 120,874
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERRUE - 2o REMBEWGRIA 212,590
Cash and cash equivalents e &fﬁ EFEY 6,606
Assets classified as held for sale NDIEEEBEFEELE 340,070
Liabilities =N
Accrued expenses and other payables FERTR S R E A B 3R 2,819,092
Liabilities classified as held for sale DEABEGFERE 2,819,092
Net liabilities of CVMI Group classified as held for sale CVMI £ @ 5 58 A1 {ES & B &S 8 (2,479,022)
24 Trade and Other Payables 24 BEAERRREMENSIE
The Group The Company
rEE KATF
2013 2012 2013 2012
—EB-=F —E--F —EB-=F —T——F
HK$ HKS HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Trade payables JERTERX 278,104 166,144 - -
Accrued exploration expenses [ETEVIRFI - 2,697,387 - -
Accrued interest on bank loans fEﬁE RIEETFI S 47,929,022 27,720,475 - -
Accrued interest on BIREEFETFIS
unsecured loans 31,037,242 7,002,677 31,037,242 7,002,677
Accrued interest on AHRREHETE
convertible bonds 7,608,222 3,220,000 7,608,222 3,220,000
Accrued salaries [EitE & 2,190,413 1,845,841 852,283 794,714
Provision for litigation settlement KNER B - 2,325,420 - 2,325,420
Other payables and accrued Hfth FE TR R B
expenses 21,387,863 7,439,832 5,888,907 2,249,391

110,430,866 52,407,776 45,386,654 15,592,202
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24 Trade and Other Payables (continued) 24 ERERRHEMESREE)
All of the above payables are expected to be settled or TEH E T B BN RIEB R — F NS B RER
recognised as income within one year, or are repayable on BUA - SBEREKIEEE -
demand.
An ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice FERTEE BRSO TIN T
date, is as follows:
The Group
rEE
2013 2012
—E—-= —_F—=
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Current BNER 53,262 90,095
Due within 3 months 31E A AEIE 4,315 -
Due after 3 months but within 12 months 3 1@ B 1218 12 {& A A E/ &8 220,527 66,049
278,104 156,144
25 Obligations under Finance Leases 25 REHEHRE
(a) The Group (@) &=&KEH
At 31 December 2013, the Group had obligations RZE—=F+ZA=+—8  ~5EH
under finance leases repayable as follows: JEEERMEMEAENT :
2013 2012
—E-=F —E——F
Present value Present value
of the Total of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments

REEE REEE EHE REHEE
NHHRE R E NHRE I3 E

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

BT BT BT BT

Within 1 year —FR 413,972 453,773 1,094,496 1,201,872
After 1 year but within 2 years  —ZE {418 T4 324,368 346,926 756,341 804,263
After 2 years but within 5 years MEBBRER 272,164 282,145 620,384 654,767
596,532 629,071 1,376,725 1,459,030

1,010,504 1,082,844 2,471,221 2,660,902

Less: total future interest RN Sl SNk
expenses (72,340) (189,681)
Present value of lease MEFRERE
obligations 1,010,504 2,471,221
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25 Obligations under Finance Leases 25 RIEHEEREE)
(continued)
(b) The Company (b) &FAH

146

At 31 December 2013, the Company had obligations
under finance leases repayable as follows:

R=B—=F+=A=+—8 KRTH
EEERARERRDT

2013 2012
—B-=F —T—F
Present value Present value
of the Total of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
REHRE RIEHEE REMEE REMRE
HRHRE HRAE NHHRE NHEBE
HK$ HK$ HKS HK$
BT BT BT BT
Within one year —F R 175,236 187,140 169,157 187,140
After 1 year but within 2 years  —FEEMRFER 181,314 187,140 175,236 187,140
After 2 years but within 5 years FIE/£1B LER 77,341 77,975 258,655 265,115
258,655 265,115 433,891 452,255
433,891 452,255 603,048 639,395
Less: total future interest A RIS A5
expenses (18,364) (36,347)
Present value of lease MERERE
obligations 433,891 603,048

The policies of the Group and the Company are to
lease certain of its motor vehicles and furniture and
fittings under finance leases expiring in 4 years and 3
years, respectively (2012: 2 to 5 years and 4 years,
respectively). As at 31 December 2013, the effective
borrowing rate of the Group and the Company was
in a range from 1.8% p.a. to 3.68% p.a. and 1.8%
p.a., respectively (2012: a range from 1.8% p.a. to
3.68% p.a. and 1.8% p.a., respectively). Interest
rates are fixed at the contract dates and thus expose
the Group and the Company to fair value interest
rate risk. All leases are on a fixed repayment basis
and no arrangements have been entered into for
contingent rental payments. At the end of each lease
term, the Group and the Company have an option to
purchase the motor vehicles and furniture and fittings
at nominal prices.
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26 Amounts Due From/(To) Related Parties 26 FEW (EN)BEESRESRIE

and a Director

The Group The Company
FEE YN

2013 2012 2013 2012
—E-=F —E—-F —E-=F —T——fF
HK$ HKS HK$ HKS$
BT BT BT BT
Trading account Z5EP (2,229,650) (621,651) - -
Current account BEEF (4,730,684)  (1,022,092) (628,790) -
(6,960,334) (1,643,743 (628,790) -

Classified as: DB
Amount due from a related party e —Z @ H A 9,476 - - -
Amount due to a director B —REEE (628,790) - (628,790) -
Amounts due to related parties [EREER A (6,341,020)  (1,643,743) - -
(6,969,810) (1,643,743 (628,790) -
Total it (6,960,334)  (1,643,743) (628,790) -

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and have no

fixed terms of repayment.

An amount due from a related party disclosed pursuant to

FZAAREER 2R BEBETEERY -

RIBEBEB A FHEBIE 161BIRFTIRE - BIR—%

section 161B of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is RAETFIEAT ¢
as follows:
The Group
FEE
Maximum
amount
Balance at Balance at outstanding
31 December 1 January during
Name Term of loan 2013 2013 the year
R-B—=%
+t=ZA=+—-8H R=—Z—-=F% FREREER
218 ERER M —BA—BRNER REetH
HKS HKS$ HK$
BT BT BT
HWG Tin Mining Sdn. Bhd. Interest-free, unsecured and 9,476 - 9,476

(“HWGTM”)
HWG Tin Mining Sdn. Bhd.
(THWGTM])

HWGTM is a subsidiary of Ho Wah Genting Berhad which

is a shareholder of the Company.

has no fixed terms of repayment
28 BEREEE

HWGTM & 78 72 7] J% B Ho Wah Genting Berhad

BB AR o
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27 Convertible Bonds

148

(@)

On 1 September 2011, the Company entered into a
placing agreement with a placing agent, Cheong Lee
Securities Limited for the issue of convertible bonds
with maturity date on the third anniversary of the
date of issue for an aggregate principal amount of
HK$80,000,000. The convertible bonds bear interest
at 10% p.a. payable annually and are unsecured. As
at the end of reporting period, the aggregate
principal amount of convertible bonds being available
was HK$80,000,000 (2012: HK$80,000,000).

The bondholders at any time before maturity can
convert the whole or part of the principal amount of
the convertible bonds into ordinary shares of the
Company at the conversion price of HK$0.10 per
share. As a result of the said share consolidation in
Note 31(b)(iii), the conversion price of outstanding
convertible bonds of the Company was adjusted
from HK$0.10 per share to HK$0.40 per share with
effect on 29 July 2013 retrospectively.

Upon maturity any unredeemed and unconverted
bonds will be redeemed at par value of the
outstanding principal amount in cash.

The convertible bonds may be early redeemed at par
value of the outstanding principal amount of the
bond at any time at the option of the Company up to
maturity provided that the Company has given not
less than 7 business days’ prior notice to the
bondholder(s) of its intention to make that
redemption.
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27 Convertible Bonds (continued) 27 ABRESE)
(@  (continued) @ (&)
The net proceeds received from the issuance of the BT BMRESEREFEE Y AAE
convertible bonds have been split into the liability B R EBH AT

and equity components, as follows:

Drawdown date 2December 2011 30 December 2011 16 January 2012 5March2012 23 March 2012
ROAH 5--f 5--F §-F §-CF §-CF
+=A=A t-A=tA -Bt#A =RER ZB=1=H
Drawdown amount HK$26,000,000 HK$17,000,000 HK$10,000,000 HK$10,000,000 HK$17,000,000
ENSE %,000000%%  17,000000%%  10000,000%%  10000000#7% 17,000,000 %7
Tranche 1 Tranche 2 Tranche 3 Tranche 4 Tranche 5 Total
-4 a1 1 Em Ehib Eh
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT BT BT iy BT BT
A1 January 2012 R-5--%-f-A 16,119,801 10,039,572 - - - 26,159,373
Nominel value of convertile bonds issued  BE 7T Tk ESAE - - 10,000,000 10,000,000 17,000,000 37,000,000
Capitalisation of transaction costs REHAER - - 250,000) 250,000) 425,000) 925,000)
Equty component 58 - - (1640.925) (1,783.275) (2,789.475) 6:213675)
Liabilty component BEIR 16,119,801 10,039572 8,100,075 7966,725 13,785,505 56,020,698
Inferest charged LS 5,177,802 3,395,510 1,367,436 1,206,999 1,890,225 13,037,972
Inerest paid Bftflg (2,600,000) (1,700,000) - - - (4,300,000
Liabilty component as at R-E-—%+-f=1-H
31 December 2012 HaEdh 18,697,603 11,735,082 9476511 9,173,724 15,675,750 64,758,670
At dauary 2013 R-2-25-A-A 18,697,608 11,735,082 9476511 9173724 16,575,750 64758670
Inferest charged kS 5,989,404 3,958,109 1,661,767 1,679,804 2,162,441 16,051,526
Inerest paid Bftflg (2,600,000) (1,700,000) (1,000,000) (1,000,000) (1,700,000 (6,000,000)
Liabilty component as at RZF-=E+Zf=1-A
31 December 2013 HaEdn 22,087,007 13,993,191 10,138,278 9,853,528 16,738,191 72,810,195
At 31 December 2013, convertible bonds are due RZZF—=F+ZA=+—8 " JRKRE
for repayment as follows: FHRAT BRI B HR(E R -
2013 2012
—E—-= —_F—=
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Within 1 year —FR 36,080,198 -
After 1 year but within 2 years —FIRERFA 36,729,997 30,432,685
After 2 years but within 5 years RFBERFA - 34,325,985
36,729,997 64,758,670
72,810,195 64,758,670
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27 Convertible Bonds (continued)

150

(@)

(continued)

The interest charged for the year is calculated by
applying an effective interest rate with a range from
17.54% p.a. to 33.73% p.a. (2012: 17.54% p.a. to
33.73% p.a.) to the liability component for the
number of days to the end of reporting period since
the bonds were issued.

The directors of the Company estimate the fair value
of the liability component of the convertible bonds as
at 31 December 2013 to be approximately
HK$72,793,000 (2012: HK$67,007,000). This fair
value has been calculated by discounting the future
cash flows at the market rate.

On 18 April 2012, the Company issued convertible
bonds with maturity date on the fifth anniversary of
the date of issue for an aggregate principal amount
of HK$106,840,000 as part consideration for the
acquisition of Victory Dragon Group (see Note 33).
The convertible bonds bear interest at 5% p.a.
payable annually and are unsecured.

The bondholder of the convertible bonds at any time
before maturity can convert the whole or part of the
principal amount of the convertible bonds in whole
multiples of HK$1,000,000 into ordinary shares of
the Company at a fixed conversion price of
HK$0.126 per share. As a result of the said share
consolidation in Note 31(b)(iii), the conversion price
of outstanding convertible bonds of the Company
was adjusted from HK$0.126 per share to HK$0.504
per share with effect on 29 July 2013 retrospectively.

Upon maturity any unredeemed and unconverted
bonds will be redeemed at par value of the
outstanding principal amount in cash.

The Company may at any time before the maturity
date early redeem the convertible bonds.

On 15 January 2013, the convertible bonds in the
principal amount of HK$43,840,000 were converted
into 347,936,507 ordinary shares of the Company at
HK$0.025 each.
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27 Convertible Bonds (continued)

(b)

(continued)

Pursuant to an agreement signed for acquisition of
51% of the issued share capital of Victory Dragon
Group, Voice Key Group Limited (“First Vendor”) and
the guarantor, Mr. Chu Yuk Lung (the “Guarantor”)
irrevocably warrant and guarantee to the Group that
the audited consolidated net profit after tax and any
extraordinary and exceptional items (“Audited Profit”)
of Victory Dragon Group will not be less than
RMB30,000,000 (“Guaranteed Profit”) for the period
of twelve months commencing from the date of
completion of the acquisition (“Guaranteed Period”).

If the Guaranteed Profit is not achieved for the
Guaranteed Period, the Group will be entitled to
deduct from the outstanding principal amount of the
convertible bonds on a dollar for dollar basis which
is equivalent to the difference between the Audited
Profit and Guaranteed Profit. If Victory Dragon Group
record a consolidated net loss after tax and any
extraordinary and exceptional items for the
Guarantee Period, the Group will be entitled to
deduct from the outstanding principal amount of the
convertible bonds which is equivalent to an amount
of the summation of the loss and the Guaranteed
Profit provided that the maximum compensation
amount shall not exceed HK$50,000,000.

The First Vendor (i.e. the bondholder) agrees that
unless and until the delivery of the consolidated
audited financial statements of Victory Dragon Group
for the Guarantee Period showing that the
Guaranteed Profit has been fulfilled, it will not
convert, transfer or dispose of the convertible bonds
such that the outstanding principal amount of the
convertible bonds shall be less than HK$50,000,000
or otherwise cause the outstanding principal amount
of the convertible bonds below HK$50,000,000.

27

RRES #)

(0)

(%)

RES B S B R B B B 1T AN AI 51%
5] 2 % » Voice Key Group Limited([ 5
—EH ) RERARAELSE(TERAD
R HEH b A AN R R GE IE R - SRS
E B FEA U EE B BB ET 12 8 A BRI (TR &
) 2 B AT RAT AR R FEE B IE B
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BAERRSRRASEEG TBRESNR
BEATRETHRASNEE D M R
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27 Convertible Bonds (continued)

152

o)

(continued)

On 30 August 2013, the directors of the Company
announced the audited financial statements of
Victory Dragon Group for the Guarantee Period
showed a net loss after tax and any extraordinary
and exceptional items of HK$8,228,917. Based on
the exchange rate at that time, the Guarantee Profit
was HK$38,090,401 (equivalent to
RMB30,000,000), and hence, the actual shortfall
between the audited net loss and the Guarantee
Profit was HK$46,319,318. As such on 16 October
2013, the convertible bonds in the principal amount
of HK$46,319,318 was cancelled and deducted.

As at the end of reporting period, the principal
amount of convertible bonds being available was
HK$16,680,682 (2012: HK$106,840,000).

The net proceeds received from the issuance of the
convertible bonds have been split into the liability
and equity components, as follows:

27

AR ES (@)

(b)

(%)

RZZE—=fFN\A=1+H KXRAEET
S EEEENMR BN CEZT BRE
B BEEESERBI AT RSk
M IEAEE I8 B 12 85185 588,228,917 /87T ©
LERRNERE - (RERT 538,090,401
BT (HEE R AR30,000,0007T) © EHitt, -
KEZEBFARRREZN ANERE
¥0/546,319,318%8 L - Bt - AT —=
F+A+B X£% 546,319,318 T
2R ESF DT RING -

RERE IR - Al ERE AT R R E S AR
& ¥ 516,680,682 L ( — & — — F:
106,840,000 7T) ©

BOOBMBRESAEREFEEC O REE
BB MR A AT

Liability Equity

component component Total

=Rt ERDH st

HKS HKS HK$

BIT BIT BIT

Issue of convertible bonds ~ E1T AR {ES 62,514,000 44,326,000 106,840,000

Interest charged FMBEXH 7,768,100 - 7,768,100

At 31 December 2012 and AZE——F+-_A=+—H

1 January 2013 ;k=—ZF—=%—HF—H 70,282,100 44,326,000 114,608,100

Interest charged MEXH 3,310,892 - 3,310,892

Interest paid BFE (5,372,268) - (5,372,268)
Conversion of convertible i n] AL (S 5

bonds (29,024,400) (18,188,430) (47,212,830)
Repayment of convertible EEBEES

bonds (28,361,731) (19,217,054) (47,578,785)

At 31 December 2013

The interest for the year is calculated by applying an
effective interest rate of 17.58% p.a. (2012: 17.58%)
to the liability component for the number of days to
the end of reporting period since the bonds were
issued.
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27 Convertible Bonds (continued) 27 ABRESE)
(b)  (continued) () (&)
The directors of the Company estimate the fair value RAREEFEHFARZE—Z=ZF1+=A
of the liability component of the convertible bonds as = t+—HUBRBRESAEDIMHNAFEY
at 31 December 2013 to be approximately 7$10,104,000 % 7T(=ZF — =4 : 60,126,000
HK$10,104,000 (2012: HK$60,126,000). This fair BIT) o R AFAETVETISFIREEE R KR
value has been calculated by discounting the future EREFTE o
cash flows at the market rate.
28 Bank Loans — Secured 28 HFHHEMRITER
The Group rEE
2013 2012
“E-ZF “T-CF
Less: Less:
Nominal  unamortised Nominal  unamortised
value costs Total value Costs Total
W RE e
HE AR fst A SR &
HK$ HK$ HKS HK$ HK$ HKS
B B B B B B
Bank loans, secured BERRTER 408,669,115  (2,337,386) 406,331,720 437,588,368  (2,926,620) 434,661,748

At 31 December 2013, interest bearing bank loans are due
for repayment as follows:

RZZE—=F+-A=+—0 ' #BETEZXR
AT ERRS B R -

2013 2012
—E—= T F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Portion of term loans due for repayment —FREIBEENERERSHS
within 1 year 82,863,708 -

Term loans due for repayment after

one year:
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMFA
After 2 years but within 5 years MERBRFA
After 5 years hF%

—FRIAMEENFHER

90,316,599 82,704,194
233,151,422 298,109,130
- 53,848,424

323,468,021 434,661,748

406,331,729 434,661,748
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28

154

Bank Loans — Secured (continued) 28 BEMBITERE)

The amounts due are based on the scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreement and ignore the effect
of any repayment on demand clause.

NS ENRERGEARE T EEE AR
% A R R BRI R PR -

2013 2012
—Eg—= —EF——
HK$ HK$
BT ABIT
Transaction costs R & B
Cost: A
At 1 January »—HA—H 9,934,307 9,609,383
Exchange adjustments D 3, 5 B (656,536) 324,924
At 31 December Rt+=—A=+—H 9,277,771 9,934,307
Accumulated amortisation: R
At 1 January n—A—H 7,007,687 6,368,514
Amortisation for the year Y 411,611 424,157
Exchange adjustments B 3, 5 2 (478,913) 215,016
At 31 December Rt+=—A=+—H 6,940,385 7,007,687
Unamortised transaction costs RS FHAAK 2,337,386 2,926,620

The secured bank loans as at 31 December 2013 are
interest bearing at 8.6% p.a. (2012: 8.6% p.a.). These
bank loans were restructured on 25 July 2011 by Bank
Rakyat. In accordance with the restructured bank loan
agreement, the Group is required to repay the bank loans
by monthly instalment of RM670,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,586,032) with effect from August 2011 to December
2013 and increasing to RM4,200,000 (equivalent to
HK$9,942,287) from January 2014 to the second last
repayment of the loans in 2018.

CVM MINERALS LIMITED Annual Report 2013

R-E—=%F+-"A=+—HWAEEPRTE
FIRFREL.6% (ZT—Z4F : FHE8.6%) 5T
B o WERTEFN -_T——FtA-1+HAA
Bank Rakyat# 1T E 48 - IRBEFHRTEH W
#ASEAR-ZE——FNRAE=T—Z=
+Z RS A D HEERITE 670,000 5 ¥ (18
EmM1,586,032%8 L) WH-TE—WF—A=E
- \FNREF_BHERZBAEE
4,200,000 5 (1HE 729,942,287 & 7T) °
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28 Bank Loans — Secured (continued)
The bank loans are granted to CVMSB and secured by
way of:

U)

(i
(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil

()

a legal charge over the land and factory building to
be erected thereon held by CVMSB;

assignment of trade receivables;

a debenture creating fixed and floating legal charge
over all present and future assets of CVMSB
excluding the performance bonds;

assignment of all CVMSB's rights, entitlement and
interest in and to all building contracts, design
drawings and other contracts pertaining to the
magnesium ingot project (the “Project”);

an assignment of all CVMSB’s rights, benefits and
interest under insurance undertaken by CVMSB as
part of its operations for the Project;

an assignment over the existing revenue accounts
maintained at Bank Rakyat and monies standing to
the credit of the revenue account in favour of the
bank, the revenue accounts shall be operated solely
by the bank;

a first fixed charge/assignment over the retorts of
CVMSB;

an assignment over the insurance policies of the
retorts of CVMSB; and

any other securities as may be advised by the
appointed legal counsel.

28 FEHBRITER®E)
HEF CYMSB R ERITE FUL A T R ¢

() BLCVYMSBFI#EF L MIEE FEE Y RE
BADEFER

(i)  EEEAER

(i) FLCVMSBATEIRABE RARKREE(TRERE
HRT) RLEE R B A E IR ES

(v ®EmECVMSBREEEER (ZEBEREDE
BHMERTAA  ReTBERIREMAL
B —UIHER - TR NES

V)  HECVMSBIEREKNKIER £H—H1
A BRI B — IR - 3 R3S

(vi)  [A1$R 17 ;& 7 Bank Rakyat (1 5% B9 18 B Uk
AFERZWAFPR#ERTIE - WAFER
SRITIRME

(vi) SECVMSBHIERER M E —EE K

g = &

]

(vii) EEFECVMSBRERIEMIREE : &

(X  PIREERBEREAERE O EREBER o
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Bank Loans — Secured (continued) 28 FEHBRITER®E)
All of the Group’s banking facilities are subject to the NEEAREITRE (B SR B R EHE
fulfilment of covenants, as are commonly found in lending NHERELE) A ESSRITEE - WASEEE
arrangements with financial institutions. If the Group was R#ZEZHE  ABREREECRANEE - K
to breach the covenants, the drawn down facilities would EEBRCYMSBE T ——F — A HLA
become payable on demand. The Group is required to SEEBERFTARELS: AHAEEEERY
comply with the covenants when CVMSB’s production B o R AE—PFBHNIES4E) - REZE
operation commences, which was in or around February ZE—=F+ZA=+—HBIEFEM  ~KEA
2011. Further details of the Group’s management of T -=F T -ARKREEERTERRER
liquidity risk are set out in Note 34(e). During the year Hh—iRITRERSE - ERABENE - A1
ended 31 December 2013, the Group defaulted on the 7] % £ 71 74 B Bank Rakyat 2 #1 5 B B A 15
repayments of bank loans since November 2013 and Ko WEEFER_T—OF_A=-+mA%E
breached one of the covenants of the banking facilities. R Bank Rakyat BB ER —FRERAEE T
Upon discovery of the breach, the directors of the —HFEF+ZA=Zt+—HmMAEHEARF R
Company commenced a renegotiation of the terms of the CVMSBiR I EEFHL - BEZT—WHF+ A
loans with Bank Rakyat. These negotiations have =+—HIEFE  CYMSBEEETADHER
concluded on 24 February 2014 whereby Bank Rakyat 670,000 5 # (8 & 7 1,586,032/8 T ) ° & 4R
agreed to extend a one year grace period without TEREER-_ZE—NF_A=-+\BEE -R®
executing legal proceeding against the Company and ZE-ZHFTZA=TtT—RH AEBUEERE
CVMSB until 31 December 2014. CVMSB is required to HIRAEEREEMNEE -
repay monthly instalment of RM670,000 (equivalent to
HK$1,586,032) for the year ending 31 December 2014.
The defaulted bank loans were subsequently repaid on 28
February 2014. As at 31 December 2012, none of the
covenants relating to the drawdown facilities had been
breached.
Unsecured Loans from Third Parties 29 REFE=FEEHFEX
The Group and the Company
REERKAT
2013 2012
—E-—= —E——F
HK$ HKS
BT BT
Within 1 year —FR 150,000,000 100,000,000
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREREAN - 50,000,000
150,000,000 150,000,000

The amounts due are based on the scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements which do not have a
repayment on demand clause.

On 13 June 2011, the Company entered into a loan
agreement with an independent third party for an
unsecured loan of HK$50,000,000 at an interest rate of
12% p.a. payable half-yearly. The loan is wholly repayable
on or before June 2014.

CVM MINERALS LIMITED Annual Report 2013

BB TR IR TY DAL 5 BE S 2 SRER IR BB
BPTERTEE N B HR%E -

RZZE——FXA+=Z8  ARAE—2BIF
= 77 550,000,000 7 T &) SEIK I ERET LB 5K
W FAERAE12%  BFEFI c BRARZ
T—UERNARZATEBEE -
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REF=FEEAER @)

29 Unsecured Loans from Third Parties 29

(continued)

On 12 February 2014, the Company successfully
negotiated with the lender with written confirmation to
defer the repayment by a year to 12 June 2015 and to
charge interest rate at 12% p.a. payable half-yearly with
effect on 13 June 2014.

On 14 October 2011, the Company entered into loan
agreements with four holders of convertible bonds,
pursuant to which the holders of convertible bonds agreed
to make available to the Company with aggregate loan
facilities of HK$100,000,000. The Company applied these
loans for repayment of the outstanding convertible bonds
issued by the Company in September 2010 in the principal
sum of respective amount and registered in the name of
the lenders. The unsecured loans are recognised initially at
fair value less attributable transaction costs. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the principal value of the
unsecured loans is approximate to its fair value. These
loans are unsecured, interest bearing at 15% p.a. payable
half-yearly and repayable within 12 months from the
drawdown date.

In March 2012, the Company successfully negotiated with
these four lenders in writing to defer the repayment by six
months and eighteen days to May 2013 and to charge
interest at 18% p.a. payable half-yearly with effect from
October 2012.

In March 2013, the Company has successfully negotiated
with these four lenders in writing to defer the repayment by
a year to April 2014 and to charge interest rate at 18% p.a.
payable half-yearly.

On 30 January 2014, the Company further successfully
negotiated with these four leaders to defer the repayment
by a year to 30 April 2015 and to charge interest rate at
18% p.a. payable half-yearly with effect on 1 May 2014.

On 21 March 2014, the Company successfully negotiated
with all of the above five lenders (collectively known as
“Lenders”) and entered into conditional Capitalisation
Agreements respectively in relation to, among others, the
set-off of each of the Lenders’ outstanding sum by way of
(i) the issue and allotment of Capitalisation Shares; and (ii)
the issue of Convertible Preference Shares (“CPS”).

The outstanding sum to the Lenders which comprises the
outstanding principal sum and unpaid interest amounts to
HK$181,037,242. (2012: HK$157,002,677) at the end of
reporting period.

RZZE—NMFE-F+-H ARRICKHEER
ANETHERTEMRER  SEFRHEE—FE2=
T-RAFAA+=-A ¥E-ZT-—WFEXA+=
HREZRFEMEA2%TERTEFER -

M-ZT——F+F+00H » AR E)EINE AR
BEAEIFEATLER GBS Bt - ATRRESRE
BAREMRARRRM#AE $£100,000,0005 T E
HEVE - AARERLEREREEARAIN-E
—DFENARTACEEAEESEIUER
ABHEBLH AR ESFNAREEFE - K
ERRVIARR AT EREGERZHAER &
AREERA  EEREFNASEHEEATE
BE - WEBERAEER - FFEA15% - §FF
BRRARRERE B 128 RNERK -

REZT—"%F=R  ARAIEKEZIZER
AEERE - BEFRRHERNEAZT+NARE
E—=FRA YA-T—_F+ARBEFNX
18% 5T B R B FEMN

RZZ—=F=F  ARESHINEZIHER
AEEHE  BERREER-—FE2_T—HOFN
R WIRFENEA8% T B R FFFER

R-ZT—MNFE—RA=1H "  ARACSKUE—F
HZNEERAETER  BERRBEE—F=
—ET-RFWUA=TH YEZZE—WFRAA—
FEIZEFEA18% T BN EFFFER -

REZT—ME=R—+—H  ARARKYE L
ERRBERA (B [ ERA D EHIL D FIFT
VYEGREERcHE REER(ETRE)E
B ()BT MBCEE AL ¢ R (i) AT SR e
SR (TATEREER DTN - BESBEX
AHIRIEEFR

X

REHER  BERERANKEERERELRE
ERSERANFE181,0372428 (= F
—# 1 157,002,677 8 7T) °

B
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Unsecured Loans from Third Parties 29 REF=FBEAERH)
(continued)
The Capitalisation Agreements and the transactions BERMbiE R R EETHR S (BEETRR
contemplated thereunder, including but not limited to the BT REBEEN D RETAERELER) A
issue and allotment of the Capitalisation Shares and the FEAEE) RAATRERTHE QB ERANKR
issue of the CPS shall be subject to, among others, the REFRIRE L% - HAMERE -
approval of the shareholders of the Company at an
Extraordinary General Meeting to be called at a later date.
Deferred Taxation 30 JRIEHIEA
The following are the major deferred tax balances INTARAEFERBEFERANEEZRTER
recognised and movements thereon during the current IBEEHRR S
and prior years:
The Group
rEH
Exploration
and evaluation
assets
BRI HEE
HK$
ATT
Deferred tax liabilities EEBHEE

At 1 January 2012
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 33)
Credit to profit or loss (Note 8(a))

At 31 December 2012

At 1 January 2013
Credit to profit or loss (Note 8(a))

At 31 December 2013

As at 31 December 2013, the Group has not recognised
deferred tax assets in respect of accumulated tax losses
of approximately HK$279,692,000 (2012:
HK$185,936,000) as it is not probable that future taxable
profits against which the losses can be utilised will be
available in the relevant tax jurisdictions. The tax losses do
not expire under current tax legislation. Other temporary
differences are not material.

As at 31 December 2013, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of approximately HK$73,908,000
(2012: HK$48,529,000). No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in relation to such deductible temporary
difference as it is not probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary
differences can be utilised.

CVM MINERALS LIMITED Annual Report 2013

R-ZE——F—H—H

R U B BT /B A R EE A (B 5E 33)
s AJE s (M 8(a)
RZE——F+=-A=+—H

R-TE—=F—H—H
T Bz (MisE8(a)

R-T—=F+-"A=+—H

(62,743,028)
(40,440,750)
30,564,021

(72,619,757)

(72,619,757)
40,558,183

(32,061,574)

MR RDEER AR T AR LR AT BIFE
PR HBERIARKERTOEN - AARER
CE =+ A=+ HRARRFRBE
$849279,692,000 % 7L(=F — =4 : 185,936,000
BT ERELCRAEE - RIFREBRBEN
BBERL R - R ERZRATERER -

MN-ZZE—ZF+-A=+—8  AEBHEAETH
SEUE RS 2= E #973,908,0008 T ( —FE — — 4 ¢
48,529,000 7T) © B A FERR B E FI 8 Al g St
YO AZSERNEEMGFE  UHERTERIEE
ERZAIRE R =2 MERR
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31 Capital and Reserves
(@) Movements in components of
equity
The reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of each component of the Group’s
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated

31 EXKfFHE

(a)

AEER B S

BRARBONER

B EB 1 B B2 A R A

BROHRHENRARESEHR - ARAR
(B #E SR AL AR AR 0 I A 4R [ BV 2= MR O 22

statement of changes in equity. Details of the EFFEBMT
changes in the Company’s individual components of
equity between the beginning and the end of the
year are set out below:
The Company b NN
Convertible
Share Share Capital Other  bond equity ~ Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
TERES
e RHEE ERfGifE Rt BERE ZitER @it
Notes HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
(i BT B BT BT B BT B
Nole(dfi)  MNoteldi)  Noie(dt)  (Nofe ()
(Mm@ HEOw)  (BEOm)
At1 January 2012 RmZE-ZE-f-H 87,942,014 571,799,438 1,338,136 33925000 16,197,675  (500,788,592) 210,413,671
Changes in equity for 2012: E-CEREREY:
Loss and total comprehensive loss ENEERZEFELE
for the year - - - - - (449937316  (449,937,316)
Shares issued pursuant to RERDEEMZANRA
ashare placing 310) 20,875,000 19,831,250 - - - - 40,706,250
Shares issued pursuant o BERERZINRR
an acquisition B 16,500,000 42,900,000 - - - - 59,400,000
Equity component of convertible bonds AR A ER B0 a - - - - 50539675 - 50539675
At 31 December 2012 RZE-ZF
TZA=+-B 126317014 634,530,688 1,338,136 33925000 66,737,350  (950,725908)  (88,877,720)
At1 January 2013 R=%-=F-A-H 125317,014 634,530,688 1,338,136 33,925,000 66,737,350  (950,725,908)  (88,877,720)
Changes in equity or 2013: “E-CFEREY:
Loss and total comprehensive loss ENEERZEFELE
for the year - - - - - (169474431)  (169,474,437)
Shares issued pursuant o BEROEEMETORE
ashare placing 310) 26,803,000 17,100,314 - - - - 43903314
Conversion of convertible bonds THRESSRERR 31(o) 8698413 38,514,417 - - (18,188,430) - 29,024,400
Repayment of convertiole bonds AARERNERTE 21) - - - - (19217054 - (19217,054)
At 31 December 2013 i id
T-A=t-H 160,818,427 690,145,419 1,338,136 33,925,000 29,331,866 (1,120,200,345) (204,641,497
FMRREFRAR F52013 159
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31 Capital and Reserves (continued)

31 EXRREEE

(b) Share capital (b) A
(i) Authorised and issued share capital (i) ZEERDBITRAE
The Company RKAT
2013 2012
—E-cf “E--F
Number of Number of
shares Amount shares Amount
Re%A ©8 it € i
Notes HK$ HK$
st B BT
Authorised: EE
At 1 January iz = 10,000,000,000 250,000,000  10,000,000,000 250,000,000
Consolidation of shares RinaH (i) (7,500,000,000) - - -
At 31 December Rt=A=t-A 250000000 250000000 10000000000 250,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR :
At1 January R=A-H 5,012,680,556 125,317,014 3,517,680,556 87,942,014
Consolidation of shares ket ] (4,020,462,798) - - -
Shares issued pursuant to BEYEREINRG
an acquisition (i) - - 660,000,000 16,500,000
Conversion of convertible bonds A AR E% (i 347,936,507 8,698,413 - -
Shares issued pursuant to BERDEEMET
a share placing HRG (i) 268,030,000 26,803,000 835,000,000 20,875,000
At31 December Rt=A=t-8 1608184265 160818427 5012680586 125317014

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to
receive dividends as declared from time to
time and are entitled to one vote per share at
meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares
rank equally with regard to the Company’s
residual assets.

160 CVM MINERALS LIMITED Annual Report 2013
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31 Capital and Reserves (continued)
(b) Share capital (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Issue of shares

On 18 April 2012, the Company issued
660,000,000 ordinary shares to the
shareholders of Victory Dragon Holdings
Limited pursuant to the agreement for the sale
and purchase dated 12 January 2012 (see
Note 33).

On 8 August 2012, 835,000,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.025 each were issued at a
price of HK$0.05 each for cash consideration
of HK$41,750,000.

On 15 January 2013, the Company issued
347,936,507 ordinary shares of HK$0.025
each in respect of the conversion of convertible
bonds with a principal amount of
HK$43,840,000 held by Voice Key Group
Limited (see Note 27(b)).

On 2 September 2013, 268,030,000 ordinary
shares of HK$0.10 each were issued at a price
of HK$0.168 each for cash consideration of
HK$45,029,040.

Consolidation of shares

As announced by the Company on 12 July
2018, the Company proposed to effect a share
consolidation and every four issued and
unissued shares of the Company of HK$0.025
each were consolidated into one consolidated
share of HK$0.10 each. An ordinary resolution
approving the share consolidation was passed
at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company held on 29 July 2013 and the share
consolidation became effective on 30 July
2013.

31

BEXR e
(b) KA (&)

(ii)

(iii)

HORB¥ERAT F3,2013

BITR D
RZZE—Z—FWA+N\H " RBEAR
AT —F—A+-HANEER
Wi ARERIEERBR AR
/9 i% 3 % 77 660,000,000 f% & i A%
(RFI5E33) °

WZFT—=—F N\ A/\H * 835,000,000
[ 55 P& T (B 0.025 78 T i ik B 1%
BRO.05BITHERKET  Rel
{&/4541,750,000/8 7T °

WZZE—=F—A+HB  ~2QH
BLEE % Voice Key Group Limited #4
7N 4 8 /5 43,840,000 7 JT B AT 2 %
&% M 317 347,936,507 I G M &
0.025 8 LRy AR (RHEE27(0)) ©

M-ZE—=fFHhHF=H 268,030,000
IR EE0.10/8 T LB D I
FR0.168BILHERET  HER
18 545,029,040 7T °

B4 & Bt
BUOARAGR-_ZE—=FtA+=
BT R  AARZBETRGE
B SO EFRREEO0.025 B THE
BITRARBITROAHFAE—BRETR
EE010B LM A GG o HER
MEHNEBRAZREREARARN
ZE—=FtAZ+NBRTHE
HRERIASEEB MBKkHEHR
—E-ZFt+tA=ZTHEHR -
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31 Capital and Reserves (continued)

162

(c)

(d)

Share warrants

On 17 February 2011, the Company issued
163,900,000 warrants at HK$0.005 each to ten
independent third parties raising HK$819,500. The
warrants entitle the holders to subscribe for
163,900,000 new shares of the Company at a
subscription price of HK$0.27 per share for a period
of 12 months commencing from the date of issue of
the warrants. On 27 April 2011, 5,000,000 warrants
were exercised for 5,000,000 ordinary shares at a
price of HK$0.27 per share. The remaining
158,900,000 unexercised warrants lapsed after the
close of business on 16 February 2012.

On 6 October 2011, the Company issued
543,636,000 warrants at HK$0.001 each to seven
independent third parties raising HK$543,636. The
warrants entitle the holders to subscribe for
543,636,000 new shares of the Company at a
subscription price of HK$0.10 per share for a period
of 36 months commencing from the date of issue of
the warrants. As a result of the said share
consolidation stated in Note 31(b)(iii), the exercise
price of outstanding warrants of the Company was
adjusted from HK$0.10 per warrant share to
HK$0.40 per warrant share with effect on 29 July
2013 retrospectively. At 31 December 2013 and
2012, the Company had 543,636,000 outstanding
warrants. Exercise in full of such outstanding
warrants would result in the issue of 135,909,000
additional shares.

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Capital reserve
The capital reserve mainly represents the net
proceeds received from the issue of warrants
of the Company. The reserve will be
transferred to share capital and share premium
account upon the exercise of the warrants.

(ii) Share premium
The application of the share premium account
is governed by sections 48B and 49H of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

CVM MINERALS LIMITED Annual Report 2013

31

EXRREE)

(c)

(d)

IR REE

RZFE——FZA+tH8 AR8ESk
0.005 B TR B M+ R IBILE = FH 81T
163,900,000 17 5B A #E 7 - B2 & 819,500 %
UL o RINEE T158 A B BITRREE
Z Bist+ =18 A B &% 0.27 B ITHY
R BB R KA 7 163,900,000 A% F % A9
e N ZF——FWWA=-++AH"
5,000,00017 3R f% # 3 & & 18 0.27 & 0 HY
B 1% 7 77 LA FR 88 5,000,000 % & 8 % -
# T 158,900,000 7 KT ERREFE R =
T A+ NBEERBBERY -

RZZE——F+AXA " ARARERETR
0.001 BT ER M- RBYLE = #T
543,636,000 17 sRAXIEE - Bh & 543,636
TL o RRAEER THAE A BITRIRERE
Z At =175 A HRE SR 0108 7T
7R B8 (B R BB AN 2 §) 543,636,000 A% #7 %
RIAERI o 58040 B = 31 (b)(ii) Bt - AR5
AHFFEKE - ARA]EARITERIIEE K
THEEEATRBREERD0.01EILH
BESRRAREERMDLETL BZF
—=ZF+tA-t+NBRBREBPER - R=FT
—=FRkZE—=ZF+ZA=+—H K
A A1/ 543,636,00017 14 AR 1T 5RRRHERE o
BEITEZEMRITERRIEZ G SR
77135,909,000 A EBSMNR (53 ©

HENEERERN

0 EARRE
ARREEBESERBTARARK
RO S FORE R « BB
1715 RS HE 38 (2 B E PR A R IR 15
HERR -

i) MHPEE
B aEREMERIIEERR
1156 48B 1 [ 49H RFTARE ©
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31 Capital and Reserves (continued)
(d) Nature and purpose of reserves
(continued)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set
out in Note 2(t).

Convertible bond equity reserve

The value of the unexercised equity
component of convertible bonds issued by the
Company is recognised in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in Note 2(]).

Other reserve

The Group

Other reserve of the Group represents the
reserve arising from the reverse acquisition on
14 October 2008.

On 14 October 2008, the Company acquired
the entire issued and fully paid-up share capital
of CVMSB, a company incorporated in
Malaysia.

The consideration was satisfied by the
allotment and issue of 338,249,999 new
ordinary shares and the existing 1 share of the
Company (“Consideration Shares”) to the then
shareholders of CVMSB, credited as fully paid
at an issue price of HK$0.10 per new share.

The Company

Other reserve of the Company represents the
difference between the value of the shares of
CVMSB acquired over the nominal value of the
shares used by the Company as consideration
for the reverse acquisition on 14 October
2008. The application of the other reserve is
governed by section 48C of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2013, there were no realised
profits available for distribution to owners of
the Company (2012: Nil).

BERNKf#E @)
(d) RENHEERBEN @

(i) ERF#E
bE 5 R B IR E NS B SRR A
EEN—VERZE - FEREH
REFE20) S FTBUR R

(iv) TR EFEDEE
AR B HEITH AR IRAE S RTT
BRI EEREML20) S
FTHBURHER -

(v) HtufEfE
FEH
AEBNEMBHERER -_ZTN\F
TA+MARAUKIEES R

RZZTENF+A+TIAE  A2QA
U 88 CVMSB (74 55 2R 75 Za sk it Ak iz
KAR)) 2B BT REERA -

R AB LATA) CVMSB & B A% 51 fic 2% [ 2%
17338,249,999 & A~ R ¥ i@ A% M
AR A BB B IR (TR B R
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Capital and Reserves (continued)

(e) Capital management
The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for owners and benefits for other
stakeholders.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher shareholder returns that might
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position.

The Group is not subject to externally imposed
capital requirements in either the current or prior
years.

Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the written resolution passed on 14 October
2008, the Company adopted a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) to (i) attract and retain the best quality
personnel for the development of the Group’s business; (i)
to provide additional incentives to the employees; (iii) to
provide eligible persons with the opportunity to acquire
proprietary interests in the Group; and (iv) to promote the
long term financial success of the Group by aligning the
interests of grantees to shareholders. The Scheme is to
remain in force for a period of 10 years from the date of
adoption of such scheme and will expire on 13 October
2018.

Under the Scheme, the Board of Directors of the Company
(the “Directors”) may at their discretion grant options to (i)
Board of Directors or a duly authorised committee; or (ii)
any person employed by the Company or any subsidiary;
(iiiy any consultant, adviser, supplier, customer or
subcontractor of the Company or any other person
determined by the Directors from time to time to subscribe
for the shares of the Company (the “Shares”).
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32 Share Option Scheme (continued) 32 BRESEE)

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of the
date of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per option. The
maximum number of Shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed 10%
of the issued share capital of the Company on the date of
adopting the Scheme. The limit may be refreshed at any
time provided that the new limit must not be in aggregate
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at the date of the shareholders’ approval in general
meeting. However, the total number of shares which may
be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other
scheme of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the shares in issue from time to time. The
maximum number of Shares in respect of which options
may be granted to any individual in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue on the last date
of such 12-month period unless approval of the
shareholders of the Company has been obtained in
accordance with the Listing rules. Options granted to
substantial shareholders or independent non-executive
directors in excess of issued share capital of the Company
or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be
approved in advance by the shareholders of the Company.

Options granted may be exercised at any time from date
of grant of the share option to the 10th anniversary of the
date of grant as may be determined by the Directors. The
exercise price is determined by the Directors, and will not
be less than the higher of the closing price per share as
stated in SEHK’s daily quotations sheets on the date of
the grant of the options, the average closing price per
share as stated in the SEHK’s daily quotations sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of
the grant of the options, and the nominal value of a share.

No option has been granted by the Company under the
Scheme since its adoption.
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Business Combination

On 12 January 2012, to further diversify the Group’s
business, an agreement was entered into between the
Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Nice Tone
Enterprises Ltd. (“NTEL”) and Voice Key Group Limited (the
“First Vendor”), Chinacorp International Consultants
Limited and Champion Tone Development Limited
(collectively known as the “Vendors”), pursuant to which
NTEL has conditionally agreed to purchase and the
Vendors have conditionally agreed to sell 51% of the
issued share capital of Victory Dragon Holdings Limited for
a notional consideration of HK$200,000,000, which was
satisfied by the payment of deposit in cash of
HK$10,000,000 to the First Vendor upon signing the
agreement and by the issue of 660,000,000 ordinary
shares of the Company to the Vendors (see Note 31(b)(ii)
and convertible bonds with a principal amount of
HK$106,840,000 (see Note 27(b)) to the First Vendor. The
acquisition was approved by the members of the
Company in an extraordinary general meeting held on 13
April 2012. The effective date of the acquisition and
completion was 18 April 2012.

The acquired business contributed revenue of
HK$2,148,220 and a net loss of HK$5,132,287 to the
Group for the period from 19 April 2012 to 31 December
2012. Had the above acquisition occurred on 1 January
2012, the directors of the Company estimate that the
Group’s revenue and loss before taxation would be
increased by HK$175,895 and HK$7,351,334,
respectively. These amounts have been calculated using
the Group’s accounting policies and by assuming the
control date of a subsidiary being held by Victory Dragon
Holdings Limited remain unchanged.
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33 Business Combination (continued)

33 ¥Be6t@

Fair value
as at
acquisition
date
RUkEE A 8
WAoTEE
HK$
BIT
Net assets acquired BANWEETE
Property, plant and equipment (Note 13) Yz - R KA (f9EE13) 3,338,481
Exploration and evaluation assets (Note 15) RN EEE (3 15) 161,763,000
Inventories FE 213,659
Cash and cash equivalents RERBREEEY 26,020
Other payables and accruals HAth eI RIR RIERT R (2,624,959)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 30) IEEFIE & & (M5 30) (40,440,750)
122,275,451
Non-controliing interests IR (59,914,971)
Goodwill (Note 14) R (M3t 14) 111,180,501
Total consideration BRE 173,540,981
Satisfied by: SAE
Cash paid BEfRE 10,000,000
Shares consideration iR E 59,400,000
Convertible bonds AR ES 106,840,000
Contingent consideration (Note 21) AR (FFFE21) (2,699,019)
173,540,981
Net cash outflow arising on the acquisition: W EE A RO3R & SRR
Cash consideration paid ERNRERE (10,000,000)
Bank balances and cash acquired BANRTESREES 26,020
(9,973,980)
FMRREFRAR F52013 167
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34 Financial Risk Management and Fair
Values

168

(a)

(b)

Financial risk management

objectives and policies
Management has adopted certain policies for
financial risk management with the objective of:

(i) ensuring that appropriate funding strategies
are adopted to meet the Group’s short term
and long term funding requirements taking into
consideration the cost of funding, gearing
levels and cash flow projections of each
project; and

(i) ensuring that appropriate strategies are also
adopted to manage related interest and
currency risk.

Credit risk

The Group’s and the Company’s credit risk are
primarily attributable to cash and cash equivalents,
trade receivables, prepayments, deposits and other
receivables. The exposure to this credit risk is
monitored by management on an ongoing basis and
management does not expect any counterparty to
fail to meet its obligations.

Cash and cash equivalents are placed at financial
institutions that have sound credit rating.

In respect of trade receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring
credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay and
take into account information specific to the
customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates. Trade
receivables derived from sales of magnesium ingots
are due within 5 days from the date of the bill of
lading for exports sales or date of invoice for local
sales. Other than that the Group has a policy of
allowing customers for domestic trading and
distribution in the PRC with credit terms of normally
cash on delivery. Debtors with balances that are
more than 6 months past due are requested to settle
all outstanding balances before any further credit is
granted. Normally the Group does not obtain
collateral from customers.
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34 Financial Risk Management and Fair
Values (continued)

(b)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry in which the
customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the
Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. As at 31 December 2013, 17% (2012:
77%) of the trade receivables was due from the
Group’s largest customer.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented
by the carrying amount of each financial asset, in the
consolidated statement of financial position. Except
for the financial guarantees given by the Group as
set out in Note 37, the Group does not provide any
other guarantees which would expose the Group or
the Company to credit risk. The maximum exposure
to the credit risk in respect of these financial
guarantees at the end of the reporting period is
disclosed in Note 37.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade
receivables are set out in Note 19.

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk
through trade receivables and payables that are
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the operations to which the transactions
relate.

(i) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s and the
Company’s exposure at the end of the
reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities denominated in
a currency other than the functional currency
of the relevant subsidiaries. For presentation
purposes, the amounts of the exposure are
shown in HK$, translated using the spot rate
at year end date:

34 ERAREERAFEE

(b)

()
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34 Financial Risk Management and Fair 34 SREMEERAFE#)
Values (continued)
(c) Foreign currency risk (continued) (c) NERBE %)
(i) Exposure to currency risk (continued) () FERNEYEERRE)
Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in FFr I B 9 SN EE R (DA T8 )
HK$)
2013 2012
—E-—= —ET——F
United States United States
Dollars Dollars
EY ED
HK$ HK$
BT BIT
The Group AEHE
Cash and cash equivalents B RIRESEY 16,878 24,582
Deposits, prepayments and e BAZKER
other receivables o fE IR - 3,074,205
Trade and other payables JE A BR 3R N B b B A5 5 (1,320,224) (2,975,815)
Trade receivables FEUBR K - 1,514,408
(1,303,346) 1,637,380
2013 2012
—E—= —ET——F
United States United States
Dollars Dollars
ESpH ETT
HK$ HK$
BT ATT
The Company VNN |
Cash and cash equivalents WENRIREEEY 11,283 11,185
Deposits, prepayments and e BAFIER
other receivables Hib e I8 - 3,074,205
Trade and other payables JE A BR SR N B A JE - BRIE (1,320,224) (2,449,636)
(1,308,941) 635,754
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34 ERAREERAFEE

34 Financial Risk Management and Fair
Values (continued)

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the
change in foreign exchange rates had been
applied to re-measure those financial
instruments held by the Group which expose
the Group to foreign currency risk at the end of
the reporting period. The analysis excludes
differences that would result from the
translation of the financial statements of the
foreign operations into the Group’s
presentation currency. The analysis is
performed on the same basis as for 2012.

HORB¥ERAT F3,2013

(c) Foreign currency risk (continued) (c) HERPEE)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) BRBRESH
The following table indicates the approximate TRERNEBEGHGEREEZT
change in the Group’s loss before tax and EEREIMNEIE RSB Al e ) (AN EE
accumulated losses in response to reasonably BREEHRZEEZHEBERNR
possible changes in the foreign exchange rates ) (REFEHMEREEFREFT
to which the Group has significant exposure at ) I oARBEM b o RE S HY EL Ath 4B 5k 2P
the end of the reporting period, assuming all AR INERE R E B2
other variable risk variables remained constant.
Other components of the equity would not be
affected by changes in the foreign exchange
rate:
2013 2012
—E-Z=F “ZT——F
(Increase)/ (Increase)/
Increase/  decrease in Increase/ decrease in
(decrease)  loss before (decrease) loss before
in foreign tax and in foreign tax and
exchange accumulated exchange  accumulated
rates losses rates losses
BRBLAT BRTUAT
BER BEK
SNEE E ZitBR SN FE 2 E#R
/(T (8m),/ " E#/(TR)  (Em),/ md
HK$ HK$S
BT BT
The Group AEEH
United States Dollars E 5% (65,167) 5% 81,869
(5)% 65,167 (5)% (81,869)
The Company KAF
United States Dollars EV 5% (65,447) 5% 31,788
(5)% 65,447 (5)% (31,788)

HBREHMBRRETH BALE
B 2 e B A 3R 45 R B
RGOS RMTAR O EANE
I % 8 B) - A B 17 R B 8 4
EBHEREAEANEEL RS
METEANES - ERAOE T
— AR -
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34

172

Financial Risk Management and Fair
Values (continued)

34 TEREAREERAFEE

(c) Foreign currency risk (continued) (c) NERBE %)
(ii) Sensitivity analysis (continued) (i) BREDNE)
In addition, the operations of the Company’s BEAN - RA R E R P ~ BIE R
investments in Malaysia, Indonesia and the FEMEEEBEEDRINERA
PRC are mainly transacted in Ringgit Malaysia E(HED - EBER(EHRED
(“RM”), Rupiah (‘RPH”) and Renminbi (‘RMB”) RAREBTARBETRS - %
respectively. Any distributions from these SR HEBRARBEENR
investments in RM, RPH and RMB may EREMNTADIRAIGERZESTE
expose the Company to a certain degree of HATHERSEMERNQFES
risk resulting from fluctuation in these —FRREMNRE -
currencies against HK$.
(d) Interest rate risk (d) FIREPE
The interest rate risk of the Group and the Company REBE AR AE N X @R 2R ERT
arise primarily from bank loans, unsecured loans B REE=ZHEERER R AT REE
from third parties and convertible bonds. Borrowings %o BRDRIEFEF X R EEF X
issued at variable rates and fixed rates expose the B AKERARARDFIHEBHESRE
Group and the Company to cash flow interest rate FERER A FENERERE
risk and fair value interest rate risk, respectively.
The following table details the interest rate profile of TRFAVAREERAREMEHARRE IR
the Group’s and the Company’s borrowings at the K FEAEE -
end of the reporting period.
The Group NEH
2013 2012
—E-Z=F —T——F
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate Amount rate Amount
BERFFRE 28 BERFRE T
HK$ HKS
BT BT
Variable rate borrowings: FENFERMER
— Secured bank loans — EREITER 8.6% p.a. 406,331,729 8.6%p.a. 434,661,748
Fixed rate borrowings: BT FEER
— Convertible bonds — AR ES 17.54% p.a.- 83,644,788 17.54% p.a—- 135,040,770
33.73% p.a. 33.73% p.a.
— Obligations under —BMEMERIE 1.80% p.a.- 1,010,504 1.80% p.a.— 2,471,221
finance leases 3.68% p.a. 3.68% p.a.
— Unsecured loans from —REE=FEIEAER 12% p.a~ 150,000,000 12% p.a~- 150,000,000
third parties 18% p.a. 18% p.a.
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34 Financial Risk Management and Fair 34 SHEMEEBERAFEGE
Values (continued)
(d) Interest rate risk (continued) (d) FI=mbz )
The Company ARQTH
2013 2012
—B-=F —T—F
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate Amount rate Amount
ERERNE ©HE  ERFAE 8
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Fixed rate borrowings: EEMEER
— Convertible bonds — AR ES 17.54% p.a.- 83,644,788 17.54% p.a— 135,040,770
33.73% p.a. 33.73% p.a.
— Obligations under a —-BEREHRE 1.80% p.a. 433,891 1.80% p.a. 603,048
finance lease
— Unsecured loans from - REE=HEERET 12% p.a- 150,000,000 12% p.a—~ 150,000,000
third parties 18% p.a. 18% p.a.
234,078,679 285,643,318
Sensitivity analysis R E ST

At 31 December 2013, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 100 basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, would
increase/decrease the Group’s loss before tax and
equity by approximately HK$4,063,000 (2012:
HK$4,347,000).

There is no effect on the Company’s loss before tax
for both year and equity.

RZZ—=ZF+-RA=+—8 (EzH=x
BEE T TR 100 185 B T T A At 2
BHBTE - AIASE NG TAEERE
& R4 94,063,000/ 7T (=
T — 4 : 4,347,000 7T)

W B

A BV R B MR B A9 TR M 3

27, B/ 4ER
BRYE -
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34 Financial Risk Management and Fair
Values (continued)
(d) Interest rate risk (continued)

174

(e)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

The sensitivity analysis above indicates
instantaneous change in the Group’s and the
Company’s loss before tax (and accumulated losses)
and other components of consolidated equity that
would arise assuming that the change in interest
rates had occurred at the end of the reporting period
and had been applied to re-measure those financial
instruments held by the Group and the Company
which expose the Group and the Company to fair
value interest rate risk at the end of the reporting
period. In respect of the exposure to cash flows
interest rate risk arising from variable rate non-
derivative instruments held by the Group at the end
of the reporting period, the impact on the Group’s
loss before tax (and accumulated losses) and other
components of consolidated equity is estimated as
an annualised impact on interest expense or income
of such a change in interest rates. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2012.

Liquidity risk

The liquidity of the Group is primarily dependent on
its ability to maintain adequate cash inflow from
operations to meet its debt obligations as and when
they fall due and on its ability to obtain external
financing for its committed future capital
expenditures.

The Group had net current liabilities of
HK$695,957,811 (2012: HK$562,014,256) at 31
December 2013 which include secured bank loans
and unsecured loans from third parties of
HK$406,331,729 (2012: HK$434,661,748) and
HK$150,000,000 (2012: HK$100,000,000),
respectively. The directors of the Company closely
monitor the cash flows of the Group and the
Company and upon maturity, arrange renewal and
refinancing of these borrowings, where necessary, to
enable the Group to carry on its operations in the
foreseeable future. As disclosed in Note 2(b) to the
consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company have taken action to mitigate the
liquidity issues faced by the Group and the
Company. Accordingly, the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that the Group’s and
the Company’s liquidity risk is minimal.
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34 Financial Risk Management and Fair 34 SHEMEEBERAFEGE

Values (continued)

(e) Liquidity risk (continued) (e) REBELEAM®)
The following table details the remaining contractual TRAVRNEERADBR@E RO
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the BEEHGEOIBAE (DIREE L RE
Group’s and the Company’s financial liabilities, RRenE(AFEREONE  BERFH
which are based on contractual undiscounted cash Rl - QRS ERRNIRE R ERAEEF
flows (including interest payments computed using BN FHE) RAEERAATEL N
contractual rates or, if variable, based on rates =FEHE:

current at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date the Group and the Company can be
required to pay:

2013
~B-Z%
Contracted undiscounted cash flow
ANRBBRETE
More than More than
Carrying Within 1 year but 2 years but
amount at 1 year or less than less than More than
31 December Total on demand 2years 5 years 5years
R+=A
=t+-H —EHRE —EhE MENL
REE aE RERE BRELA BRFUR RENRE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT B B B B BT
The Group rEE
Convertible bonds HRES 83,644,788 195,970,777 55,739,581 140,231,196 - -
Secured bank loans* BEBERTER 406,331,729 578,564,695 124,066,730 124,066,730 330,431,235 -
Obligations under finance leases  BL& T E74IE 1,010,504 1,082,844 453,773 346,926 282,145 -
Trade and other payables FERRR R AL
AR 110430,866 110,430,866 110,430,866 - - -
Amounts due to related parties  JE(TEEEH FE 6,341,020 6,341,020 6,341,020 - - -
Amount due to a director Eff—ZE2H8E 628,790 628,790 628,790 - - -
Liabilties associated with assets 55 A#HEEE
classified as held for sale BERBHEE 2,819,092 2,819,092 2,819,092 - - -
Unsecured loans from REE=H
third parties BERER 150,000,000 173,950,820 173,950,820 - - -

761,206,789  1,069,788,904 474,430,672 264,644,852 330,713,380 -
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34 Financial Risk Management and Fair

176

Values (continued)

34 TEREAREERAFEE

(e) Liquidity risk (continued) (e) RBESLRAR#)
2012
—E--f
Contracted undiscounted cash flow
ANARRALRE
More than More than
Carrying Within 1 year but 2 years but
amount at 1 year or less than less than More than
31 December Total on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
R+
=+-H —FLAL —FHE RENE
REE et REKE BmMEAR BRENR RENE
HK$ HK$ HKS HK$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT B BT BT AT
The Group pis-4- |
Convertible bonds mHhRES 135,040,770 233,250,000 13,342,000 56,342,000 163,566,000 -
Secured bank loans* BEREIEN 434,661,748 551,169,936 20,379,195 115,583,494 346,750,482 68,456,765
Obligations under finance leases  BPETAEAE 2,471,221 2,660,902 1,201,872 804,263 654,767 -
Trade and other payables JERER R
ENFE 52,407,776 52,407,776 52,407,776 - - -
Amounts due to related parties  JE[TEEE T FE 1,643,743 1,643,743 1,643,743 - - -
Unsecured loans from REE=H
third parties ARG 150,000,000 167,950,820 111,950,820 56,000,000 - -
776,225,258 1,009,083,177 200,925,406 228,729,757 510,971,249 68,456,765

*

The amounts due are based on the scheduled repayment

dates set out in the loan agreements and ignore the effect of
any repayment on demand clause (see Note 28).
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34 Financial Risk Management and Fair

Values (continued)

(e) Liquidity risk (continued)

34 TREMEERQFE®R)

() REBESES )

2013
—2-zf
Contracted undiscounted cash flow
ANARRRLRE
More than More than
Carrying 1 year but 2 years but
amount at Within less than less than More than
31 December Total 1 year 2 years 5years 5years
R+=h
=t-H —EHL MENL
REE ag —FHR BREUR BREFUR RENE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT B B B B BT
The Company
Convertible bonds 83,644,788 195,970,777 55,739,581 140,231,196 - -
Other payables and accrued
expenses 45,386,654 45,386,654 45,386,654 - - -
Obligations under finance leases 433,891 452,255 187,140 187,140 71,975 -
Amount due to a director 628,790 628,790 628,790 - - -
Unsecured loans from
third parties 150,000,000 173,950,820 173,950,820 - - -
280,094,123 416,389,296 275,892,985 140,418,336 77,975 -
2012
“E-CF
Contracted undiscounted cash flow
ANARREERE
More than More than
Carrying 1 year but 2 years but
amount at Within less than less than More than
31 December Total 1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years
R+=A
=+-H —FHE WEL L
REE ot —FLA BRFHURA BRENR AFENE
HK$ HK$ HKS HKS HK$ HK$
AT AL B B BT B
The Company
Convertible bonds 135,040,770 233,250,000 13,342,000 56,342,000 168,566,000 -
Other payables and accrued
eXpenses 15,592,202 15,592,202 15,592,202 - - -
Obligations under finance leases 603,048 639,395 187,140 187,140 265,115 -
Unsecured loans from
third parties 150,000,000 167,950,820 111,950,820 56,000,000 - -
301,236,020 417,432,417 141,072,162 112,529,140 163,831,115 -
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34 Financial Risk Management and Fair
Values (continued)

34 TEREAREERAFEE

() Categories of financial instruments H £WMIAEDE
The Group The Company
F5E NS
2013 2012 2013 2012
—E-=f —ZF--f CZEB-=f —T--F
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B BT BT BT
Financial assets TREE
Loans and receivables SRR EEIR
(including trade and other (BIEREERA K
receivables) Hib e E) 12,071,584 17,335,306 2,561,280 2,173,389
Financial liabilities TRIBE
Financial liabilities at REHENATERN
amortised cost (including TRBE(BERES
trade and other payables) EHREMEMNTIE) 761,206,789 776225258 280,094,123 301,236,020
(9) Fair values of financial instruments (9) EMTIAZAYE
Except as detailed in the following table, the R TRAVAES EERAE - Kixa
directors consider that the carrying amounts of BRAFEIANSHEERABOREDE
financial assets and liabilities recognised in the ERHEBERE -
consolidated financial statements approximate to
their values:
2013 2012
—E-=F —T-CF
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
REE AFE REAE NFE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B BT BT BT
Financial assets CREE
Contingent consideration NS AR E
receivable - - 2,699,019 42,051,793
Financial liabilities carried  R# R AT EM
as at amortised cost SRAR
Obligations under finance BEHEAE
leases 1,010,504 1,082,844 2,471,221 2,660,902
Convertible bonds ABRRES 83,644,788 82,897,000 135,040,770 127,133,000
Unsecured loans from REFE=TEHERER
third parties 150,000,000 170,913,813 150,000,000 185,338,149
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34 Financial Risk Management and Fair
Values (continued)

(9)

Fair values of financial instruments

(continued)

The fair value of contingent consideration receivable
was estimated to be HK$42,051,793 using a
discount rate at 23.61% and estimated cash
receivable from the profit guarantee. No fair value at
end of the reporting period as it has no carrying
value by end of 2013.

The fair value of the liability components of
convertible bonds is determined assuming
redemption on 2 December 2014, 30 December
2014, 16 January 2015, 5 March 2015, 23 March
2015 and 18 April 2017 and using a discount rate at
25.75% based on quoted bond of 3 years to 5 years
and holding the credit risk margin constant.

35 Commitments

(a)

(b)

34 ERAREERAFEE

(9)

ERMIBZNFE#)

FER S AREBHAFEIZRITRE23.61%
NMRBHEMN AT RBRESEE - 5t A
42,051,793BTL c R E—=ZFF R E
REE - BEREHRITEAFE -

AREEFEBEROHNATFELRERZ
Z-ME+-A-H —ZT-WFE+-A
=t+H -ZZE—A"F—A+XA - ==
—RAF=ZARA - —ZE—ARF=A=+=
ARZZT—+tFEOA+NBMHERRIBE
—FERFHREERBRERTIHEHE
FIEYTIR R 25.75% ETE °

35 EiE
Capital commitments (a) BXREE
Capital commitments outstanding as at 31 RIB—ZFR_F—_F+_A=+—
December 2013 and 2012 not provided for in the H - WERNGEMBREPBHEOREN
consolidated financial statements were as follows: BARFEIERNT
The Group
rEE
2013 2012
—g—= —E——F
HK$ HKS
BT BIT
Contracted for EETH 18,690,853 20,013,500
Authorised but not contracted for EIREBRETH - -
18,690,853 20,013,500
Future minimum royalty payments (b) RRBEEREE
Pursuant to the Mining Agreement (Note 15), the BERERZ (ME15) - BikS AKEN

royalties to MERSB are subject to a monthly
minimum payment of RM30,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$73,900) (2012: RM30,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$76,100) for a period
of 20 years, unless early terminated by the Group by
giving one month’s written notice to MERSB. The
total minimum royalties amounted to RM5,580,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$13,210,000) (2012:
RM5,940,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$15,068,000) over the 20 years period.

HORB¥ERAT F3,2013

X3 F MERSB #) 5 FI| # & /& 30,000 5
*(FAER473,9008 L) (ZE—=—4F:
30,000 H¥ (FHE K4 76,10087T)) * B
BR20FF + PR IEA S [H [\ MERSB 2 i — (&
AEMBANRENRKL - 20 FHHNRES
F 1 B 4258 55,580,000 5 ¥ (FHE R L
13,210,000 70) (ZF— — 4 : 5,940,000
B (FHE 7 4715,068,000/87T)) °
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35 Commitments (continued)

180

(c)

(d)

35 FEiE#H)

Operating lease commitments (c) REBEEHAE
At 31 December 2013, the total minimum lease RZB-—=F+ZA=+—0  RBREFA
payments under non-cancellable operating leases BEHK S HE BN SRR & K@D
are payable as follows: T
The Group The Company
r5E NN
2013 2012 2013 2012
—2-zZf % B-Zf _T-_F
HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS
B BT BT BT
Within 1 year —FLR 410,435 1,400,978 262,500 880,488
After 1 year but within 5 years  —4E LA FERRE R 2,481 322,268 - -
412,916 1,723,246 262,500 880,488
The Group is the lessee in respect of office premises REBEARFECEHENMAZTHEAA -
held under operating leases. The leases typically run HAO—MYLRE—F  WAEENEHN
for an initial period of one year, with an option to BEFMBIERIEEN - FTBERLNHT B
renew the lease when all terms are renegotiated. The HAME -
leases do not include a contingent rental.
Environmental contingencies (d) RIERAEME

The Group has not incurred any significant
expenditure for environment remediation and has not
accrued any amounts for environmental remediation
relating to its operations. Under existing legislation,
management believes that there are no probable
liabilities that will have a material adverse effect on
the financial position or operating results of the
Group. Laws and regulations protecting the
environment have generally become more stringent
in recent years and could become more stringent in
the future. Environmental liabilities are subject to
considerable uncertainties which affect the Group’s
ability to estimate the ultimate cost of remediation
efforts. These uncertainties include:

(i) the exact nature and extent of the
contamination at the mines and processing
plants;

(i) the extent of required cleanup efforts;

(i)  varying costs of alternative remediation
strategies;

(v) changes in environmental remediation
requirements; and

(v)  the identification of new remediation sites.
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35 Commitments (continued)
(d) Environmental contingencies

(continued)

The amount of such future cost is indeterminable
due to such factors as the unknown magnitude of
possible contamination and the unknown timing and
extent of the corrective actions that may be required.
Accordingly, the outcome of environmental liabilities
under proposed for future environmental legislation
cannot be reasonably estimated at present and
could be material.

36 Major Non-Cash Transactions
Part of the consideration for the acquisition of subsidiaries
in prior years comprised shares. Further details of the
acquisition are set out in Note 33 above.

37 Contingent Liabilities
(a) Corporate guarantees issued

As at 31 December 2013, the Company has issued
corporate guarantees totalling approximately
RM184,600,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$436,987,000) (2012: RM184,600,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$468,000,000)) to a
bank in respect of bank loan facilities granted to
CVMSB.

The directors of the Company do not consider it
probable that a claim will be made against the
Company under the corporate guarantees. The
maximum liability of the Company as at 31
December 2013 under the corporate guarantees
issued is approximately RM172,600,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$408,581,000) (2012:
RM172,600,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$437,494,000)).

In addition, as at 31 December 2013, the Company
has issued a corporate guarantee totalling
RM850,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,012,000) (2012: RM850,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$2,150,000) to a supplier in
respect of the purchase of liquefied petroleum gas
made by CVMSB.

35 EEE)
(d) BEIAREE B

MR HAREE R EE LSRR ZIRENAT
PRER 2 8 SUHE B 1O ) B R AN AR 5
= AU EERERRAEELMLEER
BZE®E  WENEESEMMAT AR
RIBERERAURELNRERE  MA
MEEAREKX -

36 FEFRERS
BEFEWERBATNNDBHREDERY - &
R UL BE (0 — A SIS E SRS -

37 ZAREE
(a) BEHATRER
R-B—=F+-"A=+—8 AQFZ
BLCVMSBHEF ~ iR 1T B SR B & MR T 1E
A H 47184,600,000 5 # (18 & 1B 4
436,987,000 L )( = & — = F:
184,600,000 5 #& (#HE 7 49 468,000,000 &
T0)) Z RN EIELR .

RRABEERE  ZARERTAAES
HWARNBERER - RAGRINRZZT—=F
T A=+ HEHRRERNEE LR
# H172,600,0005 % ( B B B &

408,581,000 7t )( = & — = F:
172,600,000 55 & (§8 & 7 %9 437,494,000
HIT)) °

N RZE—=F+=-A=+—H" &
A FIFLCVMSBEE B R(b A& A e
N EERA ££850,000 i (HHE A4
2,012,000 7T) (ZF— =4 : 850,000 55
B (HEE R 492,150,000 7T)) °
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37 Contingent Liabilities (continueq) 37 FAREBE#E)

(@) Corporate guarantees issued

(continued)

As at 31 December 2013, the Company has issued
corporate guarantees totalling RM222,768 (equivalent
to approximately HK$530,000) (2012: RM763,373
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,935,000)) for
finance lease creditors in respect of the purchase of
motor vehicles and equipment by CVMSB.

The Company has not recognised any deferred
income in respect of the corporate guarantees as its
fair value cannot be reliably measured and its
transaction price was nil for the years ended 31
December 2013 and 2012.

38 Material Related Party Transactions

During the years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012, in
addition to the transactions and balances disclosed in
Notes 26 to the consolidated financial statements, the
following related party transactions took place between
the Group and related parties on terms mutually agreed by
the parties concerned.

Name of party
BESER

(a) BRHEAAERE)

RZZ—Z=FE+_-_F=+—8 A28
CVMSBBE B L ZENMERSEE
BEHNTERS 202,768 B (FHERNY
530,000787T) (ZE— =4 : 763,373 {F
(&R #1,935,000/87T)) °

HEZT—=FR=_F—Z=ZF+=ZA
—t+—HILFE  ARAILERRAFE
REEMBELTRA - HEEQFEEET]
S EAERBERAES -

388 BEAXBEIXRS
He_2—=-Fh_ZT——F+-A=+—H
LEFE  BREAVBRENTMBEENRS
RESIN - UTRAES RS EASEHEEEES 2
fEi= A A 77 BRI E AR TMEST -

Relationship

RS

Ho Wah Genting Berhad (“HWGB?”)
Ho Wah Genting Poipet Resorts Sdn. Bhd. (“HWGP”)
HWG Tin Mining Sdn. Bhd. (‘HWGTM”)

Majuperak Energy Resources Sdn. Bhd. (“MERSB”)
(formerly known as Harta Perak Corporation Sdn. Bhd.)

Majuperak Energy Resources Sdn. Bhd. ([MERSB])
(B 78 Harta Perak Corporation Sdn. Bhd.)

Dato’ Lim Hui Boon

2 & Lim Hui Boon
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38 Material Related Party Transactions 38 ERBEIXRZ (#)
(continued)
Particulars of significant transactions between the Group REEE FRBERETNERISHFENT

and the above related parties are as follows:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Recurring transactions (a) BEXRS
2013 2012
—E-= —E——F
HK$ HK$
BT BIT
Office rent payable to: EERAEHES T
HWGB HWGB 177,238 212,917
Rental income from drilling machines FEUS T 51 B8 12 5 SR A
receivable from: HEBWA -
HWGTM HWGTM 27,273 116,637
Purchase of flight tickets from: M5 REE S e
HWGP HWGP 305,655 736,407
Maintenance fee payable to: T HEE T
MERSB MERSB 974,810 704,878
Non-recurring transactions (b) FEREMERS
2013 2012
—E-= —E——F
HK$ HK$
BT BIT
Disposal of a motor vehicle to: mMEBERE :
HWGTM HWGTM - 17,757
Amount due to a member of staff (c) BNHEIRIE
2013 2012
—E-= —E——F
HK$ HK$
BT BIT
Dato’ Lim Hui Boon 2 & Lim Hui Boon 4,101,894 1,022,092
The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and has A A - 8 BEETFIEIE -
no fixed terms of repayment.
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38 Material Related Party Transactions

184

(continued)

(d) Amount due from a related party

(e)

(f)

38

EXBERXRS (#)

(d) EWREEES KA

2013 2012
—E—= —ET——F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
HWGTM HWGTM 9,476 -
Amounts due to related parties (e) ENBAESFIEA
2013 2012
—E—-= —EF——
HK$ HK$
BT BT
HWGB HWGB 777,048 484,465
HWGP HWGP 251,249 137,186
MERSB MERSB 1,210,829 -
2,239,126 621,651
The amounts are trade in nature, unsecured, interest ZEFBEABHHEE EIKW S AE
free and have no fixed terms of repayment. EEZENE -
Key management personnel H FEEBAEMS
remuneration
2013 2012
—E-—= —E—_F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Directors’ fees =R 362,520 319,231
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 4% « 285 R EWH|Z 2,812,693 4,301,299
Retirement scheme contributions RIS EHEIH 42,751 157,822
3,217,964 4,778,352
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39 Accounting Judgements and Estimates
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following accounting
judgements:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Going concern

As disclosed in Note 2, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis. The appropriateness of the going concern
basis is assessed after taking into consideration all
relevant available information about the future of the
Group, including proposed measures as described
in Note 2 and cash flow projections for the year
ending 31 December 2014. Such forecasts and
projections about the future inherently involve
uncertainties. Actual results could differ significantly
and hence render the adoption of the going concern
basis not appropriate.

Current and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes in various
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There
are transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The entities within the
Group recognise liabilities for potential tax exposures
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will
be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the
current and deferred taxation provisions in the
financial period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and certain tax losses are recognised as
when management considers it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences will impact the recognition
of deferred tax and tax in the periods in which such
estimate is changed.

Useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives
of and related depreciation charges for its property,
plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the
actual useful lives of assets of similar nature and
functions. It could change significantly as a result of
significant technical innovations and competitor
actions in response to industry cycles. Management
will increase the depreciation charges where useful
lives are less than previously estimated lives, or will
write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-
strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.

39 EETHE kMG
KA EBREA R R ARS BB R T
5@ TSI

(a) FEEE
UM T2 PR - AR B ISR TR HS
BREBERYE FELEREZABEN
MEREAREB ARG 2B RRAR A
AR (REMEe Mtz ZBEREBE
E-MOF+-A=+—BILFEZRLR
BIRR) RETRE - ZFERKREHRE
RIAE S RAEEMN - BEREETRELR
EAZR B TNHEARMFHELEEE -

ERIELER IR

REBAYMNZ ERNERREMPIEHR - R
EEMSHBHEBAELERAE - 5T
R 5 METEH AR B E EBBIZHAEE
HERENRBETE - ARBEANERIREZ
BRBMBIMLBN B EREERIER
B WZEFEENRERBERET LA
RSB IR ZEZBERTEETERN
RN BHENE B RRER R -

(b)

BRETERZRENE THEBBENEL
BMIREE  NREEERRBRAEGH
RERTURN AR T B E E B
HAR T RERR YR T R T S B TR M 7% F 2 3R
K75 F LARERR

() Y% -  BMERREBHTHFR

EREEEEME  BMFERRENGER
FFR RABBITE S o tIRMBE T
BRNEROLCEENERAIREFRAE
B TEEREARNEREFHFE
EITEBHMELNTEMERERE
o BERAFERIRVEMNETFR - A
BEE/HESTES L - SRR
R ENMRERIEREEEE -
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39 Accounting Judgements and Estimates
(continued)
(d) Impairment of property, plant and

186

(e)

equipment

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of the
assets at the end of each reporting date to
determine whether there is objective evidence of
impairment. When indication of impairment is
identified, management prepares discounted future
cashflow to assess the differences between the
carrying amount and value in use and provided for
impairment loss. In determining the value-in-use of
certain assets and liabilities, the Group makes
assumptions of the effects of uncertain future events
on those assets and liabilities at the end of the
reporting date. These estimates involve assumptions
about such items as risk adjustment to cash flows or
discount rate used, future changes in salaries and
future changes in prices affecting other costs. The
Group’s estimates and assumptions are based on
the expectations of future events and are reviewed
periodically. Any change in the assumptions adopted
in the cash flow forecasts would increase or
decrease in the provision of the impairment loss and
affect the Group’s net asset value.

Impairment of goodwill, and

exploration and evaluation assets
Determining whether exploration and evaluation
assets and goodwill (collectively referred to as “CGU
of exploration for iron ore, coal and manganese” and
“CGU of extraction and bottling of mineral water”)
are impaired require estimation of the value-in-use of
the CGUs to which these assets have been
allocated. The value-in-use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to
arise from the CGU and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value. Where the
actual future cash flows are less than expected, a
material impairment loss may arise.

The carrying amounts of goodwill, and exploration
and evaluation assets at the end of reporting period
were HK$Nil and HK$151,770,300 (2012:
HK$111,180,501 and HK$359,332,880),
respectively, after impairment losses of
HK$111,180,501 and HK$207,562,580 were
recognised during the year ended 31 December
2013 (2012: HK$141,622,589 and
HK$166,086,731) respectively. Details of the
impairment losses calculation are provided in Notes
14 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
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39 EEHERMEE @)

(d)

(e)

ME - BERRERE

AEBRNSEEREHNEENRAENE
ERAHFAEFEMREDR - MERRE
PR AEREEGTIRARIRSRE A
AHEREEREREEZMNERREL
BEEERE EEEE TEERAEDN
EREER  AEESRKZTHAENRK
EMHEERNEENBBEENTE
WEEFHS MRS REIAMAMEA TR
BB  REFEECRFEEMRAR
ARREREE LR WREK - AEEOG
T RRFRTIIRE S R R E AR A B (F
o e ERR BB RERRRRDY
TR O () 52 Bh 598 N S8Rk Ik 18 A5 18 13
BATEREBNEEFEE -

BEURBRKFHEERE

BEEURLIEEERBE (REA B
HiED  KREORSELSBM] KR
RERERBERKNRSELEM])ZRER
BAGAZSEERSEEMRSELS
NAEE - BEEMERNBERZASE
EATEMRSELBUEEANARKRE
MEMBEENFTRE - URATHIRE -
EEEMNAKRESREENBHRER - 7
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40 Possible Impact of New and Revised 40 EEMEHNKREBE=—ZT—=F+=H

Standards and Interpretations Issued =+—BLEFEERNFHTREBITE
but not yet Effective for the Year Ended AlRBEURTRNEE

31 December 2013

Up to the date of issue of the consolidated financial HeEBRAUBERRTERS  &ELHMA
statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of new and CEEM—RIBE_E—Z=ZF+_A=+—
revised standards and Interpretations which are not yet HBIEFEHAERBGEAMBRRIPAFENN
effective for the year ended 31 December 2013 and which T RSB ET R R R - R BERNEF KRN
have not been adopted in the consolidated financial SRR RIS ETER R REIT ¢

statements. These include the following which may be
relevant to the Group and the Company.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

RT5IEE8
HERBN
SHHBEXR
Amendments to HKAS 32, Financial instruments: Presentation 1 January 2014
— offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities —FE-mF—H—H
FEETERERRENES > eMIA: 27 — HEeREERTRAR
Amendments to HKAS 36, Recoverable amount disclosures for 1 January 2014
non-financial assets —E-mF—HF—H
EA G ERIE 36 RAER] » IEM B EEATKRE & FRIKE
HK(IFRIC)-Interpretation 21, Levies 1 January 2014
E8(HRMBRERELZEY) — 2EE 2198 &% —E-E—-A—H
Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 cycle 1 July 2014
—E-ZHEF T -_HRPNEEVBREEFESE —E-mFE+A—H
Annual improvements to HKFRSs 2011-2013 cycle 1 July 2014
R R CE-—FRRNTEV RS ERFEICE —E-ME+A—H
HKFRS 9, Financial instruments Note
EEVBHREEAEIR eI A k3
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7, Mandatory effective date of Note
HKFRS 9 and transition disclosures B aE

BFEMBHREERE IR LB BMBREERE 7RNERT
FAEMBHREERE IRABRFIEEM AR LBRKE

HREXERAT FHR2013 187
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Possible Impact of New and Revised
Standards and Interpretations Issued
but not yet Effective for the Year Ended
31 December 2013 (continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these amendments, which are expected to
be in the period of initial application. So far it has
concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a
significant impact on the Group’s or the Company’s results
of operations and financial position.

Note: Available for application — the mandatory effective date will be
determined when the outstanding phases of HKFRS 9 are finalised.

Comparative Figures
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified in order
to conform with the current year’s presentation.

CVM MINERALS LIMITED Annual Report 2013
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